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Five Year Financial Summary

AFEMBEHE

For the year ended 31 December
BE+T_-_H=1+—HIL&EE

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
TR L ZEF-)E DR JUE DR TR e
US$’000 US$°000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
%70 %t T%£T T%£T T+ XL
OPERATING RESULTS  #&# ¥ 4
Revenue e A 7,034 6,470 7,153 3,876 5,723
Gross profit E A 2,730 2,455 2,774 602 1,508
Finance costs B AR (1,960) (4,102) (5,482) (5,625) (5,134)
Profit (loss) before tax %% Bt A7 s A
(E548) (6,256) 22,751 (31,750) (133,192) (37,971)
Income tax expense T 45 BB 2 (187) = (117) = —
Profit (loss) for the year EERBM(EER) (6,443) 22,751 (31,867) (133,192) (37,971)
(Restated) (Restated)
(E51) (E51)
Earnings (loss) per share %5 Jit Wt 25 (&5 48)
(in US cents) (1) (6.4) 18.75 (17.36) (52.75) (10.38)
As at 31 December
B+-H=+—H
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
TE—-LE ZEF - DR JUE DR DR s
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$°000
+ %t %t T%£5T T%£T T %5t
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES % 7 fi 1 f%
Non-current assets IR G 201,286 332,690 306,760 180,090 128,400
Current assets B E 19,259 13,042 9,303 5,519 7,476
Total assets M 220,545 345,732 316,063 185,609 135,876
Convertible notes CIE: S g% (16,145) (51,668) (47,773) (53,373) (35,593)
Other liabilities HAh £ 65 (3,756) (8,231) (17,723) (8,611) (6,605)
Total liabilities N = (19,901) (59,899) (65,496) (61,984) (42,198)
Net assets w8 200,644 285,833 250,567 123,625 93,678
Equity attributable to owners 7 24 A #E 7 A
of the Company JRE A HE £ 172,110 259,356 227,553 106,103 78,690
Non-controlling interests I ¥ M HE 45 28,534 26,477 23,014 17,522 14,988
Total equity B 2% 200,644 285,833 250,567 123,625 93,678
O
Note: The annual results for the four years ended 31 December 2020, and the M s BE X £ +__H=+—H LM
assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2017, 2018, 2019 and 2020 have PR AL O —F— L ZF— N\
been extracted from the Company’s respective years’ annual reports. 2R - NFR_EFFE+ A
=t —HMEEKARTIHE QAL A4
Etj BB AR o
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Dear Shareholders:

I present, on behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of CMMB Vision Holdings Limited (the “Company”),
the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2021 (the “Year”).

The Year 2021 saw the turnaround of the Company. Despite the
continuously raging pandemic, the Company has arduously completed
a number of its goals. We have returned several of our TV stations in
the US for services that went silent while riding alongside the gradual
recovery of the US entertainment market. We have been recovering our
revenue in our PCB trading business and keeping our market share despite
the continuing lacklustre market and on way to mount major technical
upgrade to diversify into niche market for products with better profit-
margin. We have launched multiple business development activities in our
multimedia and satellite venture which are bringing us closer to service
deployment, and this has significantly reduced our asset impairment.
Overall, the Company has narrowed our loss from approximately USD
133 million in 2020 Financial Year to approximately USD 38 million in
2021, a reduction of almost 70%.

There is still much room for improvement. The Company will continue
its strife in all areas and is confident it will be able to improve all its key
metrics and render the Company in a healthy and better situation with
much more exciting business prospect in the coming year.

Chairman’s Statement
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The Company would like to express its appreciation to our staff for our
achievements to date. The board of the Company wishes to extend its
gratitude to the continuous support from its shareholders, customers, and
business partners. We will continue to charge ahead in 2022 to create
greater value for our shareholders and stakeholders.

WONG Chau Chi
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 March 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis

REVIEW OF BUSINESS OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding whilst its
subsidiaries are mainly engaged in the provision of Convergent Mobile
Multimedia Broadcasting (“CMMB”), satellite infotainment multimedia
technology and services (the “Infotainment”) for vehicles and maritime
applications, and trading of printed circuit board (“PCB”) components.

CMMB BUSINESS

After a year of mostly silence due to upgrade and re-installation, the
Company’s LPTV portfolio has gradually returned to be on-air, and the
business level is gradually returning to its normalcy. The upgrade will
give the Company more spectrum efficiency, capacity, and capability
to operate its business. Increased capacity will enable the Company to
offer more channel space hence the prospect of more programming and
customers. The increase capability due to conversion to the US’s newest
digital media technology standard ATSC 3.0 will enable Company to
engage in new business model such as IP-based Internet broadcasting and
data multicasting to edge devices, vehicles, and enterprises. With such
prospect, the Company expects its revenue going forward will continue to
improve.

The Company has also entered into operating partnership with local
players in the US to leverage their programming and marketing access
to seek more lucrative business contracts and diversified clientele. With
the general trend of consumers “cutting the chord” of cable TV and pay
TV in major markets, a return to the free-to-air TV is a significant market
trend. The Company also entered a content partnership in New York to
develop its channels to be major niche channels of movies and sports
that can rival the major networks. To complement, it is also moving the
transmission site to the Empire State Building, the prime site for over-
the-air transmission for all New York borough markets, to expand service
reach.

B E & wm S AT
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B E & wm S AT

INFOTAINMENT

The Company has been developing satellite based in-vehicle infotainment
business with its associate company Silkwave Holdings, which is the main
service operator with a full-fledged satellite and technology platform.
While the Company only owns 20% in Silkwave, it is the major strategic
and value-added service provider to Silkwave. The Silkwave infotainment
business is an extension of the Company’s CMMB technology extended
to the sky leveraged on the ubiquitous delivery power of the mobile
broadcasting satellite. The business has completed its infrastructure
development and is in the stage of various trials to satisfy regulatory
requirements so as to qualify for government approvals for commercial
service launch. The pandemic outbreak has created disruption on the
process, especially on liaising and coordinating with different government
and regulatory agencies. Nevertheless, the prospect of the business
remains to be very robust. The Chinese government in its 14th Five-Year
Plan has made a big push to develop autonomous driving and new energy
cars and mandated them to reach 50% penetration of the auto market by
2035. Data connectivity is the life-blood for smart-driving, and satellite
Internet has been incorporated as part of China’s New Infrastructure
to drive the development of connected-car services. The Company’s
Silkwave setup is seen as the main pillar supporting a nationwide
connected-car. With the new market momentum and government
initiatives the Company is confident it will eventually attain its regulatory
credentials for service operation in the near future.

To further explore opportunity, the Company has also undertaken efforts
to deploy the service in ASEAN, targeting a combination of vehicles,
ships, and remote mobile access. ASEAN has about 700 million in
population and significant portion has no fast and reliable Internet access
and satellite is seen as the most effective solution to leapfrog digital
transformation. It projects 100 million middle-high income population by
2030, and development of a smart-driving economy is a top government
priority. The Company is currently putting in place joint ventures in
Malaysia, Indonesia to spearhead regional infotainment development. It is

planning pilot service in Malaysia within coming year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

TRADING BUSINESS

The Company is able to maintain its PCB business flow with better than
expected revenue level in a most challenging year that is ridden with
disruptions by the pandemic and China-US trade conflict. However, the
competitive nature of the business renders profit margin to be very thin.
The Company is undertaking technology upgrade to venture into new
niche products such as artificial intelligence and Internet of Things based
electronic product components. It expects the business’s revenue and

profit margin would improve going forward.

ASSIGNMENT OF LEASE AGREEMENT

On 3 March 2021 (after trading hours), the Company through Chi Vision
USA Corporation (the “Seller”), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company as the seller entered into the assignment of the time brokerage
agreement/ancillary spectrum lease agreement and asset purchase
option pertaining to the KMMC-LD low-power television station in
San Francisco of the United States of America (the “KMMC Station”)
entered between the Seller and New York Spectrum Holdings Company
LLC as the lessor of the license and authorizations of KMMC Station (the
“KMMC Lease”), with Mobile Multimedia Tek Limited as the purchaser
(the “Purchaser”), pursuant to which the Seller agreed to hereby assigns,
transfers, novates and conveys absolutely to the Purchaser all of the
Seller’s benefits, entitlements, interests, rights and remedies, and all
covenants, obligations and liabilities (whether currently outstanding or
arising in the future) arising from or in connection with the KMMC Lease
and the Purchaser hereby agrees to be substituted in place of the Seller
in respect of the KMMC Lease and to be fully bound by the KMMC
Lease as and to the same extent as if the Purchaser were a party thereto in
place of the Seller from the effective date (the “Assignment of KMMC
Lease”).

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 3 March 2021
and 10 March 2021 for details of the Assignment of KMMC Lease.

B E & wm S AT
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B E & wm S AT

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group recorded loss for the
year of approximately US$38.0 million (2020: approximately US$133.2
million). Loss per share of the Company (the “Share”) was approximately
US10.38 cents (2020: approximately US52.75 cents) and net assets per
share of the Group was approximately US$0.20 (2020: approximately
US$0.44).

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group is engaged in
provision of transmission and broadcasting of television programs and
trading of PCB materials with a revenue of approximately US$5.7 million
(2020: approximately US$3.9 million). The increase in revenue of
approximately US$1.8 million or approximately 46% was mainly due to a
gradually completion of TV station upgrade during the Year and increase
in trading of PCB materials by approximately US$0.7 million and US$1.1

million respectively.

Cost of sales mainly includes cost of goods sold, staff costs, operating
lease payments. The cost of sales increased during the Year due to an
increase in cost of goods sold in PCB Trading business of approximately
US$1.0 million and an increase other cost of sales for the year ended 31
December 2021.

Gross profit has increased from approximately US$0.6 million in year
2020 to approximately US$1.5 million in year 2021, primarily attributed

to increase in TV rental income by US$0.7 million.

Administrative expenses have increased by approximately 36.4% to
approximately US$1.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2021
as compared to approximately US$1.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2020.

Market development and promotion expenses decreased by approximately
33.3% to approximately US$1.1 million (2020: approximately
US$1.6 million) which include consultancy services fees for business
development, travelling expenses for attending business conferences and
meetings as well as research and development costs. The decrease in
market development and promotion expenses was due to the cancellation
of most of the marketing development activities held overseas since the
COVID-19 outbreak. The corresponding travelling expense for the year
has dropped significantly.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Finance costs of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021
amounted to approximately US$5.1 million (2020: approximately US$5.6
million) which mainly represents the effective interest expense on
convertible notes. The Group did not bear any bank and other borrowings
during the Year.

Management evaluated the fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) by way of objective evidence, including
but not limited to business forecasts and project timelines, etc. Changes in
the fair value of financial assets at FVTPL has been recorded through the
consolidated profit or loss statement as a loss for the Year.

Share of results of an associate

The Company shared a loss of approximately US$44.3 million (2020:
approximately US$99.5 million) for its 20% interest in Silkwave which
is primarily due to the delay of regulatory approval for Silkwave group
to deploy commercial services in China and prolonged fund-raising for
constructing new satellite for mass-market commercial rollout due to the
prolonged impact of COVID-19.

Silkwave has been developing satellite connected-car multimedia
business in China which will be supported by its AsiaStar satellite assets
such as frequency spectrum and orbital slot. Over the years Silkwave has
completed its network infrastructure, technology, and ecosystem platform
and has been conducting trial services throughout China. It has been
awaiting regulatory approvals from various government agencies to launch
its commercial services, which in turn will allow the Company to start
generating revenues. Due to numerous government delays, and amidst the
prolonged COVID-19 impact, the expected regulatory approvals have not

yet arrived, and Silkwave cannot commence commercial services.

On the other hand, the slow capital market activities during the COVID-19
period seriously delayed Silkwave’s fund-raising effort for constructing
and launching a new high-power satellite, which is needed for commercial
service rollout in a mass-market scale. The lack of regulatory approval

also hampered the fund-raising process.

Accordingly, the management has assessed and revised its commercial
operations and the expected cashflow and revenue streams associated with
the business due to the delay in the regulatory and high-power satellite
procurement, hence reduction in the valuation of the Silkwave assets is
resulted.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B E & wm S AT

The impairment loss of intangible assets

The impairment loss recognised on intangible assets for the year ended 31
December 2021 was approximately US$5.1 million (2020: approximately
US$24.3 million) as management of the Group determined that the
recoverable amount is lower than the carrying amount of the cash
generating units arising from intangible assets by reference to a value-in-
use (“VIU”) calculation, which has been consistently applied in previous

year.

As a result of the repackaging of the Federal Communications
Commission, old LPTV channels were reshuffled and re-allocated to new
ones. The process would require old LPTV channels to be temporary
shut down and relocated to new sites for re-installation and bring on-air
the new channels. In addition, new channel stations are required to be
upgraded from the old analogue format to the new digital format, which
would require new equipment such as transmitter and antenna as well as
highly regulated engineering activities. Such a process would have long
lead time taking up to a year.

Given the disruptions of repacked station re-installation and COVID-19
on LPTV revenues, the management has assessed and revised its
commercial operations and the expected cashflow and revenue streams
associated with the business, hence, the reduction in valuation lead to

make the necessary impairment of its LPTV assets.

The Company is proceeding ahead steadily in its re-installation effort and
it believes that the COVID- 19 situation will eventually be under control
and economy recover.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2021.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The total equity attributable to the owners of the Company decreased to
approximately US$78.7 million as at 31 December 2021 as compared
with approximately US$106.1 million in 2020 which was mainly derived
from the operation loss for the Year. During the Year, net proceeds of
approximately US$1.4 million was raised by issue of new Shares pursuant
of the exercise of share options and approximately US$2.6 million was
raised by the Subscription of new Shares which was completed on 1 June
2021.

Current assets amounted to approximately US$7.5 million (2020:
approximately US$5.5 million) comprising bank balances and cash of
approximately US$1.0 million (2020: approximately US$0.4 million),
trade and other receivables of approximately US$1.6 million (2020:
approximately US$1.0 million), amount due from a related company of
approximately US$3.9 million (2020: approximately US$2.2 million), and
amount due from an associate of approximately US$1.0 million (2020:
approximately US$0.9 million).

Current liabilities amounted to approximately US$6.6 million (2020:
approximately US$8.6 million) representing trade and other payables of
approximately US$6.0 million (2020: approximately US$6.0 million),
amounts due to shareholders of approximately US$0.2 million (2020:
approximately US$1.9 million), lease liabilities of approximately
US$26,000 (2020: US$0.3 million) and tax payable of approximately
US$0.3 million (2020: approximately US$0.3 million). As at 31
December 2021, the Group’s current ratio was approximately 1.13 (2020:
approximately 0.64).

On 24 May 2021, the Company entered into subscription agreements with
subscribers for the subscription of an aggregate 58,342,055 new shares of
the Company for an aggregate consideration of approximately HK$20.4
million at the subscription price of HK$0.35 per subscription share. The
subscription was completed on 1 June 2021. The intent of the proceeds
was repayment of advance from shareholders and to strengthen the

general working capital of the Company.

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2021 were
mainly denominated in United States Dollars, Hong Kong Dollars and
Renminbi.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B E & wm S AT

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group adopts a treasury policy that aims to better control its treasury
operations and lower its borrowing cost. As such, the Group endeavours
to maintain an adequate level of cash and cash equivalents to address
short-term funding needs. The Board also considers various funding
sources depending on the Group’s needs to ensure that the financial
resources have been used in the most cost-effective and efficient way
to meet the Group’s financial obligations. The deposits of the Group at
various licensed banks have been and will continue to be conducted in
accordance with the Group’s treasury policy. The Board reviews and
evaluates the Group’s treasury policy from time to time to ensure its
adequacy and effectiveness.

INDEBTEDNESS

Convertible notes of the Group as at 31 December 2021 amounted to
approximately US$35.6 million (2020: approximately US$53.4 million).
The gearing ratio (a ratio of total loans to total assets) was approximately
26.2% (2020: approximately 28.8%), reflecting the Group’s financial
position was at a optimal level. Other than convertible notes, the Group
did not have any bank borrowings as at 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

As at 31 December 2021, neither the Group nor the Company has any
significant contingent liabilities (2020: Nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENT
As at 31 December 2021, the Group and the Company did not have any

significant capital commitments (2020: Nil).

PLEDGE OF/CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021, neither the Group nor the Company has pledged
or charged its assets to secure its borrowings (2020: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

OFF-BALANCE SHEET TRANSACTIONS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not enter into any material off-
balance sheet transactions (2020: Nil).

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXCHANGE RISK

Most of the assets, liabilities and transactions of the Group are
denominated in United States dollars. The management of the Group
considers that foreign exchange risk does not have significant impact to
the Group, therefore, the Group did not make any hedging arrangement
for the year ended 31 December 2021.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of segmental information of the Group are set out in note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

The average number of employees of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021 was approximately 23 (2020: approximately 25). The
Group’s staff costs (including Directors’ fees and emoluments) for the
year ended 31 December 2021 amounted to approximately US$0.9 million
(2020: approximately US$1.2 million). The Group offers a competitive
remuneration package to retain elite employees, including salaries,
medical insurance, discretionary bonuses, other fringe benefits as well
as mandatory provident fund scheme for employees in Hong Kong. The
remuneration policy of the Group is reviewed annually and is in line
with the prevailing market practice. Share options would be granted to
respective employees with outstanding performance and contributions to
the Group.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

There were no significant investments held, nor were there any material
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures
during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B E & wm S AT

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENETS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group is actively exploring other business opportunities and diversify
its revenue stream and bring better return to the shareholders of the

Company (the “Shareholders™).

Save as disclosed herein, the Directors currently do not have any future
plans for material investments or capital assets. The Directors will
continue to monitor the industry and review its business expansion plans

regularly, so as to take necessary measures in the Group’s best interests.

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 4 February 2022, the mandatory unconditional cash offers has closed
and the offeror, Chi Capital Holdings Ltd. has became the controlling
shareholder of the Company and held 51.15% of issued shares of the
Company immediately after the close of the offers. Please refer to the
paragraph headed “MANDATORY UNCONDITIONAL CASH OFFER”
in the Directors’ Report contained in this report for details.

Apart from those disclosed herein, there were no significant event after

the Year and up to the date of this report.

SUBSCRIPTION OF NEW SHARES UNDER GENERAL
MANDATE

On 24 May 2021, the Company has entered into subscription
agreements (the “Subscription Agreements”) with six subscribers (the
“Subscribers”), who are individuals, institutional or other professional
investors, and who and whose ultimate beneficial owners (if any) are
third parties independent of the Company and its connected persons,
for the subscription of an aggregate 58,342,055 new ordinary shares of
HK$0.20 each in the share capital of the Company (the “Subscription
Shares”) for an aggregate consideration of approximately HK$20,419,719
at the subscription price (the “Subscription Price”) of HK$0.35 per
Subscription Share (the “Subscription”).

The Subscription Price represents: (a) a premium of approximately
6.06% on the closing price of HK$0.33 per Share as quoted on the Stock
Exchange on 24 May 2021 at 4:00 p.m., being the date of the Subscription
Agreements; and (b) a discount of approximately 3.71% on an average
closing price of approximately HK$0.363 per Share as quoted on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) for the
last five full trading days of the Shares immediately prior to the date of

the Subscription Agreements.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The net proceeds from the Subscription received by the Company
upon completion of the Subscription amounted to approximately
HK$20,343,279 after deducting professional fees and all related expenses.
On this basis, the net issue price per Subscription Share is approximately
HK$0.349 per Share.

In view of the market conditions, the Directors considered the
Subscription as a good opportunity to strengthen the financial position

and general working capital of the Company.
The Subscription was completed on 1 June 2021. For details please refer

to the announcement of the Company dated 24 May 2021.

The intended and actual use of proceeds from the Subscription up to 31
December 2021 is set out as follows:
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As at 31 December 2021, all of the proceeds raised from the Subscription
has been fully utilized.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B E & wm S AT

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, (i) 34,536,100 new Shares were issued pursuant to the
exercise of share options under the share option scheme of the Company;
(ii) 58,342,055 new Shares were issued pursuant to the Subscription;
and (iii) 108,571,428 new Shares were issued pursuant to the exercise
of the conversion rights attached to the convertible notes issued by the
Company.

Save as disclosed herein, during the Year, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed

securities.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to determine the eligibility of shareholders to attend the Annual
General Meeting, which will be held on 18 May 2022, the register of
members of the Company will be closed from 13 May 2022 to 18 May
2022, both days inclusive, during which no transfer of shares will be
registered. All transfer of shares accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar
in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wan Chai, Hong Kong for registration at no later than 4:30 p.m. on 12
May 2022.

PROSPECTS
CMMB Business

With the gradual recovery of the US market, the Company believes it will
be able to fully recover its CMMB business through better technology
upgrade such as ATSC 3.0 it has engineered in 2022, and new operating
partnership which is to render richer programmer base and better cost-
efficiency. Leveraging these the Company aspires to be a significant
NewGenTV provider in the US in the coming years.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

PCB Trading

The Company plans to accelerate its technology upgrade through internal
growth and acquisition, so that it will have more capacity to access higher
margin and niche market PCB electronic products. It is expect to complete
a business integration project which if successful will significantly
upscale the Company business prospect into the artificial intelligence and

Internet of Things related area.

Maritime Multimedia Business

The Company has complete a full year of business partnership with Sino
Satellite Communication in China in providing maritime entertainment
to commercial and passenger ships. The business has been steady,
although severed limited in expansion due to travel restriction which in
turn resulted in most ship liners being ground. With the pandemic easing,
the Company anticipates a better prospect for its business to grow as sea

travel and maritime activities are restoring.

Satellite Connected-Car Multimedia Service Development

The Company expects to have major development in this area in this

coming year.

Following the completion of the Company’s recent General Offer, the
long-time major shareholder Chi Capital Holdings has reached 74.64%
of the total issued shares of the Company. The increase in shareholding
has three significances: 1) it has strengthened controlling shareholder’s
commitment to support Company development; 2) it has firmly
aligned the economic interest of the controlling shareholder with other
shareholders; and 3) it has immediately reduced approximately HKD200
million of the Company’s indebtedness by conversion of the convertible
bond. Most importantly, the strengthened balance sheet and realigned
shareholder interest has set the stage to render the Company ready for

major business overhaul.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B E & wm S AT

The Company on one hand plans to vigorously upgrade its existing
businesses with new technology to expand revenues, as indicated above,
and on the other hand accelerate integration with external resources to
streamline Company capabilities, especially with that from its associate
company Silkwave Holdings Ltd in digital media, mobile broadcasting,
satellite, 5G, and big-data so as to hone a new business technology
platform for satellite multimedia connected-car services as a full-fledged
operator. The service premises on Company’s flagship Converged Mobile
Multimedia Broadcasting (CMMB) technology but to be scaled up
exponentially via a satellite in the sky. With the platform, the company
expects to deliver data infotainment tailored to the rapidly growing
autonomous and new-energy driving vehicles, which are fast become
consumer’s largest smartphone-on-wheel and mobile consumption space.
In addition, the Company plans to deploy pilot services in the Greater Bay
Area of China and the ASEAN regions.

Silkwave has also enlisted a top-tier investment bank to lead its
fundraising to procure a new-generation satellite to replace its retiring
AsiaStar satellite and to support commercial development. The
new satellite is expected to have 100 times the power level and will
substantially increase Silkwave’s data transfer capability to support large-
scale mass-market commercial deployment. Currently it is awaiting

regulatory approval in China.

Trading Business

There are several factors affecting the business, including life cycle for
our clients’ electronic products, saturating demand for generic PCB,
export limitation, increasing trade tension between China and the US,
which combined to contribute to a somewhat negative outlook for
the PCB business. As a result, we anticipate our trading business will
continue to face challenging times in the year ahead. To tackle that, the
Company is ramping up its R&D and up-grading its product capabilities
to more niched and higher value-added products, such as the upcoming
satellite and connected-car electronics, which the Company has recently

tremendous expertise and industry relationship.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Development of Maritime Project

In early 2021, the Company has announced that it has commenced
satellite multimedia service for ships and boats in China via partnership
with Sino Satellite Communication. The number of ships covered by
the service has been steadily increasing as the maritime entertainment
industry expands. The Company is also working to expand the business
by incorporating its AsiaStar mobile satellite broadcasting capability to
provide more expansive services over the South China Sea, potentially
servicing the millions of fishing boats, commercial freighters and cruise

liners and their many more passengers and operators.

The maritime application leverages on the Company’s satellite connected-
car multimedia technology ecosystem and is readily adoptable. Trial
service is underway. The Company’s AsiaStar is a pan-Asia satellite
which covers the whole Southeast Asia and the 9 million square miles
of the South China Sea in addition to China. While the Company is
awaiting regulatory approval for its connected-car business in China, it
will explore different business opportunities in the Southeast Asian region
by providing turnkey solution and creating franchising arrangement with
different regional operators to jump-start its satellite multimedia business.
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Directors and Senior Management

SEENEREREE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this report, the Board consisted of 8 directors comprising
1 executive Director, 4 non-executive Directors and 3 independent non-

executive Directors. The information on the Directors is set forth below.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. WONG Chau Chi (“Mr. Wong”), aged 57, was appointed as
an executive Director in May 2007. Mr. Wong is currently the chief
executive of the Group and the chairman of the Board. Mr. Wong has
extensive experiences in finance, technology and industrial management,
working for a variety of companies including Goldman Sachs, Citibank,
and BNP Paribas, and McKinsey, and General Electric. Mr. Wong
graduated from the Pomona College in the US with a BA in Economics
and International Relations, from the Harvard Kennedy School of
Government with an MPP, and matriculated by the St. Antony’s College,
Oxford reading Political History. Mr. Wong did not hold any position nor
directorship in other listed companies in the three preceding years.
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Directors and Senior Management

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. LIU Hui (“Dr. Liu”), aged 53, was appointed as a non-executive
Director in November 2009, re-designated to an executive Director in
May 2011 and further re-designated to a non-executive Director in April
2021. Dr. Liu is currently the chief technology officer of the Group and
the vice-chairman of the Board. Dr. Liu is one of the world’s leading
telecommunications engineers and inventors. He was the primary inventor
of over 70 granted or pending telecommunications patents, including
more than twenty patents in the core OFDMA technology that underlies
LTE, Mobile WIMAX and CMMB. He architected CMMB, which had
its inaugural launch at the 2008 Beijing Olympics and is now being
used in 330 cities in the PRC. As an international renowned telecom
expert, he is also one of the original designers of TD-SCDMA (one of
the ITU 3G standards) and a pioneer of OFDMA mobile networks. Dr.
Liu holds a Bachelor of Science degree in electrical engineering from
the Fudan University and a PhD degree from the University of Texas in
Austin. He was a full professor/vice-chair at the Department of Electrical
Engineering of the University of Washington, and then the associate dean
at the School of Electronic Information and Electrical Engineering of
Shanghai Jiao Tong University. His research interests include broadband
mobile networks, satellite communications, vehicular and IoT networks,
and machine learning. He has received a number of awards, including a
Fellow of IEEE (Communications Society), the 1997 National Science
Foundation CAREER Award, the ONR Young Investigator Award, and
the Gold Prize Patent award for his contributions on the TD-SCDMA
technology. Dr. Liu is representing the Company as a key member in
theITU-T Focus Group on vehicular multimedia, which was established
for vehicular multimedia services and infotainment applications based on
space and terrestrial networks integration. He is a director of Silkwave
Holdings Limited. Dr. Liu did not hold any position nor directorship in
other listed companies in the three preceding years.
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Directors and Senior Management

SEENEREREE

Mr. CHOU Tsan-Hsiung (“Mr. Chou™), aged 79, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director in June 2005 and was subsequently
re-appointed as a non-executive director in September 2005. Mr. Chou
graduated with a Bachelor of Law degree from the National Chengchi
University and is a member of the Taipei Bar Association. Mr. Chou is
currently a practicing lawyer with the Best Truth Law Firm in Taiwan.
Mr. Chou previously worked in the Legal Affairs Office of the Central
Trust of China. Mr. Chou did not hold any position nor directorship in
other listed companies in the three preceding years.

Mr. YANG Yi (“Mr. Yang”), aged 58, was appointed as a non-executive
director in February 2007. Mr. Yang first graduated from the Beijing
University with a Bachelor of Arts degree in International Politics in
1987 and was awarded a scholarship of Japanese Education Ministry,
to attend Tokyo University in the same year. In 1991, Mr. Yang was
awarded a Master of Arts degree in Law & Diplomacy by the Fletcher
School of Law and Diplomacy, which was jointly administrated by the
Tufts University and Harvard University. Mr. Yang has over 28 years
of experience in finance and management. The major appointments and
positions previously assumed by Mr. Yang include being a financial
analyst at the fixed income division of J.P. Morgan Securities (Tokyo), a
vice-president of Fixed Income Sales at Goldman Sachs LLP (New York),
a managing director of A.T. Kearney Management Consultancy (Hong
Kong). At present, Mr. Yang is the director and founder of G Bridge
Limited, a Hong Kong based financial advisory firm. Mr. Yang did not
hold any position nor directorship in other listed companies in the three
preceding years.
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Directors and Senior Management

Mr. LUI Chun Pong (“Mr. Lui”), aged 53, was appointed as a non-
executive director in February 2022. Mr. Lui, obtained a Bachelor of Arts
degree from the University of Hong Kong, a Master of Laws degree from
the Chinese University of Hong Kong, a Master of Accountancy degree
from Charles Sturt University in Australia and an Executive Master of
Business Administration degree from the City University of Hong Kong.
Mr. Lui is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, an
associate member of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. He is also an
associate member of The Chartered Governance Institute and The Hong
Kong Chartered Governance Institute.

Mr. Lui is the Chief Operating Officer and Company Secretary of
Kingston Financial Group Limited (stock code: 1031) and has over 30
years of experience in finance and property industry. Mr. Lui held senior
positions at a number of Hong Kong companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Lui currently is a non-executive director of China Ocean
Group Development Limited (stock code: 8047), listed on the GEM Board
of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Lui also serves the community through his participation in promoting
sports and youth and student’ affairs in Hong Kong. Mr. Lui is a director
of Hong Kong Baseball Association and a member of Student Affairs
Sub-committee of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
Mr. Lui was a director of Hong Kong United Youth Association in
2014/2015 and a member of the Budget Proposal 2017-18 Subcommittee
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Lui did not hold any position nor
directorship in other listed companies in the three preceding years.
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Directors and Senior Management

SEENEREREE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. LI Jun (“Dr. Li”), aged 60, was appointed as a non-executive
Director in June 2007 and re-designated to an independent non- executive
director in May 2011. Dr. Li obtained a doctorate degree for philosophy
in political economy from the Oxford University in the United Kingdom.
He was a senior manager and a director for a number of securities and
investment companies in Hong Kong and had extensive experience in
international financial markets. Dr. Li is an independent non-executive
director in Hengxin Technology Limited, a company listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Save as aforesaid, Dr. Li did not hold any position nor
directorship in other listed companies in the three preceding years.

Mr. CHOW Kin Wing (“Mr. Chow”), aged 40, he holds a Bachelor
degree in Accounting and Finance from the Queensland University of
Technology, Australia. He is an associate member of Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, an associate member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators. He has more than 13 years of experience
in financial management, auditing and accounting in an international
accounting firm and a listed company in Hong Kong. Mr. Chow was
the chief financial officer and company secretary of China Fortune
Investments (Holding) Limited, (stock code: 8116), a company listed on
GEM of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Chow was also an independent non-
executive director of Hong Kong Finance Investment Holding Group
Limited. (stock code: 7) listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange
during the period from May 2020 to October 2020. Save as aforesaid, Mr.
Chow did not hold any directorship in other listed companies in the three
preceding years.
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Directors and Senior Management

Mr. TAM Hon Wah (“Mr. Tam”), aged 55, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director in September 2021. Mr. Tam is the
managing director of A.l. International Limited and Chief Technology
Officer of PR1 Media Limited. Mr. Tam holds a Master’s degree in
Information Systems Management from University of Greenwich in
United Kingdom, and obtained Diploma in Business Strategy and
Information Technology from National Computer Center, United
Kingdom in 2009. Mr. Tam also holds a number of other public and
community service positions. Mr. Tam is a board member of the
Indonesia Chamber of Commerce in Hong Kong, a committee member of
Wan Chai West Area Committee of Home Affairs Department, and the
vice-chairman of Friends of The Community Chest Wan Chai District
Committee. Mr. Tam was also a committee member of the Television and
Radio Consultative Group of the Office of the Communications Authority
from 2010 to 2015. Mr. Tam was awarded the Most outstanding Chapter
President award of Junior Chamber International (ASPAC) in 2006 and
the Most outstanding Chapter President of Junior Chamber International
(Hong Kong) in 2005. Mr. Tam was also awarded the Secretary for
Home Affairs Commendation award in 2012. Mr. Tam did not hold any
directorship in other listed companies in the three preceding years.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. LTI Qun (“Ms. Li”) is a managing director of our China business
operation. Ms. Li has over 20 years of experience in CMMB/DTH chipset
design and CMMB network system integration. She was the co-founder of
Telepath Technologies Co., Ltd. and the chief operating officer for TiMi
Technologies Co., Ltd., a company formed by the Chinese Academy of
Broadcasting Science at National Radio and Television Administration
(“NRTA”). She holds a bachelor’s degree in Science from the Shanghai
Jiao Tong University and a master degree in Science from the Tsinghua

University.
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Corporate Governance Report
TERERARES
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The directors recognise the importance of incorporating good corporate
governance in the management structures and internal control procedures
of the Group to promote effective accountability and deliver maximum
benefits to the shareholders.

CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (“CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”). The Board will continuously review and improve the corporate
governance practices and standards of the Company to ensure that
business activities and decision-making processes are regulated in a

proper and prudent manner.

The Board considers that good corporate governance of the Company is
central to safeguarding the interests of the shareholders and enhancing
the performance of the Group. The Board is committed to maintaining
and ensuring high standards of corporate governance. The Company
has applied the principles and complied with all the applicable code
provisions of the CG Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2021
except:

(i) The Company has been deviated from the code provision C.2.1 of
the CG Code, as the roles of chairman and chief executive of the
Company were not separate. With effect on 19 May 2008, Mr. Wong
was re-designated as the chairman while also serving as the chief
executive of the Company. According to the code provision C.2.1 of
the CG Code, the roles of a chairman and a chief executive should
be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.
Given Mr. Wong has had extensive experience in the business of
the Group and has performed satisfactorily since his joining of the
Company in 2007, particularly in soliciting new possible business
opportunities and deducing the overall strategic plan for the future
development of the Company, the Board considers that it would be
beneficial for the Group if Mr. Wong is also in charge of overseeing
the Company’s operations as the chairman. The Board considers
that this structure will not impair the balance of power and authority
between the Board and the management of the Group. The Board

will regularly review the effectiveness of this arrangement.
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Corporate Governance Report

(ii)) Code provision A.5.1 to Code provision A.5.4 of the CG Code
(before amendments to the Listing Rules came into effect on 1
Jannary 2022) set out the establishment, terms of reference and
resources of a nomination committee. The Board has considered the
merits of establishing a nomination committee but has concluded
that it is in the best interests of the Company and potential new
appointees that the Board collectively reviews and approves the
appointment of any new Director as this allows a more informed
and balanced decision to be made by the Board as to suitability for
the role.

As the amendments to the Listing Rules came into effect on 1
January 2022, rule 3.27A of the Listing Rules stipulates that a
nomination committee chaired by the chairman of the board or
an independent non-executive director and comprising a majority
of independent non-executive directors must be established and
code provisions B.3.1 to B.3.4 of the CG Code set out the terms of

reference and duties of a nomination committee.

The Company has been in compliance with code provision A.5.1 to
A.5.4 of the CG Code (before 1 January 2022) (rule 3.27A of the
Listing Rules and code provisions B.3.1 to B.3.4 of the CG Code
starting from 1 January 2022) when the nomination committee of
the Company (the “Nomination Committee”) was established and
the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee was adopted,
on 31 December 2021.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a revised code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standards under the revised Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issues (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules. The Company has made specific enquiry of all
Directors regarding any non-compliance with the Model Code throughout
the year ended 31 December 2021 and all the directors confirmed that
they have fully complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code and the code of conduct throughout the year ended 31 December
2021.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

The Board should have a balance of skills and experience appropriate
for the business of the issuer to ensure that changes to its composition
can be managed without undue disruption. The Company is committed
to the view that the Board should maintain a balanced composition of
executive and non-executive Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) so that the Board has a strong independence element
which steers its judgments to be made independently and objectively. The
Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Director Mr. WONG Chau Chi (Chairman)

Dr. LIU Hui (Vice-Chairman) ™"
Mr. CHOU Tsan-Hsiung

Mr. YANG Yi

Mr. LUI Chun Pong ®ore2

Non-executive Directors

Independent Non-executive Directors Dr. LI Shan ™o
Dr. LI Jun
Mr. CHOW Kin Wing
Mr. TAM Hon Wah ®ee®

Notes:

1. Dr. LIU Hui was re-designated from an executive Director to a non-
executive Director with effect from 30 April 2021.

2. Mr. LUI Chun Pong was appointed as a non-executive Director on 28
February 2022.

3. Dr. LI Shan resigned as an independent non-executive Director with effect
from 17 September 2021 due to other business commitments.

4. Mr. TAM Hon Wah was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
on 29 September 2021.

As at 31 December 2021, the Board was comprised of one executive
Director (who is also the chairman of the Company) and six non-
executive Directors. Of the six non-executive Directors, three of them are
independent non-executive Directors which represent more than one-third
of the Board.
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Corporate Governance Report

The principal focus of the Board is on the overall strategic development
of the Group. The Board also monitors the financial performance and
the internal controls of the Group’s business operations. The non-
executive Directors bring a wide range of expertise and a balance of
skills to allow independent assessments be made on issues of strategic
direction, development, performance and risk management through their

contribution at the Board and committee meetings.

The independent non-executive Directors also serve the important
function of ensuring and monitoring the basis for an effective corporate
governance framework. The Board considers that each independent non-
executive Director as independent in character and judgment, and that
they all meet the specific independence criteria as required by the Listing
Rules. The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of their independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules regarding the guidelines for the assessment
of independence of Directors respectively. The Company believes that
all independent non-executive Directors have been complied with the
relevant guidelines as stipulated in such rule and are still considered as
independent. The independent non-executive Directors are explicitly

identified in all corporate communications.

Following the resignation of Dr. LI Shan on 17 September 2021, the
number of independent non-executive Directors has reduced from three
to two, falling below the requirements under Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing
Rules. The Company had been considering potential candidates for
appointment as an independent non-executive Director during such period.
Following the appointment of Mr. TAM Hon Wah on 29 September
2021, the Company has fully complied with the requirement under Rule
3.10(1) of the Listing Rules requiring a sufficient number of independent
non-executive Directors to be appointed and that at least one of the
independent non-executive Directors has the appropriate professional

qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.
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Appointment, Re-election and Removal

The Company has implemented a set of formal, prudent and transparent
procedures for the appointment of new Directors to the Board. The
Company has also put in-place plans for the orderly succession of the
Board. All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and are eligible
for re-election at the annual general meeting in accordance with the
Articles of Association provided that every Director shall be retired at
least once every three years. The Board must explain the reasons for the

resignation, re-election or removal of any Director.

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other
material or relevant relationships) among the members of the Board.

Responsibilities of Directors

Every Director is aware that he should devote sufficient time and attention
to the affairs of the Company.

The Directors are kept informed from time to time on the latest
development of any changes to the regulatory requirements and the
progress of compliance with applicable rules and regulations by the
Company. The Directors of the Company are also updated from time-
to-time on the latest business developments and operational plans of the
Company.

In compliance with code provision C.1.4 of Corporate Governance Code,
the Company will arrange for, and provide funds for, all the Directors
to participate in continuous professional development organised in the
form of in-house training, seminars or other appropriate courses to keep
them abreast of their knowledge, skills and understanding of the Group
and its business and the latest development or changes in the relevant
statutes, including the Listing Rules, the Corporate Governance Code
and corporate governance practices. A newly appointed Director would
receive an induction training covering the statutory and regulatory
obligations of a Director of a listed company. Circulars or guidance notes
are issued to Directors and senior management by the Company, where
appropriate, to ensure awareness of the Corporate Governance Code and

corporate governance practices.
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Regarding the Listing Rules’ requirement for directors to obtain a
general understanding of an issuer’s business and to follow up on matters
brought to their attention, it is considered that the current arrangements
for keeping the Board informed of the Company’s business performance
through regular presentations and/or reports by management at Board
meetings, providing directors with complete, sufficient and adequate
information, and providing the Board with timely reports on urgent
key events at ad hoc Board meetings are effective and satisfy the
requirements. To improve on existing practices, a management report
covering key business issues and the financial performance of the
Company has been made available to the Directors on a regular basis
throughout the year. A Director can contact management of the Company

individually and independently.

Directors’ Training and Continuous Professional Development

The Directors acknowledge the need to continue to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills to contribute to the Company throughout the
year. During the year, they have attended various external seminars and
briefings relating to the roles, functions and duties of a listed company
director and the latest developments in regulatory requirements.

The Company plans to establish a set of continuous professional
development guidelines with details on directors’ training for the coming
years, including a timeline explaining the suggested timetable and
the relevant suggested materials for Directors on an annual basis. The
Company will confirm with all the Directors on their participation in the
relevant training for updating their technical expertise so that they can
contribute and provide valuable inputs to the Company’s development.
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The table below summarises the participation of the Directors in training

FEAKEBEAWRETIE AW E R

during the Year and up to the date of this report: Z S BN &
O
Attending training
organised by
professional
organisations
and/or reading
materials updating
on new rules
and regulations
Hiprsil i g
B B K Bk
B A B B A 45
Name of Director HHEEH e B0 i A et
Executive Director: HITEFH :
Mr. WONG Chan Chi WK e
(Chairman and Chief Executive) (FHRHEEHITE) v
Non-executive Directors: FEHATEF -
Dr. LIU Hui (Vice Chairman)” PUKL A (B E ) v
Mr. CHOU Tsan-Hsiung J) 8 T 55 AR v
Mr. YANG Yi B B S v
Independent Non-executive Directors: WL B AT E S -
Dr. LI Shan* BB TTR L A v
Dr. LI Jun i v
Mr. CHOW Kin Wing JAl A SE R v
Mr. TAM Hon Wah*** A P A S A v
o
. Dr. LIU Hui was re-designated from an executive Director to a non- . PR LR = F - —FMH =+ Hm AT E

executive Director with efftet from 30 April 2021.

ok Dr. LI Shan resigned as an independent non-executive Director on 17 ol

September 2021 due to other business commitments.

##%  Mr. TAM Hon Wah was appointed as an independent non-executive Director ot

on 29 September 2021.

34 CMMB VISION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021

HPE R AT S -

REFEZFAATER - Z0 LR AR
SEB RGN BEAT L E AT -

ACE D AFESUA TR B
ZAL B ATE SR -



Corporate Governance Report

Chairman and Chief Executive

During the year, Mr. Wong served as the chairman and the chief
executive of the Company. The chairman is responsible for the overall
business development and operation strategy of the Group. The primary
responsibilities of the chief executive of the Company are to provide
leadership for the management of the Company, take a lead to implement
the Company’s business strategies and oversee the performance of

management in achieving corporate goals.

Terms of Appointment of Non-executive Directors and Independent

Non-executive Directors

Each of the non-executive Directors and the independent non-executive
Directors has entered into an appointment letter with the Company for an
initial term of one year. The term of each of the non-executive Directors
and the independent non-executive Directors shall be automatically
renewable for another successive term of one year commencing from the
next day after the expiry of their then current term of appointment, subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting
pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association (“Articles”), unless
terminated by a not-less-than three months’ notice in writing served by
either the respective non-executive Director or independent non-executive

Director expiring at the end of the initial term or at any time thereafter.

Board Meetings and Procedures

The Board meets regularly throughout the year, including up to the date of
this annual report, to review the overall business, financial and technical
strategies and to monitor the financial performance of the Group under
senior management who is delegated with supervising the day-to-day
management and operation of the Group and the execution of plans for the
Group as approved by the Board. The chairman is primarily responsible
for drawing up and approving the agenda for each Board meeting in
consultation with all the Directors. Notices of at least 14 days should be
provided to all Directors for all regular Board meetings and the Directors
can include matters for discussion in the agenda if necessary. The agenda
and accompanying Board papers in respect of these regular Board
meetings are sent out to all Directors with a reasonable lead time before
the Board meetings. Draft minutes of all Board meetings are circulated to

all Directors for comment within a reasonable time prior to endorsement.
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Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board committees are kept
by duly appointed secretaries of the respective meetings and all Directors
have access to the Board papers and related materials. They provided
adequate information in a timely manner, which enable the Board to make

an informed decision on matters placed before it.

During the Year, 25 Board meetings were held, and the individual
attendance of each director is set out below:

(e,

EHEERNEAL KA ESZEE S
i B9 B R AC Bk g i & & k0 L IE AR AT
H B AR A o T T A EE S Al A R
RO A B R R % R R
AN EORL > TR e R AR LT A
LR A FIHAE L RE -

ER AR KERGEHR TLHE
=R (NS e = I A

Number of
Board meetings

attended/held
Hip e i
WY
Name of Director WA B
Mr. WONG Chau Chi (Chairman and Chief Executive) BB (L HFTEHITE) 25/25
Dr. LIU Hui (Vice-Chairman) ™ot B (fY 2 ) 25/25
Mr. CHOU Tsan-Hsiung JE 58 I e A= 25/25
Mr. YANG Yi BB SE A 2/25
Mr. LUI Chun Pong o2 B AR S A w2 N/AAE
Dr. LI Shan Vo9 2 1L 1 A i) 2/16
Dr. LI Jun FI L 25/25
Mr. CHOW Kin Wing JAl @A e 25/25
Mr. TAM Hon Wah o4 R 1 T ST A (et 6/6
O
Notes: Wi 3L
1. Dr. LIU Hui was re-designated from an executive Director to a non- 1. PO LR ZF Z—FH =+ Hh AT E
executive Director with effect from 30 April 2021. FHUE R IEATH S -
2. Mr. LUI Chun Pong was appointed as a non-executive Director on 28 2. IR ER F A P NHEE
February 2022. R IFRATES -
3. Dr. LI Shan resigned as an independent non-executive Director with effect 3. WEFE AT EH > 20 FE A
from 17 September 2021 due to other business commitments. SEVS RS REAT M S JF AT = -
4. Mr. TAM Hon Wah was appointed as an independent non-executive Director 4. AT —AFNH T LH o RS A

on 29 September 2021.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognises that board diversity is an important element in
creating a fair and effective Board and that having a Board with a balance
of skills, backgrounds, expertise and diversity of perspectives can be
beneficial to the Company’s business.
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Policy Statement

The Company believes that board diversity enhances decision-making
capability and a diverse board is more effective in dealing with
organisational changes and less likely to suffer from groupthink. With a
view of achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the Company
sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element in
supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable

development.

In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has been
considered from a wide range of aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, business perspectives, skills, knowledge and length of
service, and any other factors that the Board may consider relevant and
applicable from time to time. A high emphasis is placed on ensuring a
balanced composition of skills and experience at the Board level in order
to provide a range of perspectives, insights and challenges that enable the
Board to discharge its duties and responsibilities effectively, make good
decisions to promote the core business and strategy of the Group, and

support succession planning and development of the Board.

Measurable Objectives

The selection of candidates will be based on the Company’s Nomination
Policy and will take into account the Board Diversity Policy. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board, having due regard to the benefits of
diversity on the Board and the needs of the Board without focusing on a
single diversity aspect.

The Board would ensure that appropriate balance of gender diversity is
achieved with reference to stakeholders’ expectation and international
and local recommended best practices. The Board also aspires to having
an appropriate proportion of directors who have direct experience in the
Group’s core markets, preferably with different ethnic backgrounds, to
support the Group’s strategy.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established and delegated authorities and responsibilities
to three specific committees with written terms of reference to assist it
in performing its functions effectively, namely the Audit Committee,
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee. The terms of
reference for Board committees have been published on the Group’s
website and the Stock Exchange’s website for shareholders to review.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Audit Committee with written terms of
reference adopted by reference to the code provisions of the CG Code and

its members as at 31 December 2021 include:

Mr. CHOW Kin Wing (Chairman of the Audit Committee)
Mr. CHOU Tsan-Hsiung

Dr. LI Jun

Mr. TAM Hon Wah

The majority of the Audit Committee members are independent non-
executive Directors. Given each Audit Committee member has broad
commercial experience, the Board considers that there is a suitable mix
of expertise in business, accounting and financial management in the
Audit Committee. The composition of members in the Audit Committee
comply with the requirements under the Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules
as at 31 December 2021. The Audit Committee is responsible for
assisting the Board in safeguarding the Group’s assets by providing an
independent review of the effectiveness of the financial reporting process
and compliance procedures and the internal controls and risk management
systems of the Group. The Audit Committee also oversees the audit
process and performs other duties as assigned by the Board.

The Audit Committee meets regularly to review the reporting of financial
and other information to the Shareholders, as well as the system of
internal controls, risk management and the effectiveness and objectivity
of the audit process. The Audit Committee also provides an important link
between the Board and the Company’s auditor on matters within the scope
of its terms of reference and reviews the independence and objectivity of

the auditor.
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The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited annual results and the

i
N

consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 -
December 2021 together with the auditors and have discussed with 4% %
management the accounting policies adopted by the Group and its internal B2 &

controls and financial reporting matters. B o
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During the year ended 31 December 2021, 2 Audit Committee meetings it #

BZEF_HEF+_H=ZF+—HILF

were held, and the individual attendance of each member is set out below: EoBEEEEGLAM2RE®E > MEL
ME MR A F skl smT -

O
Number of
committee
meetings
attended/held
Hip e X h)
ZHH
Name of Director WA KB
Dr. LI Shan ™ere ) 25| 1 A i 22
Mr. CHOU Tsan-Hsiung JE 58 I e A 2/2
Dr. LI Jun WL 2/2
Mr. CHOW Kin Wing ®ow2 JE 3 4 Sp Ak a2 22
Mr. TAM Hon Wah ®ee A T T Sfg M (Wit N/AARE
O
Notes: B 5t
1. Dr. LI Shan resigned as an independent non-executive Director due to 1. 2 L A8 L DR At 3 55 7R 08 @A 8 S JF AT

other business commitments and ceased to be the chairman of the Audit
Committee, with effect from 17 September 2021.

2. Mr. CHOW Kin Wing was re-designated from a member of the Audit 2.
Committee to the chairman of the Audit Committee with effect from 17
September 2021.

3. Mr. TAM Hon Wah was appointed as an independent non-executive Director 3.
and a member of the Audit Committee with effect from 29 September 2021.

The Company has adopted the revised written terms of reference of 7S /A
the Audit Committee to correspond with the changes made to the Al
code provisions of the CG Code. The Company has complied with  ff #i
the provisions in Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules which requires the 4 %
Company’s audit committee be comprised of a minimum of three f =

H>BABAFERZERGLE A% —
FIA LR -

SR ST T h A Z H A S S
ZAGLER > A-FZ-—F LA +LRRAE

A SR AT B L AT R A
ZEEME > A -F 40 S HILE&
AR e

A2 2 M4 3B R ST I SF R S
B RN E M Z B g T E
oo A2 A B RSy B BRI 3,21
X MARFAMNEFELLZEGRDE
2B Howmb A -4 R EHH

members, at least one of whom is an independent non-executive director ~ HI 25 3. 10(2) M T i ¢ B & H £ &

with the appropriate professional qualifications, including accounting or ~ #& >

B HL R 0 B R UM B B

related financial management expertise, as specified under Rule 3.10(2) M ERMWM L FHAITEHESF -

of the Listing Rules.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee with written
terms of reference and its members as at 31 December 2021 include:

Dr. LI Jun (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee)
Mr. CHOU Tsan-Hsiung

Mr. CHOW Kin Wing

Mr. TAM Hon Wah

A majority of the Remuneration Committee members are independent
non-executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee advises the
Board on the Group’s overall policy and structure for the remuneration
of the Directors and senior management of the Group. The Remuneration
Committee ensures that no Director or any of his associates is involved in

deciding his own remuneration.

In determining the emolument payable to the Directors, the Remuneration
Committee takes into consideration factors such as salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the
directors, employment conditions of the Group and the desirability of

performance-based remuneration.
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The Remuneration Committee meets annually to determine the policy for
the remuneration of the Directors and assesses the performance of the
executive Directors and certain senior management of the Group. During
the year ended 31 December 2021, 2 Remuneration Committee meetings
were held, and the individual attendance of each member is set out below:

TERERBRES

FMMEZEeBFEN ARG UEE
EHMNHFMBERLTERTEFLALE
MAETEAEHEANBNXRS - REEZ
T+ A=+ —HILFE  FM
ZAGHAM 2R G - A2 A
NGRS K U

O
Number of
committee
meeting
attended/held
BT
ZE®
Name of Director HEEAL kB
Dr. LI Jun L 2/2
Mr. CHOU Tsan-Hsiung JE 5 Mt e A 2/2
Dr. LI Shan ®Nete D 2 ) il D 1
Mr. CHOW Kin Wing g 2 etk 2/2
Mr. TAM Hon Wah ®ete2 R A (W) N/AA T
O
Notes: (T
1. Dr. LI Shan resigned as an independent non-executive Director due to other 1. WEFE AT EH > 20 FE A
business commitments and ceased to be a member of the Remuneration ZE 5 AR A T B AT M 0 JE AT g LR S AT
Committee, with effect from 17 September 2021. FMZEE N E -
2. Mr. TAM Hon Wah was appointed as an independent non-executive Director 2. MEFEZ LA T IUH > EEEE e

and a member of the Remuneration Committee on 29 September 2021.

ZAEMBSL AT HEE R HME B G RE -
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S % axasINVAN i& 4 =
L E/BFN a5
For the year ended 31 December 2021, the annual salary of the senior # & — % — —4 + - H =+ — H Ik £
management (exclude Directors) of the Company falls within the & > XA R @A EHANB (FEHFKI) I
following bands. EHNTLLTHEE -
(e,
No. of Senior
Management
S %3
#H
Nil to HK$500,000 £ % 500,000 # T
(equivalent to Nil to US$64,051) (5 % % 64,051 F0) 1
O
NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS EHEA
Before the Nomination Committee was established on 31 December 2021, RIR_REZTBEG R X - —4F 1+ H
the Board is responsible for considering the suitability of an individual to = T — H WL fj > EF & A HH &M A

act as a director, approving and terminating the appointment of a director  J& 75 # & 5L H F ~ L EM LK L EFH W
formulating the nomination policies and preparing board succession  fT: i ~ il /& $& & BUHR F e fff %6 = & % 1T

planning considerations. wh# 25 E R o
During the year ended 31 December 2021, 1 Board meeting was held in # 2 — % — —4 + - H =+ — H L £
relation to the nomination of director. Eo MR A ERRETIREFTER -
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Nomination Committee with written
terms of reference and its members as at 31 December 2021 include:

Mr. WONG Chau Chi (Chairman of the Nomination Committee)
Dr. LI Jun

Mr. CHOW Kin Wing

Mr. TAM Hon Wah

The Nomination Committee chaired by the chairman of the Board and a
majority of the Nomination Committee members are independent non-
executive Directors. The responsibility of the Nomination Committee is
to review the constituency of the Board, make recommendations on the
procedures and criteria for the appointment of directors and implement
those that are adopted by the Board. The Nomination Committee ensures
that a member shall not vote (or be counted in the quorum at a meeting)
in respect of any resolution concerning (i) his own appointment (including
determining or varying its terms); and (ii) the termination of his own

appointment.

In selecting candidates for directorship of the Company, the Nomination
Committee may make reference to certain criteria such as the Company’s
needs, integrity, experience, skills, professional knowledge and the
amount of time and effort that a candidate will devote to carry his/her
duties and responsibilities. External recruitment professionals might be
engaged to carry out selection process when necessary.

The Nomination Committee meets annually to review the current
Directors® and senior executives® structure, and to monitor the overall
adequacy of the Board’s composition. During the year ended 31
December 2021, no meeting was held by the Nomination Committee since
the Nomination Committee was established on 31 December 2021.
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Nomination Policy

The Board has adopted the following policy for the nomination of
Directors (the “Nomination Policy™).

Selection Criteria

In determining the suitability of a candidate, the Board shall consider
the potential contributions a candidate can bring to the Board in terms of
qualifications, skills, experience, independence and gender diversity. The
Board shall consider the following selection criteria, which are not meant
to be exhaustive:

. the candidate’s personal ethics, reputation, character and integrity;

. the candidate’s qualifications, skills, knowledge, business judgment
and experience that are relevant to the operations of the Group;

. the diversity perspectives set out in the Board Diversity Policy of
the Company (as amended from time to time);

. the candidate’s availability including time commitment to discharge
his or her responsibility as a director, including being able to devote
sufficient time to attend Board meetings, participate in induction,
trainings and other Board and Company activities; in the case of a
candidate nominated as an independent non-executive Director and
will hold seven or more listed company directorships, the Board
shall consider the reasons given by the candidate for being able to
devote sufficient time to discharge his or her responsibility as an

independent non-executive Director;

. the candidate for the position of an independent non-executive
Director must comply with the independence criteria as prescribed

under the Listing Rules (as amended from time to time);
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o the current size and composition of the Board, the needs of the

Board and the respective committees of the Company;

. the succession planning of members of the Board to ensure
leadership continuity and smooth functioning of the Group; and

. any other factors that the Board may consider appropriate.

The Board shall ensure that the composition of the Board is in conformity
with the laws of the Cayman Islands, the Listing Rules and all other
applicable laws and regulations.

Nomination Procedures

The recruitment, identification, evaluation, recommendation, nomination,
selection and new appointment or re-appointment of each proposed
Director shall be assessed and considered by the Board against the
selection criteria as set out in this Policy.

In the context of appointing of any proposed candidate to the Board:

. the Board may take such measures that it considers appropriate
in connection with its identification and evaluation of candidates,
including, amongst others, consider referrals from Directors,
Shareholders, management and advisors of the Company;

° the Board shall identify and ascertain the character, qualification,
knowledge and experience of the candidate and undertake adequate
due diligence in respect of such candidate; and

. senior management shall make recommendations on the candidate’s

personal profile to the Board for its consideration.

In the context of re-appointment of any existing member of the Board, the
remaining Board members shall make recommendations to the Board for
its consideration and recommendation for the candidate to stand for re-
election at a general meeting.

For each proposed new appointment or re-appointment of a Director, the
Board shall obtain all applicable declarations and undertaking as required
under the laws of the Cayman Islands and the Listing Rules.

In the case of a nomination for the position of an independent non-
executive Director, the Board shall ensure that the concerned candidate
meets the independence criteria as prescribed under the Listing Rules.
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The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to the
recommendation of candidates to stand for election (and re-election) at a

general meeting.

The ultimate responsibility for the selection and appointment of Directors
rests with the entire Board.

Review and Monitoring

The Board will from time to time review the Nomination Policy and
monitor its implementation to ensure compliance with the regulatory
requirements at the relevant time and good corporate governance practice.

Management shall, when necessary, recommend revisions to the

Nomination Policy to the Board for its consideration and approval.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS REMUNERATION

An analysis of the remuneration of the Company’s auditors, Confucius
International CPA Limited (“Confucius”), for the Year is set out as

B mmEEARNBRRE 28 (LE
RN AFH EFGHEAMBRTE
HE o

MERELAEFNRAALHEFG S

bt e B ¢
EFEEMHARMBAAEEABRZH
B - DA DR AR B AT 2 A Rk R B
BE B R EEIRE -

IR R S R SR 10
WHERT > EEGFM -
B 15 % B i

A AR AR oy E) R RO fi B R e R A SR
BARAF (TR ]) 2 B 420 47 8 51

follows: D e
O
Fee paid/payable
et
JE 4 2 F
US$’000
Services rendered 3Rt 2 R % F L
Audit services (Confucius) R R BS (R ) 141.0
Non-audit services (Confucius) IE 28 4% MR BS (K Ak ) —
O
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records
and preparing the financial statements which give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In preparing the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021, the directors
have made judgments and estimates that are prudent and reasonable and

prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis.

Management has provided such explanation and information to the Board
to enable the Board to make an informed assessment of the financial and
other information before the Board’s approval.

The statement by the auditor of the Company about their responsibilities
for the financial statements is set out in the independent auditor’s report

contained in this annual report.

The Board’s responsibility to present a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment extends to annual and interim reports, other price-sensitive
announcements and other financial disclosures required under the Listing
Rules, and reports to regulators as well as information required to be

disclosed pursuant to statutory requirements.

The Group recognises that high quality corporate reporting is important
in reinforcing the trust of the Shareholders and aims at presenting
a balanced, clear and comprehensive assessment of the Company’s
performance, position and prospects in all corporate communications. The
annual and interim results of the Group are announced in a timely manner
within four and three months respectively after the end of the relevant
periods in compliance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.
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INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the Group’s systems of internal controls
and risk management and for reviewing its effectiveness. The Board,
the Group’s internal audit division and management reviewed the
effectiveness of the internal control system of the Company and its
subsidiaries. The Audit Committee reviews the findings and opinions of
the Group’s internal audit division and management on the effectiveness
of the Company’s system of internal controls, and reports to the Board
on such reviews. In 2021, the Board, through its Audit Committee,
conducted a review of the Group’s risk management and internal controls
system, including financial, operational and compliance control, and risk
management functions. To formalise the annual review of the Company’s
risk management and internal control system, the Audit Committee made
reference to the requirements of the relevant regulatory bodies. In respect
of the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board considered the internal
controls system is effective and adequate. No significant areas of concern

which might affect the Shareholders were identified.

The internal audit division of the Group should ensure that the Company
maintains sound and effective internal controls to safeguard the
Shareholders’ investments and the Company’s assets. The main functions
of the internal audit division are to audit the operating efficiencies of each
of the operating units, to carry out audits upon resignation of any key
management personnel, to assist the Board in reviewing the effectiveness
of the internal controls system of the Group and to review internal
controls on business processes and project-based auditing. Evaluation of
the Group’s internal controls covering financial, operational compliance
controls and risk management functions will be done at least once a year.
As confirmed by the management, the Board is satisfied that the Group
has sufficient internal controls.

The Company had continued to follow the Terms of Reference of the

Audit Committee which had been adopted since 2016 and relied on it as a

check and balance for its internal controls and risk management systems.
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ENTERPRISE RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for overseeing the Group’s overall risk
management framework and the Board is also responsible for approving
the Group’s risk policies and assessing the effectiveness of the Group’s
risk controls/mitigation tools. Systems and procedures have been
established to identify, measure, manage and control various risks
including business, compliance, operation, finance and information that
may have an impact on the Group and each major department.

The Company has embarked on the journey of building an enterprise
risk management (the “ERM”) system with the view of enhancing the
risk management and corporate governance practices and improving the
effectiveness and efficiency of internal controls system across the whole
Group.

The Board believes that a heightened focus on risk and compliance is
beneficial for the ongoing development and growth of the Company as
well as its staff. In establishing the ERM system, all key functions of
the Company were carried out by internal audit division to undertake the
following exercises:

1. Enterprise risk assessment — to identify and prioritise the
Company’s key business risks; and

2. Process level control assessment — to assess the related internal
controls and risk mitigating measures.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES

The Group concurs that an enterprise’s existence should not purely be for
the maximisation of its own benefits. As part of the society, it is essential
for an enterprise to facilitate wealth accumulation of the whole society,
advance social civilisation and promote the sustainable development of
the environment. Management of the Group pays attention to corporate
social responsibilities by monitoring the development, implementation
and results of initiatives carried out by the different departments of the
Group, in which the environmental, social and governance standards have
been integrated into their operations and activities. Details are set out in
the section headed environment, society and governance on pages 55 to
67 of this report.
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CONTINUOUS DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS REGARDING
PRICE SENSITIVE AND/OR INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company has developed a system with established policies, processes
and procedures across all relevant segments and departments for
complying with the disclosure obligations regarding price sensitive and/or
inside information. The system continues to be effective. The Company
will continue to further enhance its effect on the business operation,
development of the Company and new regulations and laws with great
effort.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has engaged under a service contract with an external
service provider, Ms. HO Wing Yan (“Ms. HO”), who is appointed as the
company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”). Ms. HO
has confirmed that she has complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
Mr. WONG Chau Chi, the executive Director, chairman of the Board and
chief executive of the Company, is the primary corporate contact person
of the Company with Ms. HO.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements for each financial year which
gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of its
results and cash flows of the Group in accordance with the Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and the Listing Rules. In preparing the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021,
the Directors have selected suitable accounting policies and applied
them consistently; made adjustments and estimates that are prudent, fair
and reasonable; and prepared the consolidated financial statements on
a going concern basis. The Directors are also responsible for keeping
proper accounting records which can at any time disclose with reasonable
accuracy the financial position of the Group to enable the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.

AUDITOR’S STATEMENT

The auditor of the Company acknowledges its responsibilities in the
independent auditor’s report on the consolidated financial statements of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.
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INVESTOR RELATIONSHIP AND COMMUNICATIONS
WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Group is committed in creating transparent lines of communication
between senior management and investors, maintaining a close
relationship with all its Shareholders through a variety of channels, and
promoting understandings between stakeholders and us. The Company has
adopted a shareholders’ communication policy to formalise and facilitate
effective and clear interactions among the Company, Shareholders and
other stakeholders, subject to the relevant regulatory requirements.
Shareholders are encouraged to participate in the shareholders meeting
and annual general meeting (“AGM”) or to appoint proxies to attend
and vote at such meetings for and on their behalf if they are unable to
attend. The main communication channels with the Shareholders include
investors’ meetings, annual general meeting, annual reports, interim
reports, announcements and circulars and constitutional documents filed
with the HKEX news of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong (“HKEX”)
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Group’s websites (www. irasia.com/listco/

hk/cmmbvision and www.cmmbvision.com).

The Group has a dedicated team to maintain contact with investors and
handle shareholders’ inquiries. Should investors have any inquiries, please
contact the Group (telephone: +852 2159 3300; e-mail: co.sec@cmmb.
com.hk).

Investors’ Meetings

Group meetings are held by the Group with institutional investors and
analysts with respect to its annual results and interim results. In addition,
the Group’s senior executives and staff from investor relations department
hold regular meetings with institutional investors and analysts. Investors
are provided with the latest information on the development of the Group,
in compliance with the applicable laws and regulations.

General Meeting

The AGM is an important platform for Shareholders to participate in
discussions, thereby facilitating communications between management
of the Group and the Shareholders. The AGM is held once a year, being
publicly accessible to all Shareholders. The Group’s senior management
answers any questions that Shareholders may have at the meeting and the
external auditor attends the AGM as well.
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The attendance of each director at the general meeting(s) of the Company

held during the Year was as follows:

O

HEBE NN RAERNRITHAL A BERKR
TR EWT

Number of
general
meeting(s) of
the Company

attended/held
Hip e i
A 2 w6 R
Name of director WA PNRCRVS il
Mr. WONG Chau Chi (Chairman and Chief Executive) WML (EEFTEHITE) 2/2
Dr. LIU Hui (Vice-Chairman) ™o ) S A (@ ) (e 2/2
Mr. CHOU Tsan-Hsiung JE 58 I e A 2/2
Mr. YANG Yi BB SE A 212
Mr. LUI Chun Pong o2 B Ik B 5 A i) N/AAE
Dr. LI Shan Vo9 2=\ 18 R 212
Dr. LI Jun FI L 212
Mr. CHOW Kin Wing JAl @A e 2/2
Mr. TAM Hon Wah ®ee# oL T 3 g s o) N/AAEH
O
Notes: B3
1. Dr. LIU Hui was re-designated from an executive Director to a non- 1. PR LR —F M =+ HhATE
executive Director with effect from 30 April 2021. HIE R EPATES -
2. Mr. LUI Chun Pong was appointed as a non-executive Director on 28 2. EIRFEEN R A NA R
February 2022. ERFATES -
3. Dr. LI Shan resigned as an independent non-executive Director with effect 3. REEZFUA B s ZE i B A
from 17 September 2021 due to other business commitments. SN RS T B AT S AT E S o
4. Mr. TAM Hon Wah was appointed as an independent non-executive Director 4. AR AEIA ZHILE B A

on 29 September 2021.

There is no provision allowing shareholders to move new resolutions
at general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Law or the
Articles of Association. Shareholders who wish to move a resolution
may request the Company to convene an extraordinary general meeting
following the procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.

All matters proposed to shareholders for approval shall be submitted
in separate resolutions and resolved by way of poll at the general
meeting. The procedures of conducting a poll are explained in details
to shareholders by the Group prior to voting to ensure shareholders are
familiar with such arrangement. The voting results of the meetings will be
published on the websites of the Group.
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Corporate Governance Report

Annual Reports, Interim Reports, Announcements and Circulars

The Group issues its annual reports and interim reports after publishing
the annual results and the interim results in March and August every
year respectively to periodically review the development of the Group
as well as to update its Shareholders with its latest business information
and market trends. In addition, the Group explains to the Shareholders
through announcements regarding any major event or price-sensitive
information. For any matter requiring the approval of the Shareholders,
the Group holds an EGM in accordance with the requirements of the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange and issues a circular prior to the specific
date of the meeting, allowing shareholders to have sufficient time to learn
more about the matters for making voting decisions. All annual reports,
interim reports, announcements and circulars are uploaded to the websites
of HKEX (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Group (www.irasia.com/listco/hk/

cmmbvision and www.cmmbyvision.com).

CHANGES OF ARTICLES OF THE ASSOCIATION

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there were no changes in the
Company’s Articles of Association. The latest version of the Company’s
Articles of Association is available on the websites of the HKEX and
the Group. Shareholders can also obtain the details of their rights with
reference to the Company’s Articles of Association.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted the dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) which
sets out the appropriate procedure on declaring and recommending the
dividend payment of the Company. The Dividend Policy aims to allow the
Shareholders to participate in the Company’s profits whilst preserving the
Company’s liquidity to capture future growth opportunities. The dividend
distribution decision of the Company will depend on, among others,
the financial results, the cash flow, Shareholders’ interests, the general
business conditions and strategies, the current and future operations, the
liquidity and capital requirements, taxation considerations, statutory and
regulatory restrictions and other factors as the Board may deem relevant.
The Board may also declare special dividends from time to time. The

Dividend Policy will be reviewed on a regular basis.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures to convene a general meeting and put forward proposals

at general meetings

Shareholder(s) representing not less than one tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company having the right to vote at general meetings may request
the directors to call a general meeting of the Company pursuant to the
Articles of Association. The request must state the general nature of the
business to be dealt with and may include the text of a resolution that may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at the general meeting.
The request may be sent to the Company at the registered office of the
Company in hard copy form or in electronic form to the attention of the
Directors or the Company Secretary and must be authenticated by the
person(s) making it.

Shareholders can refer to the detailed requirements and procedures as set
forth in the relevant sections of the Articles of Association when making
any requisitions or proposals for transaction at the general meetings of the
Company.

Procedures by which enquiries may be put to the Board

Shareholders may send enquiries to the Board in writing c/o the Corporate

Secretariat with the following contact details:

Attention Company Secretary
Address: Unit 1211, Level 12, Core F,
Cyberport 3, 100 Cyberport Road, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 2159 3300
Facsimile: (852) 2159 3399
Email: co.sec@cmmb.com.hk
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
R g kEawmEs

As a sustainable enterprise, the environmental, social and governance
(“ESG”) issues are an integral part of the Group’s overall business
strategy and goals. We seek to operate in an economically and socially
ethical environment while balancing the interests of our internal and
external stakeholders, and supporting the communities we work in.
ESG subjects are used to enhance the corporation strategic approach
formulation and maintain a constructive long-term relationship with our
key stakeholders. These matters would cover both internal employees and
external customers, suppliers and the community where we serve.

It is our policy to comply with all laws, rules, regulations and sanctions
which are applicable to our Company and our business, whether through
directly related companies or third parties. We also expect our employees,
agents, consultants, contractors, intermediaries, representatives, suppliers
and business partners to demonstrate ethical principles and observe the
highest standards of integrity and honesty in all professional and personal
dealings. In addition to complying with relevant laws and regulations, the
Company endeavours to integrate environmental protection measures and

community engagement into our business operation.
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ENVIRONMENTAL

The Company is a leading satellite to mobile operator headquartered
in Hong Kong with our own satellite control facilities. The
Company is conscious of the need to minimise the environmental,
health and safety impacts of our daily operations and to comply with
the relevant environmental laws. The Group has adopted a “reduce,
reuse, repair and recycle” policy to help support our environment
aims, namely, to preserve and maintain a clean and sustainable
environment for future generations. The Group uses resources in a
responsible, efficient and effective manner in order to contribute to
a sustainable society and comply with international standards and
regulations.

Eco-friendly measures, such as reducing emissions, greenhouse
gases, energy and water consumption, more recycling, and careful
disposal of wastes have been incorporated into our operations to
alleviate the business’s impact on the environment. Enhancing
energy efficiency continues to be our biggest challenge as
travelling, paper and package usage, air-conditioning and lighting,
consume a lot of energy, including a heavy reliance on the general

use of electricity for production and broadcasting.

We are committed to protecting the environment and we integrate
sustainability into our business operations through internal policies
and guidelines. As a global citizen, our environmentally friendly
vision was established to safeguard our natural environment and its
ecosystems over time by adopting appropriate policies and practices
in our operations and procedures.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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Emissions Al. #Hik
The total CO:2 emissions generated from the usage of the A 2N ) E R s T B T R A
transportation fuel by the Company was 17,860 kg (2020: AR B AR OBE R 25 17,860
18,328 kg), which is a decrease of 3% due to a reduction in T (= F ~FEF 18,328 F
private car usage. Going forward, the Company plans to keep ) o NRE3% R B R E A EH
the overall air transportation as well as auto usage low in FRHE - RERK » AN A G
order to keep the total output of emissions to a minimum. Our ) ol R H A 2 R g R0 YR B
overall goal is to continue to reduce overall CO:2 annual basis R E AR KT > DL A R
consistently. emissions on an annual basis consistently. B R HE TR B AR K o FAM Y
HEAERFHAERLEENE
B S PR R -
Hazardous waste HEEEY
Although our Company produces limited hazardous waste, WEANAEAMNAEFEREY
we dispose of items such as florescent tubes, batteries, ME D R HTEUAETT
waste electrical and electronic equipment and general office WX EENRE - B BEE
equipment responsibly. As necessary, we hire specialist KO TR K O A E R
contractors and waste collectors to handle the recycling and Y o R ZIR - KA
manage the removal of such wastes. TR B2 R BN K Y i
P BT i RN R R S 0
Y o
Non-hazardous waste HHEREY
Our non-hazardous waste consists of general office waste FoAM Y e E Y AR A A A
produced at the Company. To ensure our waste disposal RN — BRI EREY - B
methods are in-line with local regulations, we utilise T MR A Y BE W i B O A
professional cleaning service providers and contractors to 6 AR R A I
handle this waste. When possible, our general office waste 4 35 T IRBS I R v R K M R R
is recycled, reused and repurposed to paper, plastic, glass, PEEBEY o Rul T EWT
metal and waste products. The recycling of aluminium cans — M BE WA RE M
and plastic bottles saved a total 17.44 kg (2020: 15.93 kg) Wl Wi > B R R SR AH E H R 4
of CO:2 emissions for the year. Our aim is to recycle as much iR OB B - &M E
as possible and reduce CO: emissions in both hazardous and Yoo 5% 18 B R 6 E R 98 B
non-hazardous wastes annually. AR B R > 17,44 T
R(ZFZFAHF 0 1593FT %)
M e PE iR - M A
R B AR A8 IR BR W A i
YHEEREEEREYDK AL
Bk P ik o
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A2.

HTENERRES

Use of Resources

We measure our environmental impact in terms of resource
consumption against these major categories: (1) electricity, (2)
paper usage, (3) packaging and waste, and (4) water usages.
The resources used by the Group consist primarily of the
electricity, paper, waste packaging and water consumed at the
office.

In terms of the overall electricity usage, the Company takes
energy saving measures with LED lighting and light zoning.
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the total CO2
emission generated from electricity consumption by the
Company was 34,323 kg (2020: 42,237 kg) a slightly decrease
of 19%.

The Group continues to practice paper saving techniques, such
as double-sided printing, 2 pages per side printing, black and
white outputs, and print-job tracking to encourage minimizing

printing.

The Group has also implemented the collection of waste paper
for effective recycling. The total CO2 emissions generated
from the paper consumption by the Company was 421 kg
(2020: 517 kg). With our overall paper saving incentive, such
as all departments of the Group are also advised to handle
documents electronically (except formal documents which are
required to be prepared in hard copies), our printers are set
to default duplex and employees are encouraged to use both
sides of the paper, we have been able to save a total of 223 kg
(2020: 347 kg) of COs47 emissions.

The Group orders reusable 5-gallon containers for our water
consumption to minimize waste from individual plastic, metal

and glass containers.
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Electricity
1)  Efficient lighting
2)  Electricity zoning

3)  Light and electricity
usage

Paper

1)  Duplex printing

2)  Black and white
printing

3)  Multiple-page printing

4)  Print tracking

5)  Printing quotas

6)  Recycled papers

7)  Recycled envelopes

LED and energy efficient lighting
installed over the office area

Air conditioning and light zoning
arrangements in office to
reduce unnecessary energy
waste

Turn off all equipment and
lighting in the office when not
in use and utilise low-power
state and energy saving options
when equipment is idle

Office printing defaults set to

duplex to reduce paper wastage

Default black and white printed
output to reduce dependency on

colour toner cartridges

Print from 2 to 4 pages per side to
reduce paper and ink usage

Printing is tracked by user to
encourage minimising excessive

usage

Monthly printing quotas are
reviewed in order to keep
printing within or below these
thresholds

Recycled papers are collected
to be reused for printing

Recycled envelopes are reused for
non-private and non-confidential

information mailings
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8)  Electronic Communications through electronic  8) & F #H #ll & % RE B H W LAE E
communications channels instead of hard copies Z AR A R A
or printed correspondences

9)  Facsimiles All facsimile communications are 9) fHI ST A 8 B 5 #D DA 7B
completed electronic, without I R GE W A AR AT
the need for any paper AR VS FE > I B HE AR
consumption and are delivered TRk

directly to users’ mailboxes

Packing and waste W A % f1 JE Y

1)  Packing materials Reuse packing materials for 1) B R HA D A2k
electronic equipment to reduce fE> 7 H % B T 48 A
the need to purchase new 3% B i DA AR
packaging Wi 20507 W R

2)  Reuse and recycle Reuse and recycle plastic, glass 2)  HR4E AEEZ HEWRAEZ

products and paper products and bags for PR 12 9l £ ) 3R AR AR
office procurement to prevent DLk > #E AN B AR Al

extra waste

3)  Recycle bottles and Recycle and reuse plastic bottles 3) [l AR AE 2 2 1] i AN R A
cans and aluminium cans in office to 3% BHI AR £ R LA
reduce waste Ik D IR

4)  Plastic take-away boxes Reuse plastic take-away boxes for 4y HWHAIESR BB E & LE

food storage in the office WEos = 'Y LR A
5)  Garbage collection Garbage is collected in bulk in 5) BRI E Ay W) B Ol R A
order to eliminate additional KBV IRAR >
plastic bag wastes DAk D 88 A 9 R 4% A
Water 2k
1)  Reduce water related ~ Minimise water usage and purchase 1) /> H /K& SR NS DN
wastage bulk sized drinking water instead i 2 Bk K T A 2
of individual bottles to prevent WO o AR SR 2

excess wastage
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A3. The Environment and Natural Resources A3, BREEH P AE
Due to the nature of the business, apart from the above- BEREBHE - BT bk Pk
mentioned emissions and resources usage, the Group does W BB R AR A o A AR i &R
not have any significant direct or indirect impact on the B B BB R E
environment or on natural resources in the course of its KM CE KW OE R MY
operations. In the future, we aim to continue to stride for &/ oo R WAMBH B S
environmentally friendly measures and reduce wastes which HOEAITRERE LB DR
storing internal and non-private/non-confidential documents Z G - S SO e I BE FL 5
in e-format or on the cloud instead of printing these and PR % M SO DL T B E i
storing them, improving on the recycle and reuse policies filf A7 LA R A 2 2 AR Ep
for paper, plastic, glass, metal, water, and waste products, Wil o~ ouE AR sk - YBORE - B -
and using LED and energy efficient lighting installation and & 0& K K P EE A E % L7/Ril]
electricity usages. THER T A K - DR LED
FAMBEBRALENERSR -
B. SOCIAL B. #®
B1. Employment B1. &BH
The Group’s success depends heavily on its ability of A A ] 2R T R R R R
attract, retain and motivate talent in the competitive labour FhMmSE s W > A8
markets. Their development is a critical part of the Group’s KB NA o NAZ BRI
human capital. Attracting and strengthening the engagement AKEB N EARR E IR -
of talent contribute to the sustainability of the Group. The W5l N A B Ak At i 2 B
Company’s greatest asset is our employees who are essential 1= 75 B A 5 R AT R A B
to the continued success of the business. We strive to attract o AN HE K& E R M
and retain talent by providing training and encouraging them E"J BT &8 A ENFEN
to develop their full potential. Their personal development, T BB o JRAM B ) o 4R it
mental health and work-life balance is carefully considered. b [ R (R o S N o
T Gl AR ANA o T AA
° Z A8 N AR o R R K A i
BT AR 89 F 45 08 2 A 4 T
A
At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s workforce A RS BOR B A B
totals 24 staff (2020: 25 staff) globally, of which males were 2RI F 24 @ E T(Z&F &
63% (2020: 64%) and females were 37% (2020: 36%). Full- 254 8 o Ho B AL
time staff were 54% (2020: 56%) and consultants or part 63% (— T = E @ 64%) >
time staff were 46% (2020: 44%). The number of Hong Kong L3R (. F —F F o
based staff was 58% (2020: 48%) and elsewhere was 42% 36%) - =W B T ih54% (=
(2020: 52%). TR 56%) 0 B B
BB TA46% (ZF ZF4F -
44%) o 1E /WM TAE AN B A
58% (% %4 1 48%) > fE
HEUSSKIE42% (ZF - F
F:52%) °
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Health and Safety

To safeguard employees’ occupational health and safety,
the Group provides a safe, healthy and comfortable working
environment and has complied with relevant rules and
regulations. The Group offers its employees a comprehensive
healthcare insurance coverage. This includes the appropriate
vaccinations and precautions when travelling globally for
business and meetings. We provide a healthy, relaxing
and enjoyable workplace for our people to motivate their
work engagements and commitments. The Company takes
occupational safety as a major management responsibility and
works hard to provide a safe and healthy work environment.
During the year 2021, the Group did not experience any

accident or work injury.

We have designated several recreational and nearby areas
for simple exercises during the work hours. Moreover, a
fully equipped pantry and kitchen area with different kinds
of healthy foods and drinks are provided to our employees
to revitalise them from their work tasks. We believe short
relaxation breaks can boost the performance of daily work
routines. Employees have a spacious work station in a modern
office setting, looking out to a sea horizon with mountains,
which provides a serene workplace environment to help
reduce work fatigue and stimulate higher work performance
from our employees.

Work-life balance is an important goal for the Group and the
Company caters to this accordingly. Keeping in touch with
external news and updates allow employees to keep abreast
of happenings in the community and globally. Specifically,
as a broadcasting company, multiple live-television and
audio broadcasts are provided to our employees through the
XingYun app, which connects employees with the outside
environment. This connection stimulates creativity including

new and dynamic ideas on sustainable development.
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Apart from the office, an agreeable collegiate environment
has been established based on the interaction and socialisation
amongst the staff. Routine gatherings and activities are held
for enhancing communications between departments to
form a productive and harmonious ecosystem. For example,
teambuilding luncheons and dinners plus work-related
gathering events, such as club events, are sponsored regularly
throughout the year. Both formal and informal training
sessions help to reinforce our corporate culture and boost
employee morale.
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Development and Training B3. AL
We sponsor and encourage training, research and development AN oL B B T2 BLE 2 A &
and skill upgrading activities for our staff which benefits the HelT 42 T 05 B o dE LLE By T DA
Group by adding new ideas for future expansion. The Group B A5 18 45 2 b 09 A R K A T B
provides a budget for external trainings for staff annually. In ROy Al R Z R - AR
Hong Kong, the average number of hours per employee was B4 N B TREFHEEE
13.5 hours of training (2020: 12 hours) which is a increase DR - AE&/W > B A LKW
of 12.5%, which 25% were female (2020: 42%) and 75% B RN B S 3 R WO 13,5 /)0
were male (2020: 58%) and 63% (2020: 50%) were senior BF (&% = F4F 0 12/0F)
and middle management and 38% were staff (2020: 50%). BT 12.5% L9 25% 5 &
Moreover, we sponsored and supported our staff to attend PECZF ZFE 42%) » 75%
different kinds of conferences, exhibitions and meetings R FAE 58%)
which related to our business. For example, professional 63% M T EmMEMAR(CE
industrial organisations and governing bodies held seminars X AR 1 50%) 0 38% 795 8 T
for the employees to update their professional accreditations (ZEZXF 1 50%) Mok
such as corporate governance, technical and technology FoAM % B R SR B L2 B3R
exhibitions. 1 2% B T i A B R 45 B
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B4.

BS.

In the future, the Company will arrange functions and retreats
for our staff to enhance their teamwork, and communication
and interpersonal skills during the activities. For example,
organising outdoor activities such as boat trips and similar
activities for our staff to enrich their connections with each
other in a casual environment outside of the workplace.
Overall, we aim to correlate employees’ skillsets to the right
trainings, meetings, conferences and exhibitions for acquiring

new skills and opportunities for the staff and the Group.

Labour Standards

The Group fully understands that employing child labour
and forced labour is a violation of basic human rights and
international labour conventions and strictly prohibits the use
of child labour and forced labour in our business operations.
The Group has also complied with all relevant labour
laws and regulations during the year and strives to create
an environment of respect, integrity and fairness for our

employees.

Supply Chain Management

Our commitment to maintaining the highest ethical and
professional standards not only applies to our own business
operations but also those of our suppliers and business
partners. We aim to build trusting supply chain relationships
as we work together to deliver quality services and products.
We partner with respected and reputable companies which
have a long-standing history with the business community.
Any acts of bribery and corruption are strictly prohibited. We
actively encourage our suppliers to adopt environmentally
and socially responsible behaviour by enforcing our ESG
commitments. Our purchasing and procurement decisions
are integrated with social responsibility considerations in our
supplier selection process.
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Product Responsibility B6. EdEAE
The Group is committed to offering excellent and reliable AR B R GE B R T R K
services to our customers. As one of Asia’s leading satellite F]SE MR o A & BN A 4EE
operators, we aim to provide with consistency high-quality iR g R 2 — o A
services that meet their current and future requirements. The Oy P P A A K e
products and services in which the Company provides are also R > T At AT B IRE B R AR Y
scrutinised by our research and development and technical I R NN [ 7
teams in order to comply with and satisfy all applicable laws B A e A5 O g R0 B g
and regulations regionally and globally. The Group is also BT R A > DDA
committed to protecting the privacy of our customers and LY VR R BE E Y IR R A Bk
have taken certain steps to ensure our customer’s personal B REBMIBPE T RERXF
data are protected against unauthorised use or disclosure. [ FA BE o S HLOBR B TS it -
Personal data collected by the Group will be used or disclosed - R UK NG < o 37 NI
only in accordance with our Personal Data (Privacy) Policy P2 RE B9 (0 ) B 4% iR o A SR [ BT
and the Hong Kong Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance. KEMMEAERRGEMNFEGL
A Y FL B LR B ) R AW RO
R (FABE ) i 49 19 8 2 T i A
i34
Anti-Corruption B7. R&S
The Group values and upholds integrity, fairness, transparency AEEENLETFRE - A
and accountability. There was no corruption and fraud o B RORE A B
identified. Anti-bribery and anti-corruption standards are 2EEMMREE - R &R &
important parts of the Group’s policies and operating practices V5 AR HE 2 T R A T BOR K
which are reinforced by our employees and communicated W2 EE G - R B W E B
to key stakeholders who had dealings with the Group. The & SF o Sl 1) B BE 32 g
Group’s whistle-blowing policies apply to all stakeholders FlamAHE AN LR - AE
including employees, shareholders, customers and suppliers. M 2 B 3k BCK A R T A R 4
The whistle-blowing mechanisms allow stakeholders to MEAL GF 8L BRIE-
report suspected misconduct, malpractices or fraudulent B R ALER - AHB O LA TE
activities with confidence. Cases reported are followed up ARS8 I NN 2
independently and all cases are reported by the Group’ s Wik ol HCREAT 2y o fE R X MR <L
internal audit function to the Audit Committee and executive PR > I i A B B 2 R ER A R
management. We expect to maintain the highest standard of M R B e AT EUE
values and integrity in the anti-corruption policies and update JE NE oo FAM & A AR FE R &
it with the latest news of any anti-corruption regulations V5 Y SRR B BAT A B A il
and laws to our employees. During the year, the Group was Wi 7 ) B LB R e B R By AR B
not aware of any breach of laws and regulations that have a WA 0 B A o FEN
significant impact on the Group relating to anti-corruption. AL B 6 AN 0B AT ] AR
EEARRENEREENE
B REHR -
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Community Investment

Caring for the society and taking suitable action by acting
as a corporate citizen build up meaningful and supportive
relationships within the communities which we serve. Our
corporation values education as it is the foundation to building
up innovative and meaningful communities which fosters
the education cycle again in society. We sponsored different
higher education institutions and research and development
partnerships for improving their education quality to foster
talent for the technology industry and even for the whole
community. Specifically, we established the CMMB Vision-
University of Washington Joint Research Centre on Satellite
Multimedia and Connected Vehicles with the University of
Electronic Science & Technology of Electrical Engineering in
Seattle, and also the Joint-Laboratory with the University of
Electronic Science & Technology and the Telematics Industry
Applications Alliance in China which is dedicated to satellite-
LTE integrated multimedia services.

FIGHT AGAINST COVID-19

During the COVID-19 outbreak in 2021, the Company formed an
emergency management team for pandemic prevention and control

and established an internal prevention and control system. We have

undertaken a series of measures including adopting scientific measures,

strengthening prevention and control education and carrying out massive

prevention and control activities, with a view to comprehensively

ensuring the health and safety of employees.
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Anti-pandemic Actions
Protection of employee health

Arranging employees to work from home; distributing masks and other

antipandemic supplies to employees on a regular basis.

Prevention and control measures for workplace

Formulating prevention and control policies on entering and leaving
the office during the outbreak; conscientiously implementing specific
prevention and control measures including personnel management,

detection of body temperature and on-site disinfection.

High-quality Working Environment

The Company is committed to creating better office and service facilities
for employees and improving their happiness.

. An air purification system was installed to improve office air

quality
C The green space was increased in office areas

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

Meeting and exceeding our ESG sustainability achievements are
supported by directors, management and employees within the Group as
we continue to achieve our goals and meet stakeholders’ expectations.
Continuous motivation for our talents to reach for higher achievements,
build up harmonious relationships amongst our stakeholders and serve
our community with meaningful and constructive relationships are key
attributes we strive for. In the coming 12 months, the Group will focus
on several aspects to achieve higher sustainability including environment
preservation, talent development, society and community involvement.
The sustainability of the Group’s ESG policies will be carefully
considered when pursuing our future business endeavours. The Group
has and will continue to cultivate a culture of caring for our environment,
people and community.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial

statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year, an analysis of the
Group’s performance during the year using financial key performance
indicators, a discussion on the Group’s future business development
and a description of possible risks and uncertainties that the Group may
be facing are provided in the Chairman’s Statement and Management
Discussion and Analysis on pages 5 to 6 and pages 7 to 21 of the annual
report respectively. The financial risk management objectives and policies
of the Group can be found in notes 6 and 7 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income.

DIVIDEND

The Directors did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2021.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, the Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 100% of the Group’s revenue and approximately 53.0% of

the Group’s revenue was attributable to the largest customer.

For the Year, the Group had only one major supplier due to the nature of
the principal activities of the Group, which accounted for approximately
69.6% of the Group’s cost of sales.

Our major customers include LPTV programmers, electronic manufacturer
and satellite communication company. The years of business relationship
with the Group over 8 years and details of the trade and retention
receivables of the Group as at 31 December 2021 are set out in notes 22
to the consolidated financial statements.

To reduce related risks, the Group generally continuously monitors
the level of exposure to individual customers to ensure that follow-up
actions and/or corrective actions are taken promptly or to recover overdue
balances and if the receivables have not been paid or other breaches
of contract occur, the Group may deduct part of the credit amount. In
addition, the Group will evaluate potential customer’s credit quality

before determining the credit limit of the new contract.

During the Year, the Group had not experienced any major disruption of
business due to material delay or default of payment by our customers due
to their financial difficulties. We did not have any material dispute with

our customers.

None of the Directors or their respective close associates or any of the
Shareholders (who owns more than 5% of the Company’s number of
the issued shares) had any interest in any of the Group’s five largest

customers during the Year.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on page 4 of the annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE
ASSETS

Details of the movements during the year in the property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets of the Group are set out in notes 17 and
18 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.
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SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2021 are

set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of equity-linked agreements entered during the Year or subsisting
at the end of the Year are set out below:

CONVERTIBLE NOTES

On 29 May 2018, the Company issued US dollar denominated convertible
notes with a principal amount of US$96,000,000 (“2025 CN”) to Chi
Capital Holdings Ltd. (“Chi Capital”) as part of the consideration for
the acquisition of 20% equity interest in Silkwave Holdings Limited.
The maturity date of the 2025 CN is 28 May 2025 (‘2025 CN Maturity
Date”) which is 7 years from the date of issue of the 2025 CN. The 2025
CN are non-interest bearing and mature on 2025 CN Maturity Date at the
principal amount. The 2025 CN are convertible into shares at any time
after the issuance and up to, but excluding, 5 business days prior to the
2025 CN Maturity Date at the conversion price of HK$0.4 each share,
subject to anti-dilutive adjustments.

The initial number of ordinary shares of the Company issuable upon
conversion is 1,862,400,000 shares, which represents 41.5% of the total
number of ordinary shares of the Company issued and outstanding as of
the issue date of the 2025 CN on a fully diluted basis.
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The issue of the 2025 CN was split between a liability component
and an equity component in its initial recognition as follows: (i)
Liability component was initially measured at fair value amounted to
approximately US$44,137,000 which represents the present value of the
contractually determined stream of future cash flows discounted at the
market interest rate applicable to comparable non-convertible bonds. It is
subsequently measured at amortised cost by applying an effective interest
rate of 11.41% per annum; and (ii) Equity component, which was equal
to the difference between the principal and the fair value of the liability
component, amounted to approximately US$51,863,000 was presented
in equity as convertible notes reserve. Pursuant to terms and conditions
of the 2025 CN, the conversion price and the number of conversion
shares to be issued upon the exercise of conversion rights attached to
the outstanding 2025 CN were adjusted to HK$8 and 84,390,000 shares
respectively upon the completion of the share consolidation on 12
November 2019. Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the 2025 CN,
the conversion price of and the number of conversion Shares to be issued
upon exercise of the conversion rights attached to the outstanding 2025
CN were adjusted to HK$8.088 and 83,471,810 Shares respectively with
retrospective effect from 18 February 2020, being the next day following
the record date of the Rights Issue.

The Hong Kong dollar equivalent of the principal amount of 2025 CN
being converted shall be calculated by using the fixed exchange rate of
HK$7.76 per US$1.00.

On 29 June 2021, the Company entered into a subscription agreement
(the “2028 CN Subscription Agreement”) to which the Company has
conditionally agreed to issue the convertible notes in principal amount of
US$65,000,000 (the “2028 CN”) and the said amounts shall be satisfied
by fully setting off against all of the 2025 CN. The 2028 CN shall mature
on the seventh anniversary of the date of issue thereof.
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The conversion price of HK$0.35 per Share represents: (i) a premium
of approximately 22.81% to the closing price of HK$0.285 per Share
as quoted on the Stock Exchange on 29 June 2021, being the date of
the 2028 CN Subscription Agreement; (ii) a premium of approximately
20.69% to the average closing price of HK$0.290 per Share as quoted
on the Stock Exchange for the last five trading days up to and including
the date of the 2028 CN Subscription Agreement; and (iii) a premium
of approximately 19.25% to the average closing price of HK$0.294 per
Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the last ten trading days up
to and including the date of the 2028 CN Subscription Agreement. Based
on the conversion price of HK$0.35 per conversion Share, a maximum
number of 1,444,857,142 conversion Shares will be allotted and issued

upon exercise of the conversion rights attached to the 2028 CN in full.

The transaction shall benefit the Company by greatly enhancing the
probability for the CN holder to convert the liability into share equity, and
it will strengthen the Company’s balance sheet and allow the Company to
engage in strategic and capital markets opportunities to significantly grow
and expand its businesses while revamping as a significant operating

concern.

Chi Capital is a substantial Shareholder, which is in turn wholly-owned
by Mr. WONG Chau Chi, the chief executive of the Group, an executive
Director and the chairman of the Board, and is therefore a connected
person of the Company. Accordingly, the subscription of the 2028 CN
constitutes a connected transaction of the Company under the Listing
Rules.
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The Deed of Amendment was approved by the Shareholders other
than Chi Capital and the connected persons of the Company and their
respective associates at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company
held on 19 August 2021 and the issue of 2028 CN was approved by the
Stock Exchange subsequently.

On 26 November 2021, the Company has received a conversion notice
from Chi Capital for the exercise of the conversion rights attached to the
2028 CN to exercise a total of 108,571,428 partial conversion Shares
at HK$0.35 per conversion Share. The 108,571,428 partial conversion
Shares have been issued to Chi Capital on 30 November 2021.

As at 31 December 2021, the principal amount of the outstanding 2028
CN amounted to US$60,115,681. Assuming that there is no change in
the number of issued Shares since 31 December 2021 and the conversion
rights attached to the outstanding 2028 CN are exercised in full, the
number of issued Shares will be increased by 1,336,285,708, representing
approximately 278.76% of the issued Shares as at 31 December 2021
(i.e. 479,374,860 Shares) and approximately 73.60% of the issued Shares
as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the conversion Shares (i.e.
1,815,660,568 Shares).
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DILUTION EFFECT OF THE CONVERSION OF i v $#a % 25 5 > i i 3 o
CONVERTIBLE NOTES

Set out below is the dilution effect on equity interest of the substantial T 3 # 51 Chi Capital M K 47 {fi 2 2028
Shareholders upon the fully conversion of the outstanding 2028 CN by  nJ # f¢ SE I R S e & > FER K 2

Chi Capital. P PE 1A
O
Upon full conversion of the outstanding
Substantial Shareholders As at 31 December 2021 2028 CN as at 31 December 2021
e . = S
BATAEN 2028
Ep iy R_-B_—%+_H=+—H DRy &3 ¥ ¥ @ ¥
Approximately % Approximately %
Number of Shares of issued Shares Number of Shares of issued Shares
i AT B 1 8 AT Iy
&ty % B ZHEAE S Ji& Oy % H ZHAES
Chi Capital 245,428,696 51.20 1,581,714,404 87.12
Chi Capital
o

The outstanding 2028 CN would not be converted fully as it would result ¥ 47 7£ 4 2028 7] # [ 52 4% A & 75 B
in the number of Shares which are in the hands of the public falling below & > Jj it It & 2 804 A B F 55 19 1’ 0y
25% of the issued Shares. BABRRC ETRMBKN25% -
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The directors adopted a new share option scheme (“Share Option
Scheme”) which was duly passed at the extraordinary general meeting
of the Company held on 18 December 2015. Details of the Share Option
Scheme are set out in the circular of the Company dated 2 December
2015.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group to
grant options to selected participants as incentives or rewards for their
contributions to the Group. All directors, executives, suppliers of goods or
services, customers, persons or entities that provide research, development
or other technological support to the Group, shareholders of any member
of the Group, advisers or consultants of the Group and any other group or
classes of participants who have contributed or may contribute by way of
joint venture, business alliance or other business arrangement and growth

of the Group are eligible to participate in the Share Option Scheme.

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10 years
after the date on which the Share Option Scheme is adopted. The

remaining life of the Share Option Scheme is 3 years.

The total number of shares which may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme adopted by the Group must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue on 18
December 2015 (the “General Scheme Limit”). The Company may renew
the General Scheme Limit with shareholders’ approval provided that each
such renewal may not exceed 10% of the shares in the Company in issue
as at the date of the shareholders’ approval.
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The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme adopted by the Group
must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to
time.

Unless approved by shareholders of the Company, the total number of
shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group
(including both exercised or outstanding options) to each participant in
any 12-months period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of
the Company for the time being.

An option may be accepted by a participant within 21 days from the date
of the offer for grant of the option. A nominal consideration of HK$1
is payable on acceptance of the grant of an option. An option may be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at any
time during a period to be determined and notified by the directors to each
grantee, which period may commence on a day after the date upon which
the grant of options is made but shall not end later than 10 years from the
date of grant of the option, subject to the provisions for early termination
thereof. Unless otherwise determined by the directors and stated in the
offer of the grant of options to a grantee, there is no minimum period
required under the Share Option Scheme for the holding of an option

before it can be exercised.
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The subscription price for the shares under the Share Option Scheme
will be a price determined by the directors, but shall not be less than the
highest of (i) the closing price of shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of the offer of grant, which must be a
business day; (ii) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of the offer of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the

shares.

The total number of Shares available for issue under the Share Option
Scheme is 8,543,727, representing approximately 0.92% of the issued

Shares as at the date of the annual report.

The Group has recognized share-based payments expense in profit or loss
of approximately US$0.4 million related to equity-settled share-based
payment transactions for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Details of the share option movement during the Year under the Share

Option Scheme are as follows:
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Number of share options
BkESA
Closing price Weighted
of the average closing
Shares price of the
immediately Shares before
before the the date(s)
dateon  Outstanding Outstanding of the
which the asat Granted  Exercised Lapsed  Cancelled asat shares
options  1January  duringthe  duringthe  duringthe  duringthe  31December  Validity period Exercise  options were
Name of the grantees  Date of grant were granted 2021 Year Year Year Year 2021 of the share options price  exercised
REM R #t FR B 4 1
LT A BRHRG
HAHkH AR L Ly R LIV i S el Y
L3N % isdib Uil WA g i iy (b WAGE  BRESEEN T i
(HK$) (HKS) (HKS)
(#1) (#7) (i)
Directors
#E
Mr. WONG Chau Chi 20 January 2021 0.245 = 270,000 = = = 270,000 20 January 2021 to 0.275 =
19 January 2024
BHEEL i S e S S
~HZ1H “EIWE-A A
Dr. LIU Hui 20 January 2021 0.245 S 270,000 S = S 270,000 20 January 2021 to 0.275 =
19 January 2024
L “FF e Sl Bt K
—~A=+A “RTPE-AH A
Mr. YANG Yi 20 January 2021 0.245 = 270,000 = = = 270,000 20 January 2021 to 0.275 S
19 January 2024
BREE Y SRR bR
~AZtH “RZNE-AHAA
Mr. CHOU Tsan-Hsiung 20 January 2021 0.245 = 270,000 = = = 270,000 20 January 2021 to 0.275 =
19 January 2024
Pl iV St e S S
~HZ1H “EIWE-A A
Dr. LI Shan 20 January 2021 0.245 S 270,000 S 270,000 S — 20 January 2021 to 0.275 =
19 January 2024
Zlkt e Sat 2 “FTE-AZHHE
—~A=+A “RTPE-AH A
Dr. Ll Jun 20 January 2021 0.245 - 270,000 - - - 270,000 20 January 2021 to 0.275 S
19 January 2024
k2] ae ZRI-F “F-E-fTARE
—-A=+A “RZNE-AHAA
O
\_@\\_‘O
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Number of share options
TR H
Closing price Weighted
of the average closing
Shares price of the
immediately Shares before
before the the date(s)
dateon  Outstanding Outstanding of the
which the asat Granted  Exercised Lapsed  Cancelled asat shares
options  1January  duringthe  duringthe  duringthe  duringthe  31December  Validity period Exercise  options were
Name of the grantees  Date of grant were granted 2021 Year Year Year Year 2021 of the share options price  exercised
R # B 41
L T A I3 HRHRG
#AdkH AN L Ry R LIV Yy Y
RN iadih ] ZWmE WA g i [iy3 gt WALGE  BRESEE friffe i
(HKS) (HKS) (HKS)
(7) (#70) (#7)
Mr. CHOW Kin Wing 20 January 2021 0.245 = 45,000 = = = 45,000 20 January 2021 to 0.275 =
19 January 2024
RERSEE i S “F-E-fTtRE
il “ECWE-RE A
Employees 20 January 2021 0.245 — 1,808,439 508,000 980,439 — 320,000 20 January 2021 to 0275 0490
19 January 2024
[E8 o S ¥ S St o
—AZ1H “EIWE-AE A
28 June 2021 0.295 — 6490000 6,490,000 = — — 28 June 2021 to 27 June 2024 0.300 0.296
Y e ZE-ERACAARE
AAZTAR “ETIERA AR
14 September 2021 0.250 — 6968200 6,584,000 = = 384200 14 September 2021 - 0.300 0,49
13 September 2024
o e “RT-EAATIAE
AAHILE “EZNEAAT=H
Consultants 4 September 2020 0310 5,448,000 — 5,448,000 = = — 4 September 2020 to 0.370 0.250
3 September 2023
L] i < “ECEEAANRE
JLANH ZEZZERAZH
20 January 2021 0.245 — 8337000 8337000 - - = 20 January 2021 to 0.275 0.300
(Note 2) 19 January 2024
i e (Hrit2) “RI-E-AItRE
il “ETWE-AE A
28 June 2021 0.295 — 4320000 4,320,000 = = = 28June 2021 to 0.300 0.285
(Note 2) 27 June 2024
“F- (HiE2) SRI-ERACHARE
AAZTAR “EWERAZALH
14 September 2021 0250 — 2,849,100 2,849,100 — — — 14 September 2021 - 0300 0.490
(Note 2) 13 September 2024
it S (Htik2) “R-EAATRAE
AATEA “ZIRERATER
O
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Notes:

EEHEE

Upon acceptance of the share options, the grantee shall pay HK$1.00 to the
Company as consideration for the grant. The Company has received such
consideration from the respective grantees.

These share options were granted to the consultants of the Company (the
“Consultants”).

To the best knowledge of the Directors, the backgrounds of the Consultants
are as follows:

Consultant A and B

Consultant A and B are independent third parties and have been acting in
a consulting capacity to the Company and have played a significant role in
procuring and facilitating the share placements of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2019 with total gross proceeds from share placements of
approximately US$3,741,000 raised. Consultant A and B were granted with
720,000 Share Options each respectively on 28 June 2021.

Consultant C

Consultant C is an independent third party and has been working on the
coordination with various Chinese-based entities to introduce and promote
our satellite-mobile multimedia services for the year ended 31 December
2019. Consultant C was granted with 720,000 Share Options on 28 June
2021.

Consultant C was also granted with 2,849,100 Share Options on 14
September 2021 for working on the coordination with various Chinese-based
entities to introduce and promote our satellite-mobile multimedia services
for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Consultant D

Consultant D is an independent third party and has played a significant
role in procuring and facilitating the share placements of the Company
that happened on 24 May 2021 with gross proceeds from share placements
of approximately HK$20,343,000 (equivalent to US$2,608,000) raised.
Consultant D was granted with 720,000 Share Options on 28 June 2021.

Consultant E

Consultant E is an independent third party and has played a significant
role in procuring and facilitating the share placements of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2020 with total net proceeds from
share placements of approximately US$9,630,000 raised. Consultant E was
granted with 2,779,000 Share Options on 20 January 2021.
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Consultant E was also granted with 720,000 Share Options on 28 June
2021 for playing a significant role in procuring and facilitating the
share placements of the Company that happened on 24 May 2021 with
gross proceeds from share placements of approximately HK$20,343,000
(equivalent to US$2,608,000) raised.

Consultant F

Consultant F is an independent third party, rendering a wide range of
services encompassing both capital and money market activities for various
transactions for the past two years, including but not limited to project
advisory service; planning for M&A and assisting with their smooth carry
out; etc, such as the potential acquisition of Ultra Intelligent Technology
Co Ltd (for details please refer to announcement of the Company dated 6
January 2021), the letter of interest with Infinite Orbits PTE Ltd (for details
please refer to announcement of the Company dated 21 October 2020) and
the formation of joint venture with a leading business in the Kingdom of
Saudi Arabia (for details please refer to announcement of the Company
dated 28 July 2020). Consultant F was granted with 2,779,000 Share Options
on 20 January 2021.

Consultant G

Consultant G is an independent third party, and was granted with 2,779,000
Share Options on 20 January 2021 for rendering accounting and financial
advisory support to the Group to deal with financial institutions and
regulators for various transactions for the past two years, including but not
limited to response to questions raised during the financial due diligence
process and any other ad hoc proposals, such as the strategic collaboration
with Sinoscreens Media (Beijing) Co., Ltd (for details please refer to
announcement of the Company dated 31 March 2020), the collaboration
on communication broadcast navigation (for details please refer to
announcement of the Company dated 30 October 2019) and the potential
acquisition of Guangdong Guangdianbao New Energy Technology Co.,
Ltd (for details please refer to announcement of the Company dated 6 May
2019).

Consultant G was also granted with 720,000 Share Options on 28 June 2021
for rendering corporate and financial advisory support to the Group to deal
with financial institutions and regulators for various transactions during
year 2021, including but not limited to response to questions raised during
the financial due diligence process and other ad hoc proposals, such as the
cooperation with Shanghai Huace Navigation Technology Limited (for
details please refer to announcement of the Company dated 1 April 2021),
and a potential acquisition (for details please refer to announcement of the
Company dated 6 January 2021).

Directors’ Report
EEEWES

B ERK = F = —FXHA =+ /\H R
720,000 173 i FEHE > DR 25 7F 4 Bh B 2 o AR A
B E R A B B E
THR g T EEAEA - AR S EES
T 15 2 TH 44 %8 49 £ 20,343,000 #E T (A 5 7
2,608,000 3 J0) °

B F

BRI PR = R R WA > AR AR
(e R R e il < N I = i AN TR 7R
By 6 N0 2 IRES > SRR R JE B A6
SRS 5 FTEOF W G 1 B OIE R AT 5 6l
s HLAINE AR R A BR A 7 2 T8 A Y (E
WS MANR HE -2 - — 44— HK
HZZ2845) » Blinfinite Orbits PTE Ltd 7]
MEREGHEWHSHEAAG A =%
THEA A+ —H 2 A% ) RV R B R A
THEZEREER T AFEANA(GEEH2H
AKAFRBEME —F_FRELH T+ ANHZA
&) e BIMFR —_F — 44— 1+ H#ER
2,779,000 1 1 B A -

MG

B GRB B = Wik F_—4F—H
— B 2,779,000 {73 B B HE - 0 Ty R
A F5 AT > 1) AR 58 [ 45 R 52 S B A @ T
TR S s 0 S DA B 4 R D B A R R AT
ZEHE AL AT E A BR A (] B A B o B o) 2 A
T2 rf AR A R R DA B AT ] LAt B 4R 26 > {5
o BEL 5] o 2 R A AR I (b ) A PR |G R
WA R (GENE FE AN B B =& F4F
ZHEZT—HEZAE)  BmEEERZ A
fE(FEEFESHMAANAEY A - —LET
A=+ HZ A% KB FOETE 2 e R
AR R 2 BENE GEE B2 AN TR B
WA —E-HETANAZAE) o

B GO &~ — 4N A+ /AR
720,000 17 W B HE > H ik —F = —F N
lia) A% 4 6] o 45 T 50 5 1 AL 0 ) R B S i ) S
Fr DL B 4 M T AT MR AT 200 > LR R
S B i) R A B 5 T R R v e
FELL S AT AR HoAth 5 W 2 52 > 9] B0 B L 9t 3 3
P BT B A BR S A A R (GRS RS 2
AKAFRHME - Z - —FMWA—HZA%)
KEEW GEB RS BAN A A %
TFE-ANHZAE) o

20214 BEHEH P RS ) 2 R R 4 M A PR 4 ) 81

7

o——

Oo—_)/—'ﬁ



Directors’ Report
EEEWES

Save as disclosed herein, no share options were granted, exercised, lapsed  B& 4% 3C Jir #% #% & 4b > 4% A A% 486 B JIE AR
and cancelled under the Share Option Scheme during the Year. PR AEST F AT etk kg o
The fair values of the share options granted during the Year was measured  4F [AI43 H B B RE 119 28 P18 T AR 95 — TR Q0 B
based on the binomial option pricing model. The measurement date used (B FI& o (HEFE A NFE H B AR
in the valuation calculations were the date on which the share options i EEMHENT H 1 o sZAL=N 0 A B IR -

were granted. The inputs into the model were as follows:

o

20 January R
Grant date of the share options 5 B RE v B 2021 —HZ+H8H
Exercise price 71 i 18 HK$0.275 0.275 %70
Expected price volatility T AR A U 67.833% 67.833%
Expected option period T 19 i R RE 31 3 years 34

Risk-free rate (based on Hong Kong 41 Jal B ) R (L A s A1 B
Exchange Fund Notes) A E) 0.169% 0.169%
Expected dividend yield TH A B 4% R 0% 0%
Fair value ~FE HK$1,072,000 1,072,000 % 7T
28 June R4
Grant date of the share options % T B RE B B O 2021 AHZ+)NH
Exercise price 7 i 18 HK$0.3 0.3 #7T
Expected price volatility T 015 4% U R 66.336% 66.336%
Expected option period T 1A i 3 RE 3 3 years 34

Risk-free rate (based on Hong Kong 4 L B A 2 (5L R Ak A b
Exchange Fund Notes) EEE) 0.238% 0.238%
Expected dividend yield T B 4 R 0% 0%
Fair value ~FE HK$1,057,000 1,057,000 % oG

O
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° 14 September

Grant date of the share options 2 Y W i HE A H O 2021

Exercise price 718 HK$0.3 0.3% 50
Expected price volatility T 8 4% D R 65.501% 65.501%
Expected option period TELHA IR A 3 years 34
Risk-free rate (based on Hong Kong i = B ) %

Exchange Fund Notes) (R TA 7 W A1 B ik 45 22 48 ) 0.144 % 0.144 %
Expected dividend yield TH I B B 4% R 0% 0%
Fair value 2 F-E HK$841,000 841,000 7T
o

The expected volatility was based on the historical volatility of the share  TH I W& J7 2 A A 28 7] J EL 7T & LR 48 =] 1)
price of the Company and its comparable companies. The expected life {8 2 # P MR - 5% 45 X 5% A A9 T8 30 A 5500
used in the model was adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, £ J& j 5 3 g 35 R o] #5358 ~ 47 0 BR %1 S A7 2%
for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioral K2 i & 28 Fe A£G 7T R4 -
considerations.

The option pricing model requires the input of highly subjective [ I A a2 {8 AR =X Z8 i A 8 A8 8 0 45 v 5 =8
assumptions, including the volatility of share price. Changes in the  [fRE% o 3281y A Bk 04 53 8l v 30 7 E 4G
subjective input assumptions could materially affect the fair value  FFEEE KFE -

estimate.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2021 are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial

statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

The Company did not have in aggregate reserves available for distribution
to the shareholders as at 31 December 2021. Under the Companies Law
Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of the Company
amounted to approximately US$47.9 million as at 31 December 2021 is
available for distributions to the Shareholders provided that immediately
following the date on which the distribution or dividend is proposed to be
paid, the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the Year and up to the date of this

report were:

Executive Director

Mr. WONG Chau Chi (Chairman)

Non-executive Directors

Dr. LIU Hui (Vice-Chairman)®™°o®e
Mr. CHOU Tsan-Hsiung

Mr. YANG Yi

Mr. LUI Chun Pong®™ee?

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. LI Shan ®ore?

Dr. LI Jun

Mr. CHOW Kin Wing
Mr. TAM Hon Wah ™%
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Notes:

1. Dr. LIU Hui was re-desingnated from an executive Director to a non-
executive Director with effect from 30 April 2021.

2. Mr. LUI Chun Pong was appointed as a non-executive Director on 28
February 2022.

3. Dr. LI Shan resigned as an independent non-executive Director with effect
from 17 September 2021 due to other business commitments.

4. Mr. TAM Hon Wah was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
on 29 September 2021.

In accordance with Article 108(A) of the Articles, at each annual general
meeting (“AGM”) one third of the directors for the time being shall retire
from office by rotation provided that every director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Accordingly, Dr.
LIU Hui and Mr. CHOU Tsan-Hsiung will retire from the office and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM
of the Company.

According to article 112 of the Articles, any Director appointed by the
Board to fill a causal vacancy shall hold office until the first general
meeting of Shareholders after his appointment and be subject to re-
election at such meeting. Therefore, Mr. TAM Hon Wah and Mr. LUI
Chun Pong will hold office only until the forthcoming AGM and, being

eligible, offer themselves for reelection.

A circular containing an explanatory statement on the Company
repurchasing its shares, the biographical details of the director candidates
and the notice of AGM will be sent to shareholders of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors has a service contract with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS IN

SHARES AND SHARE OPTIONS

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of the directors

and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and

debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)),
as recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to

Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the

Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of the

shares options granted under the Share Option Scheme of the

Company

wHRMEELBOA B A 0O R
JB& HE B £

WN_Z -+ _H=1+—H > AKX A
WERFEITEANB AR AN A
M4 A R W e (038 5 KO ik
B 1) 25 352 M A7 B 00 % 5 i skAR B A e
SFRI g AR N R R W A8 P B AR s W) ek
AT o] FH W65 (0 38 0L FE 5 SO & A B AR
XV H) By~ A BB O s 0 R 5 R
REWT -

() T By B AR U A 2 ) i B HE W 3% 1 Y
Vi Jse e JEL T A R JBE A B S T

(e,

Names of Directors

HREMH

Mr. WONG Chan Chi (“Mr. WONG”)
BB A (THEE])

Dr. LIU Hui
B o 1 1

Mr. CHOU Tsan-Hsiung
e e 5 2

Mr. YANG Yi
[F &its

Dr. LI Jun
E3

Mr. CHOU Kin Wing
Je 2
o

Number of Ordinary Shares

s e

Beneficial
owner

HaWa A

Interests in
a controlled
corporation
Z Yy

1 HE 23

245,428,696
(Note 3)
(Bt &k 3)

Interests
in underlying

Shares

il

i i b HE 2
Approximate
percentage of the
Share options Total  issued Shares
it © 88 47 1
Ji Tt M At Wb
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(Bat1) (it 2)
270,000 245,698,696 51.25%
270,000 270,000 0.06%
270,000 270,000 0.06%
270,000 270,000 0.06%
270,000 270,000 0.06%
45,000 45,000 0.01%
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(i)

Notes:

(1)  These share options represent the awarded underlying Shares granted
to the Directors under the share option scheme of the Company (the
“Share Option Scheme”) which was adopted on 18 December 2015.
Details of the Share Option Scheme have been disclosed in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme”.

(2)  These percentages have been compiled based on the total number of

issued Shares as at 31 December 2021 (i.e. 479,374,860 Shares).

(3)  These Shares are held by Chi Capital Holdings Ltd. (“Chi Capital”),
which is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. WONG.

Long positions in the underlying Shares of the convertible notes  (ii)

of the Company:

Directors’ Report
EEEWES

W RE

(1) ZEMRHESREAARR %X
T U E SR AR R
(i FECAE 1 ) 1) 4% 7 0 2 ) i ] 52 )
JBe sy o A7 I MR S ) 17 T T I
HERH ) | — B B8R -

2) EEAHLIIER T - —E+
A=+ —H e 817 5048 S
479,374,860 B i) w5 AR o

(3)  #Z M43 H Chi Capital Holdings Ltd.
(['Chi Capitall) £ 47 » 1fi Chi Capital
Holdings Ltd. Il H 5 J5 4 2 % 5 4
H o

T AR 2 ] VT 45 P S R I R B e Oy ¥ &
7

o
Principal Number of the Approximate
amount of the total underlying percentage of
Name of the holder of the convertible notes convertible notes Shares  the issued Shares
LY 2% 1t © 847 I
R EESE AN LA A% G # HH TR T 1y 48 8 BEZ A 4 kb
(Note)
(B 3%
Chi Capital (Note 2) US$60,115,681 1,336,285,708 278.76%
Chi Capital (fff5£2) 60,115,681 3 Jt
o
Notes: B 5
1. These percentages have been compiled based on the total number of 1. REASWIER _F —F
issued Shares as at 31 December 2021 (i.e. 479,374,860 Shares). HZEZ+—H8E #4708 B
479,374,860 B0y ) w4 H o
2. These convertible notes were issued by the Company on 3 September 2. AN E R & 4 JUH = H 19 Chi

2021 to Chi Capital to fully set off against the amounts due by the
Company to Chi Capital under the previous convertible notes held
by Chi Capital. These convertible notes are unlisted, interest-free
and convertible into the Shares at the conversion price of HK$0.35
per Share. As Chi Capital is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr.
WONG, Mr. WONG is deemed to be interested in these convertible
notes held by Chi Capital.

Capital FE17 A1 40 I 5298 > AR BUK
B A7\ | M8 Chi Capital 56 /5%
i AT 46 B SRR E A T Chi Capital Z 3K
oo MRS LT - 8
AT 4 B 1 0.35 T 14 45 R AR AR
J§ 13 o A Chi Capital M #5564 2
HE M o BOR e R WO B R Chi
Capital F: 47 19 5% 55 A #6152 9% vh AT
HERE
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All the interests disclosed above represent long positions in the shares and

underlying shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, chief executives of
the Company or their associates had any interests or short positions,
whether beneficial or non-beneficial, in any shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as at 31 December 2021 as required
to be recorded in the register maintained by the Company under Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Except as disclosed above and disclosed in notes 28 and 30 to the
consolidated financial statements, at no time during the Year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable
the directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in,

or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS

Except as disclosed in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements, no
contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party and in which a director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time
during the Year.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2021, the following persons (not being a Director or
chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in the
Shares or underlying Shares which fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO:

(i) Long Positions in the Shares
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T2 B o B A N 0 JB oy B R B i
i i B 2 e %

WoE T H=1T—H BLTFA
TR EFHALNAEHTEANE) R
Ji& 13 BAH BR B 6y o B A R B R R K
B Ao 91 5 XV A8 2 B 3 4y F I A S 1) AR
oy v B E BZH BOON AR A R AR BE B 2R )
BRI 55 336 o A7 B 098wl A RE i s0R
=g

(i) RBGTE

O

Approximate
Number of percentage of
Name of shareholder Capacity/Nature of interests Shares held issued Shares
1t B B AT I
Ji& 5 44 W 5y, BE % B Jit 5 iz oy B H W& | 4 bk
(Note 1)
(KF&E1)
Chi Capital (Note 2) Beneficial owner 245,428,696 51.20%
Chi Capital (Fff3E2) HamEa A
O
Notes: it 51

(1)  These percentages have been compiled based on the total number of

issued Shares as at 31 December 2021 (i.e. 479,374,860 Shares).

(2)  Chi Capital is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands,
and is solely and beneficially owned by Mr. WONG.

(1) ZEENSHTIR F 4+
A=+ — B 0B 517 B0 48 Surp
479,374,860 B R0 ) 5T AR o

(2)  Chi Capital 2 Ji & J& j& 20 B 5 51 it 5
LA E  HEEAE B GRS -

20214 BEHEH P RS ) 2 R R 4 M A PR 4 ) 89




Directors’ Report
FEREE

e

-

(i)

Long positions in the underlying Shares of the convertible notes

of the Company:

(e,

(i) R AR 2 WA 5 e 5 0 T R IR A 4 B
g

Name of the holder of
the convertible notes

LR 3 2 3 S N 2

Chi Capital (Note 2)
Chi Capital (FffE2)

(e,

Principal amount of
the convertible notes

T SRR K 42

US$60,115,681
60,115,681 % ¢

Approximate
Number of the total
underlying Shares

percentage of the
issued Shares

% & AT Iy

HH B By 48 8 R ONE A
(Note 1)

(Bt 3E 1)

1,336,285,708 278.76%

Notes:

These percentages have been compiled based on the total number
of issued Shares as at 31 December 2021 (i.e. 479,374,860
Shares).

These convertible notes were issued by the Company on 3 September
2021 to Chi Capital to fully set off against the amounts due by the
Company to Chi Capital under the previous convertible notes held
by Chi Capital. These convertible notes are unlisted, interest-free
and convertible into the Shares at the conversion price of HK$0.35
per Share. As Chi Capital is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr.
WONG, Mr. WONG is deemed to be interested in these convertible
notes held by Chi Capital.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, no person, other than

the Directors and chief executive of the Company, whose interests are

set out in the section “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and

Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” above, had

registered an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares

that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed herein, during the Year, there was not any connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction which required
the compliance with the reporting, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules. Details
of material related party transactions undertaken in the usual course
of business of the Group are set out in note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements. However, these transactions were either exempt
from reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules, or did not fall
under the definition of connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined in the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Except as disclosed, during the Year, none of the Directors had any
interests in a competing business to the Group which was required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group’s emolument policy is designed to attract, retain and motivate
talented individuals to contribute to the success of its business. The
emolument policy of the employees of the Group is formulated and
reviewed by management on the basis of their merit, qualifications and

competence.

The emoluments of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group are decided by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the
Group’s operating results, individual performance and comparable market

statistics.

The Company currently has a Share Option Scheme as an incentive to
directors, executives and any other eligible persons, details of which are
set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those Hong Kong employees
who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme, which contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and
the employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operates in Mainland
China are required to participate in a central pension scheme (the
“Central Pension Scheme”, together with the MPF Scheme, the “Defined
Contribution Schemes”) operated by the local municipal government,
which these subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage,
which was pre-determined by the local municipal government, of the
sum of basic salary and allowance of employees to the Central Pension
Scheme. The contributions by the Group for the Defined Contribution
Schemes are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the relevant rules of the respective schemes.

The Group’s contributions to the Defined Contribution Schemes vest fully
and immediately with the employees. Accordingly, (i) for each of the
two years ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2021, there was no
forfeiture of contributions under the Defined Contribution Schemes; and
(i1) there were no forfeited contributions available for the Group to reduce
its existing level of contributions to the Defined Contribution Schemes as
at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2021.

For each of the two years ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December
2021, the Group did not have any defined benefit plan.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Directors shall be indemnified against all losses and liabilities
which they may incur in connection with their duties. The Company
has arranged the appropriate Directors and officers liability insurance

coverage for the directors and officers of the Group.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any holders of securities of the Company
who are entitled to any tax relief or exemption by reason of their holding
of such securities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the best knowledge of the directors, as at the date of this annual
report, the Directors consider that the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules, throughout the
year ended 31 December 2021.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange.
The Company considers all of the independent non-executive Directors
are independent.
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MANDATORY UNCONDITIONAL CASH OFFER

On 26 November 2021, the Company has received a conversion notice
from Chi Capital for the exercise of the conversion rights attached to
the 2028 CN to exercise a total of 108,571,428 Shares (the “Partial
Conversion Shares”) at HK$0.35 per Share. The 108,571,428 Partial
Conversion Shares have been issued to Chi Capital on 30 November 2021
(the “Partial Conversion”).

Immediately after the allotment and issue of the Partial Conversion
Shares, the number of issued shares of the Company has been increased
to 479,374,860 Shares and the Partial Conversion Shares represent
approximately 29.28% of the total issued shares of the Company
immediately before the allotment and issue of the Partial Conversion
Shares and approximately 22.65% of the total issued shares of the
Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the Partial Conversion
Shares.

Furthermore, on 1 December 2021 the Company was also informed
by Chi Capital before trading hours of the Stock Exchange that Chi
Capital has purchased (the “Purchases”) on the market an aggregate of
103,428,000 Shares (the “Sale Share(s)”), representing approximately
21.58% of the total issued shares of the Company as at the date of the
Purchases, through block trade transactions on the Stock Exchange during
the pre-market opening session on 1 December 2021 at HK$0.40 per Sale

Share and completion took place simultaneously.

The vendors of the Sale Shares and their ultimate beneficial owners are
independent third parties who are not connected persons of Chi Capital
and its connected persons or party(ies) acting in concert with Chi Capital
(“Chi Capital’s Concert Parties”) as determined in accordance with the
Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-backs (the “Takeovers
Code™).
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Immediately prior to the Partial Conversion and the completion of the
Purchases (the “Completion”), Chi Capital and Chi Capital’s Concert
Parties owned (i) an aggregate of 33,429,268 Shares, representing
approximately 9.02% of the total issued shares of the Company
immediately before the allotment and issue of the Partial Conversion
Shares; (ii) 270,000 share options granted and outstanding under the
Share Option Scheme; and (iii) the 2028 CN in the aggregate principal
amount of US$65,000,000. Immediately after the Partial Conversion and
the Completion, Chi Capital and Chi Capital’s Concert Parties are in
aggregate interested in (i) 245,428,696 Shares, representing approximately
51.20% of the total issued shares of the Company as at the date of the
Completion; (ii) 270,000 share options granted and outstanding under the
Share Option Scheme; and (iii) the 2028 CN in the outstanding amount of
US$60.1 million. In accordance with Rule 26.1 of the Takeovers Code,
Chi Capital made a mandatory unconditional cash offer for all the issued
Shares other than those Shares already owned by Chi Capital and Chi
Capital’s Concert Parties (the “Offer Shares”) in accordance with the terms
as set out in the composite offer document and the response document
jointly despatched by the Company and Chi Capital on 14 January 2022
(the “Composite Document”) in accordance with the Takeovers Code (the
“Share Offer”). Chi Capital also made a cash offer to the holders of the
share options granted and outstanding under the Share Option Scheme in
compliance with Rule 13 of the Takeovers Code to cancel all the share
options granted and outstanding under the Share Option Scheme (the
“Offer Options™) (the “Option Offer”).

As of the close of the Share Offer and the Option Offer (collectively,
the “Offers”) on 4 February 2022, Chi Capital received: (i) 8 valid
acceptances in respect of a total of 152,469 Offer Shares under the Share
Offer, representing approximately 0.032% of the entire issued Shares
as at the close of the Offers; and (ii) 3 valid acceptances in respect of
a total of 585,000 Offer Options under the Option Offer, representing
approximately 31.98% of all the Offer Options as at the date of the
Composite Document. Accordingly, Chi Capital and Chi Capital’s Concert
Parties held a total of 245,581,165 shares, representing approximately
51.15% of the issued Shares immediately after completion of the Offers.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 7 December
2021, 9 December 2021, 28 December 2021, 14 January 2022 and 4
February 2022 and the Composite Document for details of the Offers.
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AUDITOR

Confucius will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of Confucius as auditor
of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

=
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On behalf of the Board

WONG Chau Chi
Chairman
Hong Kong, 28 March 2022

CMMB VISION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021

o

7_.:00

O

e B i

K i B AT I AT A & M FLRE A o
ANFAR T EBRREERG ERE S
WK A oy A R AL R 2 PR o

NEREHG

B3

# P

FEH > F - HFE=A_-+/)N\H



Independent Auditor’s Report

SAN-C/VA

Confucius International

B BRI S =

RRBEBR TGN FHAAARSS

CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

TO THE MEMBERS OF CMMB VISION HOLDINGS LIMITED
Borb S Bh 2 05 55 B 40 1 PR A PR 24 B R

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(W B2 7E & Gt Ml o7 2 R 28 AT )

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CMMB Vision
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 103 to 228, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant

accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B Z AR EE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Valuation of the intangible assets

As set out in Note 18 and Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group owned intangible assets held by subsidiaries of approximately
US$47,679,000 and an associate of approximately US$361,000,000 as at
31 December 2021. The intangible asset represents the spectrum usage
rights held by the Group’s subsidiaries in the United States of America
and the satellite intangible assets, including right to occupy the orbit slot
and broadcast spectrum held by an associate. There is an impairment loss
of US$5,106,000 for the spectrum usage rights and the satellite intangible
assets of US$39,954,000 after taking into account the share of results of
an associate which are recognised in the consolidated profit or loss and
other comprehensive income in current year.

We have identified an impairment review of intangible asset as a key
audit matter due to the significant judgements and assumptions about the
future performance of the spectrum usage involved in the management’s
impairment review process.

Management is required to carry out an impairment test at least
annually. Independent external valuations were obtained in order to
support management’s estimates. An income approach was adopted
in the valuation conducted by the independent professional valuer, in
which value in use is calculated with cash flow projections based on the
financial budgets approved by the management, which is judgemental and

based on a number of assumptions.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Our procedures in relation to management’s valuation of the intangible
asset included:

— evaluating the independent external valuer’s competence,
capabilities and objectivity;

assessing the methodologies used and the appropriateness of the key

assumptions based on our knowledge of the industry; and

checking on a sample basis, the accuracy and relevance of the input
data used in the valuation.

We found the assumptions adopted in relation to these impairment

assessments to be supportable and reasonable based on available evidence.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our

auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to

report in this regard.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B Z AR EE

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED
WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the

S . .
Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
AV R TR

TE AR 45 K W 35 A VB ) ) AT 3 R 0 AR
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We ' » & A" 1F 1 2 25 1) i 3F % £F F £ 09 %
also: BEREJE o FAM IR -

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional

omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on

the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B Z AR EE

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

C Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest

benefits of such communication.

Confucius International CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Chan Lap Chi

Practising Certificate Number: P04084
Hong Kong, 28 March 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

A
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Ko B 22 T W e 2%

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-F -+ A=+ —HILEE

o
2021 2020
R TR TRAR
US$°000 US$’000
TE7G T%IT
Revenue A 8 5,723 3,876
Cost of sales 5 & A (4,215) (3,274)
Gross profit E F 1,508 602
Other income oAt die A 9 42 352
Gain on redemption of convertible notes [ [2] 1] # Ji& 52 9§ 2 Uk 3% 12 19,905 —
Administrative expenses 1T BB X (1,796) (1,317)
Market development and promotion i 5 BA % Bt B BA X
expenses (1,109) (1,662)
Finance costs U3 10 (5,134) (5,625)
Other expenses HoAth BA 32 (158) (193)
Share of results of an associate JE A T 8% > ) Y 3 AR 20 (44,280) (99,450)
Impairment loss recognised on intangible — #&JE & & €. ffE 58 Ik (i &5 18
assets 18 (5,106) (24,275)
Loss on replacement of intangible asset B EE 2 KR 18 (1,843) —
Impairment loss recognised on SRR EREEE
assets classified as held for sale B FR 2 Wk s 18 24 — (574)
Fair value loss on financial asset at fair A TEFIAELE Z
value through profit or loss I A Y T {H e 8 21 — (1,050)
Loss before tax % B A s 15 (37,971) (133,192)
Income tax expense T 15 B BH 32 11 — =
Loss for the year AN 1R 12 (37,971) (133,192)
Other comprehensive income (expense) i 4 1 Wt A (B %)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently 7] B8 K E#H 0 M EH &
to profit or loss: ZHHA :
— Exchange differences arising on — ¥ BB AN FE TS I E AR
translation of foreign operations 2 T 58 2 #H 778 (86)
— Share of exchange differences of — JE AL BB A R Y
an associate i 58, 7% 1 20 19 14
Other comprehensive income (expense), £ Ath & H YL A (5 52)
net of tax ¥ B B IH 797 (72)
Total comprehensive expense AR A B X AR
for the year (37,174) (133,264)
Loss for the year attributable to: DL & JE AN AR R i 4R
— Owners of the Company S N/NEIE SN (35,437) (127,700)
— Non-controlling interests — IF #E AR 55 (2,534) (5,492)
(37,971) (133,192)
O
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

= A 18 25 PaN H =5 2%
reEEmMMEMEE RS
For the year ended 31 December 2021
BEZ - —F+H=1+—HILEE

o
2021 2020
] ==
NOTES US$’000 US$’000
Bt T%51 T 5T
Total comprehensive expense VLR % JERE AL AR N 2l
for the year attributable to: b X #4 :
— Owners of the Company VNI P SN (34,640) (127,772)
— Non-controlling interests — IF ¥ M RE 55 (2,534) (5,492)
37,174) (133,264)
US cents US cents
% il F Al
Loss per share 5 It i 18 16
Basic HA (10.38) (52.75)
Diluted i 7 (12.88) (52.75)
o
=
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

aP BRI R
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At 31 December 2021

R-F—_—F+—"HA=+—H

o
2021 2020
:g:—‘ﬁi —_— % — E'E
NOTES US$’000 US$’000
B 53 TE7G T%IT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS I B & A
Property, plant and equipment L EN SN & ] 17 83 213
Intangible assets e & 18 47,679 54,715
Interests in an associate A T N\ RE 4 20 80,604 124,865
Rights-of-use assets filf FHWE & 19 34 297
Financial asset at fair value through profit 4% 23 F-{H 7 A 8 i (1)
or loss GRE E 21 = =
128,400 180,090
CURRENT ASSETS B E
Trade and other receivables & S T o HE i E E 22 1,592 970
Amount due from a related company JRE Wit B 2 A ] K IE 26 3,863 2,212
Amount due from an associate JRE WL B 2 A ] R IE 26 979 890
Bank balances and cash BRAT &5 B KB A 23 1,042 447
7,476 4,519
Assets classified as held for sale DB ERENEE 24 - 1,000
7,476 5,519
CURRENT LIABILITIES bl = R
Trade and other payables B 5y Ko H A RE AT 3K IE 25 5,988 5,998
Amounts due to shareholders JRE A B B 3K B 27 246 1,932
Lease liabilities HE A H 19 26 309
Tax payable JRE A5t o JEL 338 339
6,598 8,578
NET CURRENT ASSETS WO E (A6 T
(LIABILITIES) 878 (3,059)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT B R AR A R B A
LIABILITIES 129,278 177,031
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES Ik B H AR
Convertible notes GRS &% 28 35,593 53,373
Lease liabilities & A E 19 7 33
35,600 53,406
NET ASSETS & B A 93,678 123,625
O
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

ire MR

At 31 December 2021
MR- ZH=+—H

o
2021 2020
:g:_“fﬁ — % . 45'3
NOTES US$’000 US$’000
fi T*u T35t
CAPITAL AND RESERVES B A K ik
Share capital i A 29 12,295 7,117
Share premium and reserves Ji& 1 ¥ B T £k 66,395 98,986
Equity attributable to owners of the A\ HEA N AL RE 45
Company 78,690 106,103
Non-controlling interests I ¥ B HE £ 14,988 17,522
TOTAL EQUITY 4 RE 25 93,678 123,625
o

The consolidated financial statements on pages 103 to 228 were approved 55 103 £ 228 HIW& A M B M E L H & H
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2022 and & ji* =% = —4F = 4 = |+ /\ H it #E R 3%

are signed on its behalf by: REFIEE > df b DL AN EUREE -
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EFH B
=-
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
T EBBR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
WECZ A= —HILEE

HJI:

B m

© Attributable to owners of the Company
LYTE SN A
Share Convertible Non-
Share Share  Merger Distributable option  Capital notes  Exchange Accumulated controlling
capital ~ premium  reserve TeSeIVe  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve losses ~ Sub-total ~interests Total
L1 THIER
BA - ROER  AOEE  THRRE B WARE  BHE  BERRE  RHER it kRS it
US$'000  USS'000  USS'000  USS'000  USS'000  USS'000  USS'000  USS'000  USS'000  USS'000  USS'000  USS'000
L I TR TR TR T TE T TR TR TR T
(note 1) (note 2) (note 3)
(U () (HfiE3)

At 1 January 2020 RCRE-R-H 4853 39758 31987 129757 193 2,110 47,001 6) (28,1000 227,553 B4 250567
Loss for the year Fhgh - - - = = = = - (700 (1277000 (5492  (133,192)
Share of exchange difference of ek

an associate FEE??%E - - - - - - - 14 - 14 = 14
Exchange differences arising on BRSERR

translation of foreign operations EEMERER - - - - - - - (86) - (86) - (86)
Total comprehensive expense for the year HR AR - - - - - - g ) (00 (2077 (5490 (133264)
Issue of shares by placement UEBRHAEHRE 1,157 1,736 - - - - - - - 2893 - 1893
Isste of shares by rights issue MR F R TR 968 203 = = = = g E E 3001 = 3,001
Exercise of share options frlf e 139 0 = = (85) = = = = 21 = 51
Cancellation of share options e = = S S (193) S - - 193 - - -
Recognition of equity settled AURESHIRA

share-based payments expense R TR = = = = 17 = = = = 17 - 17
At31 December 2020 and

1 January 2021

e S 3 i 1117 #4730 31987 129757 86 2110 47,001 (18)  (155607) 106,103 1752 123605

Loss for the year FhER - - - - - - - N €0 N 'y R U T R K 1]
Exchange differences arising on BEERR

translation of foreign operations EFHE )LE? = = = = = = = 778 = 718 - 8
Share of exchange difference of ek

an associate FEE?EE 19 19 19
Total comprehensive expense for the year FRETHTSH - - - - - - - 97 (35437) (34,640 (253) (31174
Issue of shares by placement WRBGA% RS 1,500 1,125 = = = = = = = 265 = 2625
Exercise of share options freE 887 893 = = (43) = g = g 1347 = 1347
Cancellation of share options el i - - - - (10) - - - 10 - - -
Recogition of equity component of [EBE bl

convertible debts w7 - - - - - -0 - (04w = = =
Conversion of convertible notes BlTRRES 2791 2,148 - - - - (2,066) - - 2873 - 2873
Redemption of convertible notes [E(EpE e - = = 5 5 - (4000 = 47,001 = = S
Recogition of equity settled RS LR A

share-based payments expense LR Ch - - - - 382 - - - - 382 - 382
At31 December 2021 BoE--F

tZAE-A 12,095 41.8% 31987 129757 % 2,110 2543 9 (17153) 7869 14,988 93,678

O
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

(&

Note:

ZERC—EF A= —HIEEE

The merger reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of
the share capital issued by the Company and the nominal value of the share
capital of Global Technology International Limited acquired pursuant to a
group reorganisation on 5 July 2005.

On 29 April 2009, the authorised and issued share capital of the Company
was reduced through a reduction in the nominal value of each share from
HK$0.10 to HK$0.01. The capital reduction amount was transferred to
distributable reserve.

On 10 September 2012, every ten issued and unissued shares were
consolidated into one consolidated share from HK$0.01 to HK$0.10.

On 21 June 2016, every ten issued and unissued shares were consolidated
into one consolidated share from HK$0.10 to HK$1.

On 8 September 2016, the authorised and issued share capital of the
Company was reduced through a reduction in the nominal value of each
share from HK$1 to HK$0.01. The credit balance of the capital reduction
amount after reducing the accumulated losses of the Company was
transferred to distributable reserve.

On 12 November 2019, every twenty issued and unissued shares were
consolidated into one consolidated share from HK$0.01 to HK$0.2 each.

Capital reserve represents (i) the capital contribution from a shareholder of
the Company through the shares granted by a shareholder to the employees
of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2006 and 2008, (ii)
deemed capital contribution from a shareholder regarding the non-interest
bearing advances.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
WECZ A= —HILEE

o
2021 2020
[ e B a2
US$°000 US$’000
T%51 TE5T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REWH
Loss for the year N (37,971) (133,192)
Adjustments for: DL £ TE R
Income tax expense Jr 45 Bt B 52 11 = -
Finance costs B AR 10 5,134 5,625
Depreciation of property, plant and LE NS R
equipment 17 129 156
Depreciation of right-of-use assets filr AR G A T 19 263 261
Share-based payment expenses DA I 53 2 325 A 1) A5 3k B 52 30 382 171
Share of results of an associate JE AL B N W 2 2E AR 20 44,280 99,450
Impairment loss recognised on % & P O HE R W (E s 1R
intangible assets 18 5,106 24,275
Gain on redemption of convertible I [m] AT 46 I SR R 2 0k AR
notes (19,905) -
Rental concession T % W e 19 39) (184)
Impairment loss recognised on assets as FEFEEECHERZ
held for sale i {8 i 1R 24 - 574
Loss on replacement of intangible assets & #f #E & & & 2~ Jf5 18 18 1,843 =
Fair value loss on financial asset at fair NP EFFABZZ
value through profit and loss & RlE 1A E T 21 - 1,050
Operating cash flows before movements in 7 5| % 3 & 4 5 B Ay (19 58
working capital 4 i 2 (778) (1,814)
(Increase) decrease in trade and & Gy T HAth JE i 3k H 2
other receivables (38 9m) B > (622) 382
(Decrease) increase in trade and other & 5y I H A RE AT 3k IH
payables (3 ) B (10) 2,125
(Advances to) repayments from an W o W (AR AR K
associate (89) 57
Repayments to shareholders #i JBE R (1,686) (11,060)
Cash flows used in operations S EB IR B AN R (3,185) (10,310)
Interest paid on lease liabilities m% AECATHE 19 (8) (23)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING REms B EEH
ACTIVITIES (3,193) (10,333)
O
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE_F_—HF+H=T—HIL4EE

NOTES 2021 2020
Rt 5 R4 R
US$°000 US$’000
RN T%5t
INVESTING ACTIVITY BEGED
Proceeds from disposal of assets held HERFEHEREENGLZ
for sale AIH 1,000 =
NET CASH GENERATED FROM BREWEH AR ESFHE
INVESTING ACTIVITY 1,000 -
FINANCING ACTIVITIES il B
Interest paid B A A& 1) )
(Repayments to) advances from a (1B ) B ] B
related company (1,564) 4,450
Net proceeds from rights issue, net of HE i iy 15 BT
expenses €l [%‘? Eﬁ 35 - 3,001
Net proceeds from issue of shares BEAT B A 1Y B AR BCTE I A 2,625 2,893
Proceeds from exercise of share options A7 ol 1% I T 45 3K IE 1,347 257
Principal element of lease payments LN R O N o 19 (269) (74)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM il N By P A B A
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 2,138 10,525
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN RERFRBEHEA (WD)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 36 A (55) 192
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT #E#IMBE & RS FHB&EH
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 447 342
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE [ 3 8 B i) 5% %
RATE CHANGES 650 (87)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT ## WM& R EFHB&HEH
END OF THE YEAR
Represented by bank balances and cash 15 SRAT 45 B KB & 1,042 447

[e;

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

a)  During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group completed a
channel replacement in which the Group acquired spectrum usage
rights of a TV station at Richmond with value of approximately
US$3,122,000 by replacing its spectrum usage rights of TV station
at Houston. (Note 18)

b)  On 3 September 2021, the Company issued US dollar denominated
convertible notes with a principal amount of US$65,000,000 (2028
Convertible Notes”) to redeem all of the 2025 Convertible Notes.
(Note 28)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
address of the registered office and principal place of business of
the Company are disclosed in the Corporate Information section to
the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The Group
is principally engaged in the development and promotion of
CMMB-based multimedia and interactive services via proprietary
terrestrial infrastructure. The Group is operating a terrestrial UHF
wireless television (“TV”) network providing digital media and
entertainment services to New York and other key markets in
preparation to deploying a similar multimedia service platform in
the United States of America (“US”).

Converged Mobile Multimedia Broadcasting (“CMMB”) is a
digital mobile multimedia technology developed by and currently
commercially deployed in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”) under the National Radio and Television Administration
(“NRTA”). It can deliver digital mobile TV and multimedia
contents via both terrestrial and satellite networks directly to mobile
and wireless devices such as smartphones, tablets, pocket TV,
laptops, automobile digital receivers and personal media players
that are equipped with a CMMB-enabled chipset. Its broadcast
oriented delivery capability can render data contents to be received
any time anywhere with enormous scale and cost efficiency and
encounter no traffic interruption or bandwidth squeeze typical of
today’s unicast-based cellular network. The signals can be received
over 350 kilometer/hour without distortion.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
WECZ A= —HILEE
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TE 3 % — {8 i UHF 2 48 %6 (17
W) A AR - By AR Al 3 AT 8
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A R E E O OB E R
(TCMMB) Z2H B RXFEHEEHRE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
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GENERAL (Continued)

The Group is also engaged in trading business which relates to
the procurement and distribution of printed circuit board (“PCB”)

materials.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in United States
dollars (“US$”), which is also the functional currency of the Group.

BASIS OF PREPARATION FOR CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
a going concern basis. In preparing the consolidated financial
statements, the directors of the Company (“Directors”) have given
careful consideration to the future liquidity of the Group in light of
the fact that the Group incurred a net loss attributable to owners of
the Company of approximately US$35.4 million for the year ended
31 December 2021 and the Group’s net current assets of US$0.9
million as at 31 December 2021. In the opinion of the Directors,
the Group is able to continue as a going concern in the coming
year taking into consideration the measures which include, but not
limited to, the followings:

a)  Chi Capital Holdings Ltd (“Chi Capital”), being a company
wholly-owned by Mr. Wong Chau Chi,
substantial shareholder of the Company, has agreed to

director and a

continuously provide financial support to enable the Group to
meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due in the

foreseeable future.

b) In addition, the Group is in negotiation with potential
investors to make fund-raising arrangement.

c¢)  The Directors will continue to implement measures aiming at
improving the working capital and cash flows of the Group
including closely monitoring general administrative expenses
and operating costs.

Based on the foregoing, the Directors are satisfied that the Group
will have sufficient financial resources to meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due in the foreseeable future.
Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

(a)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first
time which are mandatorily effective for the annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2021 for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 9, HKFRS 16
and HKAS 39
(Amendments)

Interest rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2

The application of amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions
and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

AR MR R MY oL

W\

For the year ended 31 December 2021
WECZ A= —HILEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NN R ey

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE_F_—HF+H=T—HIL4EE

nt

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSSs”) (Continued)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and

amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective.

JE FH 8 w1 R 4

SSCHECR YRR

o e S (T 7 o B 5 i o e 3 1)

(#)

(b)

A8 i 1L 0 AR A 3 2 T T B R 1
a7 o B 5 e ot e B

A48 I 4R LR N A B
i A5 1 oK A2 22 W T K RSB T
A s BB R YRR .

HKFRS (Amendments) Annual improvements to FhMBEREEN —F-N\EZR
HKFRSs 2018-2020 cycle! (&3T) ZEFZREY
EREHE
HKFRS 3 (Amendments)  Reference to Conceptual Bl MERGERN 5 A AER!
Framework' EREAY S
HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets FHEMBERGEN REELABESDER
HKAS 28 (Amendments)  between an Investor and 105 L FE REGCEZHMER
Associate or Joint Venture® GEEAE 28 HERMAS
(7T)
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and FRMBERGEN RERe4HRMEEET?
related Amendments? EAVE
HKAS 1 (Amendments) Classification of Liabilities as FhasEn BAEMEARD
Current or Non-current and %19 (BT FRBREERR
Related Amendments to % S MB BT
Hong Kong ZEZRE)?
Interpretation 5 (2020)?
HKAS 1 (Amendments) Disclosure of ik e stEn G PR 2 W e
and HKFRS Practice Accounting Policies® %19 (BT
Statement 2 T 7 it BB
BT R
Ho4
HKAS 8 (Amendments) Definition of Accounting il gt LEECREE
Estimates? F8 9 (BT
HKAS 12 (Amendments)  Deferred Tax related to Assets Fh e HY - HMELZ
and Liabilities arising from #1295 (BT EEREAEMBZ
a Single Transaction’ 1 7L 5198 2
HKAS 16 (Amendments)  Property, Plant and Equipment: Hik ezt ERE YR
Process before Intended Use' F16% (BT T“?ﬁﬂ%?’fﬁﬁz
/EI i/-v IE 1
HKAS 37 (Amendments)  Onerous Contracts — Cost Fh e ﬁf%:é‘%’] -Bf—h
of Fulfilling a Contract #3759 (B350 AR HA
Accounting Guideline 5 Merger Accounting for Common BatIIESE  HRAEHS NN
(Revised) Control Combinations* (E3T) eatEN
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective (Continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2022.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023.

3 Effective date to be determined.

Effective for common control combinations that occur on or
after beginning of the first annual report period on or after 1
January 2022

The Directors of the Company anticipated that the application
of these new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in
the foreseeable future.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

ZERC—EF A= —HIEEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, except for certain financial instruments that
are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as

explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate economics
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it
to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest
and best use. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into

account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
WECZ A= —HILEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. FEEGFIBOR ()

Basis of preparation (Continued) MRS ()

Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these R EEAMERE PR E &K

consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, WENAFHEBEMNFER T LB

except for share-based payment transactions that are within the FE o ME T OH B A AR RIS 2 9

scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope BN R A3 B A uE RS

of HKFRS 16, and measurements that have some similarities to fair MRS 16 9% &0 B A Mg S K&

value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 L /N A (= IR () (2 A /N o (= O B ol

or value in use in HKAS 36. (7 s e 51 J 55 2 9% by o] A2 B

T XA s g AT e RIS 36 98 R i il
B ) B AL o

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value AP 7 e [T/ o |- Wi

measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the R /N KR il R N L

degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are R KA FEREW ﬁ‘)\ %Z}J%JLJL

observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value HEB@EmE SRS ASE - 5

measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows: TR =4 FETEWON

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active e HoMWMABEBELEENSE
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can HI T EREMMHEEERA
access at the measurement date; &0 B TH B 2 o (R R

®)

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included e oMW ABBELAMEE XA
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, & H ?ﬁ ERLEACIE -3 N
either directly or indirectly; and B — SRy R E R

Ak )

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or . B AME A EE N AME

liability. FAVNEIR ¥ TN €
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

O is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the date when

the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the

Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the
previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary
(i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category
of equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair
value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the
date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKAS 39, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

ZERC—EF A= —HIEEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not

control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated
in these consolidated financial statements using the equity method
of accounting, except when the investment, or a portion thereof,
is classified as held for sale, in which case it is or the portion so
classified is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. Any
retained portion of interests in an associate that has not been
classified as held for sale shall be accounted for using the equity
method. The financial statements of associates used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies
as those of the Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances. Under the equity method, interests in an associate
is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds
the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any long-term
interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net interests
in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or

made payments on behalf of the associate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

Interests in an associate is accounted for using the equity method
from the date on which the investee becomes an associate. On
acquisition of interests in an associate, any excess of the cost of
the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as
goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the

period in which the investment is acquired.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether
it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to
the Group’s interests in an associate. When necessary, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested
for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets
as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of
value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss
is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

ZERC—EF A= —HIEEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in the
investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss. When the Group retains an interest in the former associate and
the retained interest is a financial asset within the scope of HKAS
39, the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date
and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition.
The difference between the carrying amount of the associate and the
fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing
the relevant interest in the associate is included in the determination
of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate. In addition, the
Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate on the same
basis as would be required if that associate had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if again or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate would
be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets
or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity
to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when the equity

method is discontinued.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the associate
are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only
to the extent of interests in the associate that are not related to the
Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
WECZ A= —HILEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. FEGHBUR (4F)
Revenue recognition B T 72
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received e A Bl BB Ui AR AE 2 N F (H R
or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods and » AE N H O % R AR b T iR 0t
services provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts B R 2 BB i 0 I 8 A
and sales related taxes. R B0 T 19 R i R K o
To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group follows a DI E S MERR IR A > AR 4R AR BB
5-step model in accordance with HKFRS 15: T s RS R A TSR 15 5 A
S -
1. Identifying the contract with a customer 1. BB EF S %
2. Identifying the performance obligations 2. WK B AT I I AE
3. Determining the transaction price 3. FEEKGE
4. Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations 4. RIBATHEAL A G BEAE
5. Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are 5. CENHE B8R AT AT RE FE R UL
satisfied A

In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract is allocated EMAEBNT > &R 8325 EEE
amongst the various performance obligations based on their relative 48 AH B8 7 0 B S o T E &
stand-alone selling prices. The transaction price for a contract HBA R - AR XY EBEASEIE
excludes any amounts collected on behalf of third parties. A = Jr W By A ] 3k IH
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

ZERC—EF A= —HIEEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time, when (or
as) the Group satisfies performance obligations by transferring the

promised goods or services to its customers.

Where the contract contains a financing component which provides
a significant financing benefit to the customer for more than 12
months, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction with the customer, and
interest income is accrued separately under the effective interest
method. Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the Group, revenue
recognised under that contract includes the interest expense accreted

on the contract liability under the effective interest method.

Contract liabilities represent the Group’s obligation to transfer
services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer. If the considerations (including advances received
from customers) exceeds the revenue recognised to date under the
output method then the Group recognises a contract liability for the

difference.

Further details of the Group’s revenue recognition policies are as
follows:

Trading income is recognised when the related procurement and

distribution of goods are completed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
WECZ A= —HILEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. FEGGEIHEOR ()
Revenue recognition (Continued) WA TR (4 )
Income from transmission and broadcasting of television programs g M EBEMREGH NI ATED R
represents the air time and transmission services provided and the it % b IR B % W IR B M B B R
channels broadcasting in real time on the TV stations 24 hours a BH24/NRETEHAEERFELEDN
day, seven days a week. Service income will be recognised on a HHAE o IRB LA MR E R BN AL
straight-line basis over the contract period. A ERR -
CMMB service income is recognised when the services are CMMB IR B e A 5% 7% £ At IR 5 1R fife
provided. BB e
Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the B S W AT g R R R ME K8 22 R
principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, ERASUBHERMRGE - &
which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash B R 25 01 4 i & R R TE RHAE I 2
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that JIT A5 A5 w1 o AR B 4 i A E RE B B &
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition. EEMSERFEENIRETFE
oo

Property, plant and equipment LIEB Y & ]
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated L EI =l LB AN N
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated VI R NI 5 N £ s = R - I el
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. FEFHEEER (WH)FE -
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of P 8 ¥ A6 wT AT Al 4F 0 DL AR TR
property, plant and equipment over their estimated useful lives, S MR E MM EE 2 A M
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives and T A 58 o A& 5T AT 0 B AF 3 K 4 8
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting e & s oK A s o T AR A AN
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on AR L IPax Eidil-E 3 PN 3
a prospective basis.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
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ZERC—EF A= —HIEEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately
are carried at cost, being the fair value at the date of acquisition,
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is
recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.
The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes
in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses (see the accounting
policy in respect of impairment losses on tangible and intangible

assets below).

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains or
losses arising from derecognition of an intangible assets measured
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset

is derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is,
or contains, a lease. If the contract conveys the right to control
the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for

consideration, it is classified as a lease.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach
for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets.

Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in the
consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the term
of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and
arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date
of the lease (i.e. the date which the underlying asset is available for
use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities other than adjustments to lease
liabilities resulting from Covid-19-related rent concessions in which
the Group applied the practical expedient. The cost of right-of-use
assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial
direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received. The right-
of-use assets are also subject to impairment. Right-of-use assets are

depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the

consolidated statement of financial position

CMMB VISION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021

4.

FEGF R (E)
M ()
1% B

A 4L R AL B B e B OB (RO A BE &
Ea R E H) RS AR
B oo M & A 4R AR AT AT B R
Prfg Ko WE R EE > I AT ] &
it EAEAEESD AR M H
Covid-19 1 B 1 4 & mmﬁmm%
BT (AL LR TR
J7 35 ) BR A o fff I ORE & B A B B
MRHEAMYKE - CEEN R
BN T B 4G B O] sk 2 A AR B
B AR B R CIE A ] © i R SR R o
fili BB & R R ZE T DL W(E o fF
EEAAMM A AT E -

AL A S BB IR DL AR T
EEEREBEA RS -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises
lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease
incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual
value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price
of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group
and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as expenses (unless they are incurred to produce inventories) in the
period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment
occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification
(i.e. a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g.
changes to future payments resulting from a change in an index
or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the

assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset).

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct consequence
of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has elected to apply the
practical expedient not to assess whether the change is a lease

modification if all of the following conditions are met:

- the change in lease payments results in revised consideration
for the lease that is substantially the same as, or less than, the

consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change;

- any reduction in lease payments affects only payments
originally due on or before 30 June 2021; and

- there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions
of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes in
lease payments resulting from rent concessions the same way it
would account for the changes applying HKFRS 16 if the changes
are not a lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of lease
payments are accounted for as variable lease payments. The related
lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts forgiven or
waived with a corresponding adjustment recognised in the profit or

loss in the period in which the event occurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
its short-term leases (i.e. those leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets
recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are
considered to be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a

straight-line basis over the lease term.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale
if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is
regarded as met only when the asset (or disposal group) is available
for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms that
are usual and customary for sales of such asset (or disposal group)
and its sale is highly probable. Management must be committed to
the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a
completed sale within one year from the date of classification.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale
are measured at the lower of their previous carrying amounts and
fair value less costs to sell.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of impairment loss, if any. The recoverable
amount of tangible assets are estimated individually, or when it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets
are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for

which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an indication
that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have

not been adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

re M HRAN T

For the year ended 31 December 2021
WECZ A= —HILEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. FEGH B (E)
Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets (Continued) B E I & & WA EE ()
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash generating unit) is Ak =t — TH & & (8 B 4 A A7)
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount Y AT W e B A R HE (> A &
of the asset (or a cash generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable Gz EE (KR EEEYEA) WEEME
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or (8 3 & HonT ke [B) #%E o i (E s 18 R
loss. IR i 18 4 N RERR o
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying O EER S BRSO e E
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the ARG H 4 A AR ) IR T (E B R
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased KA FT AL 50 A] ke B #% %8 > {H 3
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would %0 e E S SRR & E (8] Iﬁ
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for 4 B A RO ) R DA AR AR NI A A SR
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an E &5 8 1m0 & F /Y BE T (E o W(E TE
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 8 [5] B IRE % 48 25 A HE R o
Taxation i IE
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable FIF 15 Bd B 2 45 B RE A BE TE K 4R AE
and deferred tax. i JH A% -
The tax currently payable is based on taxable loss for the year. L RF E AT B TE Y e AR AR ORE LB R
Taxable loss differs from loss before tax as reported in the profit or A o BB &R N A S E W
loss because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in A I N A &
other years and that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s BN N R AT |
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been WINPT 2 MR R AR o A 4E
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. B 1 U B Bl OIH R DL R &
s 25 B b R A A B R A o
20214, PR RS B 2 NS Rk B PR A ) 133

7
R

Oo—_)/—'ﬁ
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

(&

ZERC—EF A= —HIEEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
difference to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they
are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all

or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the
related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease

liabilities.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or

settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
Current and deferred tax are recognised to profit or loss.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments, the Group
considers whether it is probable that the relevant tax authority will
accept the uncertain tax treatment used, or proposed to be use by
individual group entities in their income tax filings. If it is probable,
the current and deferred taxes are determined consistently with the
tax treatment in the income tax filings. If it is not probable that the
relevant taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment,
the effect of each uncertainty is reflected by using either the most

likely amount or the expected value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

ZERC—EF A= —HIEEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in

which they are incurred.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional currency
of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of
exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a

foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on settlement of monetary items, and
on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or

loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operation are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. United
States dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the period, in which case, the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of exchange

reserve (attributable to non-controlling interests as appropriate).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

re M HRAN T

For the year ended 31 December 2021
WECZ A= —HILEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. FEGH B (E)
Retirement benefit costs AR PR A AR
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are m] Bt e Ik 3R K A8 A B4R & AL
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service TN E BRI S HE S MR
entitling them to the contributions. A I HE B 2 BH 3 o
Share-based payment transactions VI A WAL 5
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions Ll 7z %5 50008 DR 03 5% 1 1958 5
Shares and share options granted to employees of the Group 17T 4 [ g 8 7 K R I I
For grants of share options that are conditional upon satisfying iR EW e ER B G E A
specified vesting conditions, the fair value of services received EEMEKENS > 2RI L A
determined by reference to the fair value of share options granted at B2 H OB AR HE 1 N OB TR E T 5
the grant date is expensed on a straight line basis over the vesting [ O/ (- NERL D W 3 R =
period, with a corresponding increase in equity (share option Fe e S gE > P RE 25 P UE A E g
reserve). 1= (5 B M o 1)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimates AR AEFEBFT A HE
of the number of options that are expected to ultimately vest. The W Gl B e RE Bl - J? H Ak &
impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised BEIW R E(Ng) N E SR
in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the DI 253 8 g wT AL R o RO
revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share option W I W A VE A IE o 9%
reserve.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

(&
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payment transactions (Continued)
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions (Continued)

Shares and share options granted to employees of the Group
(Continued)

For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair
value of the share options granted is expensed immediately to profit

or loss.

When the share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date
or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to retained

earnings (accumulated losses).

Share options granted to consultants

Share options issued in exchange for services are measured at the
fair value of the services received, unless that fair value cannot be
reliably measured, in which case the services received are measured
by reference to the fair value of the share options granted. The fair
value of the services received is recognised as an expense, with
a corresponding increase in equity (share option reserve), when
the counterparties render services, unless the services qualify for

recognition as assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

re M HRAN T

For the year ended 31 December 2021
WECZ A= —HILEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. FEGHRIBOR(H)
Financial instruments M T H
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a & RlE R A R B E T R
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the A B &) 0 ST RT 40 77 I6F AR -
instrument.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at GREVEE LR A E AT EY AL
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the T o i I B g AT & Fﬂ E{G M 4 il
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other 15 ( EFQ %Z{E A& ([ AT E
than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through FAEZ DS mEE j 4 BB s
profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted from the fair & 41 ) T E B2 E AL 1 32 5 A i w0 Ik
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, RN ASREE NS A& EA
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the TEDKH AR EE & E R & E R
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are (LL#E & &) o U B 4% A 7 H 5
recognised immediately in profit or loss. PN iZ R Rl < e e ol = W QI
P2 WAL 0 58 B A R IRR 7 48 25 TR -

Effective interest method BB R 3 04
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the HEBEAMZ®:HE SR EE 4/
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of B0 Y RSB B R A DL K 4y B A B D
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant MABEWARFEH T HIE - &
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts AR cMEERSRMAE[Y
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and TH 51 4F W9 8% A0 0 A B T A M R
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective ﬂ'f E LR N o (NI R R 95
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) 2 <3 N I 7 s R A S A A )
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, E]’J — Y& A 5 R A K H A E
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount B 3T R ) & H W) UK R RR R 2 BR T E
on initial recognition. SRR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE_F_—HF+H=T—HIL4EE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4.

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets
Classitication and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently

measured at amortised cost:

O the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the

principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired. The Group’s financial assets
at amortised cost includes trade and other receivables, amounts due
from a related company, amount due from an associate and bank
balances and cash.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

re M HRAN T

For the year ended 31 December 2021
WECZ A= —HILEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. FEGHBUR (4F)
Financial instruments (Continued) M I H ()
Financial assets (Continued) B HE E ()
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets 2 Al E A9 2 R R AR ()
(Continued)
A financial asset is classified as held for trading if: il 25 H R BRI A 4 & E G
SBAREEE
® it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in o EAEZEEHMENAAME
the near term; or R TR B
®  on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified o AWM AEREN > H B AL EE
financial instruments that the Group manages together and has EEMzZzZERN &R T A4 %
a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or — H 4 o AT R B
R 2 A fﬁ 5By
® it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a o HAXREENMEMIELE WL
hedging instrument. AEZmAETHE-
In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset 1300 S (1 = T e ANl T
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as kB L o R AR R [ T JE e 4R 6
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces |2 NI 7 /N [ N N = W [ o TR g
an accounting mismatch. Fh Y A A& R OR T B AR B
AT HEFABER & -
Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of NP E A & 0 & R E E S
each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised o OR %A E %Jr LR S (AN
in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss (B W 4 2% s 48 0 15 46 iR - MR 4R
excludes any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and FHERZFINENER AN E S
is included in the “other income” line item. i R T R B 2 AT AT B B B R B s
S EF AT HA Y A 1 — I8 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of tinancial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial assets
which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9 including trade
and other receivables, amount due from a related company and
amount due from an associate. The amount of ECL is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment are
done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
and amount due from a related company and an associate. The ECL
for these assets and debtors with significant balances are assessed
individually.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of tinancial assets (Continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when

assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

O an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

. significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit
risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

20214 BEHEH P RS ) 2 R R 4 M A PR 4 )

4.

4r B

W\

B 7% ¥ 3R I 7

For the year ended 31 December 2021
WECZ A= —HILEE

EEGHEEOR (H)
s TR (4
R ()

2 A E 6 AE ()

ARAH AT H > AL MLHEE
12 E A HHE B e R R 1R
fli > BRIE A W04 RE DL AR AR R B
BORWE BT R A S I T R A T
W05 B IR o A B A AR &
W5 B 1R A R AN 5 B R A A
8 LA 7 A9 /9 AT RE M R B OK iRk
F o

(RN PN

AN AR B R B B R R D LA A
TR MR £ TE R AR 4R L R
H 09 & @ T H & & ml B & 904
WOH R B TR 8RR AR
B o AF EF A4S R > AR SR B A B
HAEMEGHBHMEEMENLE
B B RS B N BT AR 2
JEAR B T AE T AT B RS A R

T H R R A B R R A S KW
FHE B B LA F R -

o &M T R A9 E MM AN
() Sk iR A5 & 5 & ORI T

& ;

o ShEBTH G AR B A B AR B KR R
WE (1 on £ B2 8 22 (B0 BUBS A M
A 45 B E A ) KR B )




4R B

W N

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BA 5% R N 7

For the year ended 31 December 2021

ZERC—EF A= —HIEEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of tinancial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

. existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant

decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;

. an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes in
the financial instrument’s credit risk since initial recognition. Any
change in the ECL amount is recognised as an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to
their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity instruments in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the

definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. FEGH B (E)

Financial instruments (Continued) M I H ()

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued) SRR T H (42)

Equity instruments BARTA

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual e A TR /w8 W] E B R R AR

interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. (BB EHFAAEE) WM 54 -

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the RN F AT AR T A2 kS

proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. KT TBR B AT MU RERR -

Convertible notes contain debt and equity components af # g BT A 1E E T A8 5 e HE s B

4

The component parts of the convertible loan notes issued by the A4 [ T B AT 2 n] 4R % AE IR R 4 T

Group are classified separately as financial liabilities and equity in WG EHE L HEHE S/ & E K

accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and Mmtt LT HENERS A EEEE &M

the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument. A B fE SHE 25 o AW h 45 % RE I S R DL

conversion option that will be settled by the exchange of a fixed TEHEMNBH SRS —HEMEE

amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the E I = S I NE/N I N = N

Company’s own equity instruments is an equity instrument. B AN ERATH -

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component is WEITH > AEIN SN AFEME)

estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for similar non- ¥ K8 DL AS W B M T HL Y B AT T 35 R

convertible instruments. This amount is recorded as a liability on KREE o Zamy UL BN B %

an amortised cost basis using the effective interest method until R R AREBIIRE AE > HER

extinguished upon conversion or at the instrument’s maturity date. R G LR B R Ak e
20214FFESRE i BIAS B) 2 EA B m  R RA ) 145
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

Convertible notes contain debt and equity components (Continued)

The conversion option classified as equity is determined by
deducting the amount of the liability component from the fair value
of the compound instrument as a whole. This is recognised and
included in equity, net of income tax effects, and is not subsequently
remeasured. In addition, the conversion option classified as equity
will remain in equity until the conversion option is exercised, in
which case, the balance recognised in equity will be transferred to
share premium. Where the conversion option remains unexercised
at the maturity date of the convertible note, the balance recognised
in equity will be transferred to retained profits. No gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration of the
conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible loan
notes are allocated to the liability and equity components in
proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction costs
relating to the equity component are charged directly to equity.
Transaction costs relating to the liability component are included
in the carrying amount of the liability portion and amortised over
the period of the convertible loan notes using the effective interest
method.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities (including trade and other payables,
amounts due to shareholders and lease liabilities) are subsequently

measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual

rights to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received
and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable
that the Group will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions
are measured at the Directors’ best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the obligation at the end of each reporting period,

and are discounted to present value where the effect is material.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties

A party is a person or an entity that is related to the Group if:

A person or a close member of that person’s family, related to
the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control of the Group;

(i1) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the

Group or of the Group’s parent; or

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same

group;
(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other

entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
WECZ A= —HILEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. FEGHBUR (4F)
Related parties (Continued) BN (4F)
(b) (Continued) (b) (#)
(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the (iv) ZEBEAF = HHNAEEL
other entity is an associate of the third entity; ¥XoMn—HEAZLS
=R B E AT
(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the (v) FZEE A% E AR R
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity MAEBEMEENE LE
related to the Group; NI S E XN = i L
(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person (vi) ZE#Z(a)Hrm A+
identified in (a); Y 42 i 2 I ] 42 )
(vii) a person identified in (a) (i) has significant influence (vii) (a) (i) HE fralk 2 N + 3 3%
over the entity or is a member of the key management BEHEBEAEREE LA
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); or ZEBHRZER A
)2 EEEMAE K
(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a (viii) B 8 =k 5 A7 8 & | 2 AT A
part, provides key management personnel services to | A= /=T SR T
the Group or to the Group’s parent. BB A AR 3 2 g
R B o
Close family members of an individual are those family members (R C NS i E AN
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that I EE TR L A2
individual in their dealings with the entity. AN B FERE -
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 4, the Directors are required to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and

underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.

Critical judgment in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical judgment, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the Directors have made in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated

financial statements.

Enforceability of the finance lease agreement

Section 310 of the Communication Act of 1934 in US (“US rules
and regulations”) places certain restrictions on foreign investment
in and ownership of a US broadcast licensee. The Group conducts
their CMMB Business in US principally through a finance lease
agreement with New York Broadband LLC (“NYBB”) and New
York Spectrum Holding Company LLC (“NYSHC”), being the
lessor (note 18). The Directors, after consulting legal opinion,
are of the view that such lease agreement is valid, binding and
enforceable, and do not result in any violation of the US rules and
regulations currently in effect in all material respects. However, if
the US government changes its regulations to restrict or prohibit
companies of foreign sources from operating TV stations in US, the
Group may have difficulties in enforcing its rights under the lease
agreement. In such case, the Group may not be able to operate its
intangible assets which may have an adverse and material effect
on the carrying amount of the intangible assets and the Group’s

operation and results thereof.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND 5. [ & & 5t 0 B % A 5t A o 1 &
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY i 3 SE AR Y (4 )
(Continued)
Critical judgment in applying accounting policies (Continued) WE R 67 51 8 56 A B s R B (4 )
Renewal of spectrum usage rights A A R
The spectrum usage rights have legal rights of 5 years. In assessing SRR REE A A W AR TR ERER -
the useful life of the spectrum usage rights, the Directors are of the T B E A A AG W] i AR R - B
view that NYBB/NYSHC has the ability to renew the license right H L > NYBB,/ NYSHC A % % 1K i
with the authority indefinitely at minimal costs and NYBB/NYSHC A 4 S 4099 b 1] R B AR A T A A R R RE
provides the option to the Group to renew the lease continuously. K NYBB ,/ NYSHC [ 7 4 [ 45 it & 4%
Therefore, the useful life of spectrum usage rights is regarded as FHE (PR o R L - AEGE A RE A0 w]
indefinite. o R 4 R A S R A
Key sources of estimation uncertainty 5 REASHE & R 3% 0 2 2R IR
The following is the key assumptions concerning the future, IR =20 N S R T VS
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the R B R AL FE R B E R ) H A £
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material TRV - ZEMFTHATREERT
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within — W B AR E R E A & A E R (E
the next financial year. B EE KW R ) R R B o
Impairment of intangible assets SETE B 2 O 1
During the current year, the management has evaluated the WAREE  THERKZ L KEHE
impairment of intangible assets by way of value in use (“VIU”) T e E A BB E B A AR A G BB
calculation by reference to the discounted cash flows derived from e ow R B W R EE (TR E
financial budgets approved by the management of the Group. If the E 1) 57 A6 T2 & & 09 W (E o 4 (il
VIU is less than the corresponding carrying amounts, an impairment FH (0 AR OME BR | (E > B e A R
loss may be required. For the year ended 31 December 2021 and WEEE #F_F - ~4F LK -F
2020, VIU is used to compare the carrying amount of the spectrum TEE+THZ=Z+—HIEFEE > {#
usage rights for impairment assessment. As VIU is lower than its FA IS A 5 2l bb R AH R E O RE Y BR
carrying amount, an impairment loss of US$5.1 million (2020: M E > PAAE B WCE FEAG o it i A
US$24.3 million) was recognised in profit or loss for the year ended R RN =TT (= Mo E o
31 December 2021. As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount 4%+ _HA=t+—HIEEE > ®
of intangible assets was US$47.7 million (2020: US$54.7 million). TE' WA EEBERE AES T H B E T
TERCFRE243FEET) o R
:?:*$+¥H:+*H>ﬁ%
WO AR (E 477 H Bk T (
TORE S4TAERETT) o
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment of intangible assets (Continued)

Satellite intangible assets, including right to occupy the orbital
slot and broadcast spectrum, held by Silkwave Holdings Limited
(“Silkwave”) represents major assets of the associate.

During the current year, the management has evaluated the
impairment of the satellite intangible assets by way of value in
use calculation by reference to the discounted cash flows derived
from financial budgets approved by the management of the Group
(“VIU”).

As VIU of the satellite intangible assets is lower than its carrying
amount, an impairment loss of US$199.8 million (2020: US$447.0
million) was recognised on the satellite intangible assets in profit or
loss for the year ended 31 December 2021. After taking into account
the share of results of an associate, the impairment loss recognised
amounted to US$40.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2021. As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of the satellite
intangible assets was US$361.0 million (2020: US$582.0 million).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to equity holders through the optimisation of the debts-to-
equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged

from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which
includes convertible notes disclosed in note 28, net of cash and cash
equivalents disclosed in note 23 and equity attributable to owners of
the Company, comprising issued share capital, share premium and
reserves. The Group relies mainly on the equity financing from the
owners of the Company.

The Directors review the capital structure on a regular basis by
considering the cost of capital and the risks associate with the
capital. Based on recommendation of Directors, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through, new share issues as
well as the issue of new debts and the repayment of existing debts.

20214 BEHEH P RS ) 2 R R 4 M A PR 4 )

4r B

W\

B 7% ¥ 3R I 7

For the year ended 31 December 2021
WECZ A= —HILEE

A% B 4 BE

SR B AR DU (R A SR H
A R R A A B AL
T8 BF L B ai 45 B 2 HE R R A O A R
B oK [ R0 B TE AR > AR
R RO AR N A o

A% B Y & R A5 N B G B RS TR A
Hf G R Rk 28 4 5 09 AT fe Ak =
W MBI 23 BE B S K%
Hﬁéﬁﬁ&ﬁﬂﬂ%ﬁkﬁm%

(AR i) O NI o (| A
ﬁ o AL EERBANFAREAAN
1 B A fil o

EREMMA AR REEER
A BAS B BB AR M B R LB o AR B
IO A SR R R B AT
e e % AT BT 1R B MR 2 BLA B T
i R A A




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR MR ERAR MY AL

For the year ended 31 December 2021
WEZ T ZA=+—HIFE

7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 7. WMEITH
7a. Categories of financial instruments 7a.  BAB T HER
o
2020
TR
US$°000 US$’000
T £t FTET
Financial assets 4 b B
Financial assets measured DL 88 B AS 5L 2=
at amortised cost: &Rl g E :
Trade receivables & 5 I F) 1,452 816
Other receivables and deposits Al 18 i 3K IE K EI"Jw & 140 152
Amount due from a related company JRE Wi B A T K 3,863 2,212
Amount due from an associate JRE WA W N T K 979 890
Bank balances and cash $RAT &8 LBl ﬁ 1,042 447
Financial assets at FVTPL AN EFFABR G
& Rl - =
7,476 4,517
Financial liabilities 4 b AR
Financial liabilities measured D48 S5 AR B
at amortised cost: & RAE
Trade payable B G WA R IE 852 490
Accruals e st A 4,680 3,903
Amounts due to shareholders JRE AH I A K T 246 1,932
Convertible notes CIELY & % 35,593 53,373
Lease liabilities IR =K 33 342
41,404 60,040
O
N
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

7b.

,.\.,
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
WE L AS T —HILEE

7. W@ THE)

Financial risk management objectives and policies 7b. %R B A B H B K BUR
The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and AEEN RS LREAEY
other receivables, bank balances and cash, trade and other S B Ho Al R 0k Bk IE SR AT & R
payables, amount due from a related company, amount due 52 BE "o kHA FE@ i 3
from an associate amounts due to shareholders, lease liabilities R U B A A - JE
and convertible notes. Details of the financial instruments are '{ﬁ Hig o W ARIH AT Hﬁ e
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these - B R KT e R R
financial instruments include market risk (represented by ’ELZ R U e
currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity FE B R o BHLGZ 4F BA B LA A
risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out B R B f AE O RLBE (DL &
below. Management manages and monitors these exposures to e B K A JE B 2 3R
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and 5 80 B B K B & & E B - A
effective manner. BH A% ff 5% 55 JEL B RY BOSK BOR T
3C o PR R M % B W S I
B > DA PR B IRF AT A0 PR B
F & it
Market risk 17 5 I B
(i)  Currency risk (i) B %k
Certain bank balances and amounts due of the Group AL 5 T ERAT &5 B KM
are denominated in currencies other than United States W /AT R E DL (BR %
dollars, which expose the Group to foreign currency JoZ ) FHE S A 4R
risk. The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign T AN R B o R R
currency denominated monetary assets and monetary El B:—ﬁ 745 E DA R
liabilities at the reporting date are as follows: B EEREEAED
%ﬁﬁmT~
(e,
Liabilities Assets
i g3
2020 2020
SRR SECER
US$°000 US$’000
T %t T
Hong Kong dollars 0 2,696 3,591
Renminbi (“RMB”) UNIL 21 71
o
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
—AE A S H IR

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

7b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

@)

Currency risk (Continued)

The Group does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, management monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

For the exposure to the fluctuation in United States
dollar against Hong Kong dollar, as Hong Kong dollar
was pegged to United States dollar, the management is
of opinion that such exposure is insignificant and no
sensitivity analysis is presented.

In the management’s opinion, the Group does not have
significant exposure to the fluctuation in United States
dollar against Renminbi, so no sensitivity analysis is

presented.

CMMB VISION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021

7.

M%IE‘ (/",5

7b. A5 R\ B A B E R R B (4 )
7 5 B ()
(i) B b (A )

A AR T NG A AN RE S BT
Koo SR - OBLE B A
ME &\ B > Sl R A R
Ji B i K A ME R B

U E 2 A
3% T 5 T BE A< P B 1Y
JE B T o PR R T B S8
JC > A B R 2 a% A
%i?ﬁk A 2 5]
R E > o

g R R A5
[1E =SSP NG i 3
B B9 2 OR A B i 4 2
B A8 A AT o



Notes to the Consolidated Fincmciql Statements

7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

7b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i1)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk in relation to
the bank balances due to the fluctuation of the market

interest rates for both years.

The Group currently does not have any interest rate
hedging policy. The Directors monitor the Group’s
exposure on ongoing basis and will consider hedging
interest rate risk should the need arise. The Group’s
cash flow interest rate risk is mainly sensitive to the
fluctuation of interest rate arising from the Group’s
bank balances.

Sensitivity analysis

For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the
Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is only related to
the impact of prevailing market interest rate change
on bank balances which are all short-term in nature.
Any variations in interest rates are not expected to
have a significant impact on the result of the Group.
Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is performed for the
years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

2 SRR MY ot

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE_Z_—SFt+_A=+—HIEE

M%IE‘ (/",5
Yob 75 R i 4 PR B BUSR (A

07 5 el B (4)
(ii) FY 3 Ja B

AL F R A B SRAT &G B
A9 R R By o 5 R 52 T
IR 45 8 T 35 A A B R B
B2 -

A AR T B NI A ] A 26
B ER o RS
A 45 T B A JEL B 3 R
LASED ERURIE Y
A B R B 4 R R R Ja B
E ' G 2 A B RAT A 8
Jiv E A= 14 R 6 i ) Y B e

T % O3 A

B"E - —F R
THE+_A=+—HIF
B AR E R Z B B A
) 3R 3 1 BR A T 35 R
5 ) B SR AT A BRI N
»‘:‘r!/% ’ Hfﬁﬁ?%%i HBZ%
B FIRFHEHAG
B AR R E R R E R
e WM, HE_F
R ZEFEEEA D
A = — H 1k 4 3 f i
T R AT o
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE

7.

= —

A

—HE+A=+—HILFEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

7b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss
to the Group due to failure to perform an obligation by
the counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The credit risk on bank balances is limited because all the
counterparties are reputable banks in Hong Kong and PRC.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has concentration of
credit risk as the total trade receivables were due from the
Group’s largest customer and two other customers (2020:
one). The management is of the view that these three
customers have good track records and considers that the
trade receivables from these three customers are recoverable.

In order to minimise the credit risk, management continuously
monitors the level of exposure to individual customers to
ensure that follow-up actions and/or corrective actions are
taken promptly to lower the risk exposure or to recover
overdue balances. Before accepting any new customer, the
Group has to assess the potential customer’s credit quality
and defines credit limits by customer. Limits attributed to
customers are reviewed periodically.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

7b.

AR MR R MY oL

W\

For the year ended 31 December 2021
WECZ A= —HILEE

7. M%Iﬁ(ﬂﬁ

Financial risk management objectives and policies 7b. A R B A B H B R UK (A
(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) 15 Bl b (#4E)
The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables REFHUERE2HWHENESEE
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. The Group assessed W SHEE Y S R KIEW
that there is no significant loss allowance recognised in BB MEE o REFEFEMN F
accordance with HKFRS 9 as at 31 December 2021 (2020: Tt A=+ —H I ER
Nil). Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience 87 Uk RS A e RIS 9 B
over the years. These rates are adjusted to reflect differences B EREHBEME T X
between economic conditions during the period over which o) o TH M B R R 4E
the historic data has been collected, current conditions and the NI EBEREHEE - HE
Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected lives o B R R DL ol B R S PR
of the receivables. R0 A8 AR W~ AT AR B A
A A ] R i R R TE AR BR 1
BRI E L HER -
Liquidity risk Ui B) & B
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors bR ] %‘ SREEEHEN S > K
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed 5 B N MERR A B E L A B
adequate by management to finance the Group’s operations W) — KR 4 KB
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. SHH DS A SR KRR RS
Ree I B 48 9L 52 % D 1) R 2R o
The Directors are taking active steps to improve the liquidity 4 OE BR BORT M R it DL 3R = AR
position of the Group and the Group should be able to L WE S W EIRW  DLHE R
continue as a going concern. A% £E B Be 4 A A A o
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iR MR MY A

For the year ended 31 December 2021
WEEZ L AS T HIMEE

7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 7. WMBTLHE)

7b. Financial risk management objectives and policies 7b.
(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)
The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities based on the agreed
repayment terms. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of the financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.
The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

Y 5 e A PR B B SR ()

it B B <8 L (A

TR A G AR R R
Wi 7 % 3K 1 # 4r  R) B 5 A 2
WA DL o 2% R AR YR A SR M AT
O B FOH R & A BRI
BB i B AR R o AR
MERZEBERE -

Liquidity risk tables i B B & JE B
2021 e a3
O
Less than Total
1 month or 1to3 3 months to undiscounted Carrying
on demand months lyear 1to2years 2toSyears OverSyears  cash flows amount
Bit1#A AVSHE
RHER  123IWA 3WAZELE 1524 2ESE BBSE WERAW Wi
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
T §E T T §E T T T T SE T
Trade payables B E 852 = = = = = 852 852
Aceruals g4 4,680 - - - - - 4,680 4,680
Convertible notes (note 28) A 4% (3 28) - - - - - 60,116 60,116 35,593
Amounts due to shareholders Tt o sE 246 - - - - - 246 246
Lease liabilities fEARK 2 4 2 1 - - 34 3
5,780 4 2 1 - 60,116 65,928 41,404
O
Note: The undiscounted cash flows of convertible notes are presented BRGE - TR R S R Y oA T B B R DR

based on the assumption that the Company will not early
redeem the outstanding convertible notes before the maturity
date.
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ERR e e

For the year ended 31 December 2021

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

7b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Liquidity risk tables (Continued)

ZH—-

W\

7. Ed‘i’%]:ﬁ(ﬂﬁ
7b. B B A PR E R B BUSR (A
i B 5 <8 R ()

BE_Z_—SFt+_A=+—HIEE

L B) & & R A ()

2020 —EEE
O
Less than Total
1 month or Ito3 3 months to undiscounted Carrying
on demand months Iyear  lto2years  2toSyears OverSyears  cashflows amount
Si1EA KBS
FHEL 1E3AA 3EARLE 1226 2ESE HEsSE NWEBAR JRMME
US$000 US$'000 US$°000 US$7000 US$°000 US$'000 US$°000 USS$000
RE] T THx T THx T T# T
Trade payables BH MR 153 337 5 = 5 = 490 490
Accruals Tt & 3,903 - - - - - 3,903 3903
Convertible notes (note 28) AR 4R (Wt 28) - - - - §7,000 - $7,000 53373
Amounts due to shareholders HE R SRR 1,932 - - - - - 1,932 1,932
Lease liabilites HEAR 13 2% 239 7 7 = 312 3
6,001 363 239 7 87,007 - 93,637 60,040
O
Note: The undiscounted cash flows of convertible notes are presented BfFgE A 4 A S A R BT BB O R AR

based on the assumption that the Company will not early
redeem the outstanding convertible notes before the maturity

date.

PEACN BN Ei B 0 H 2 AR

] o oA S 48R A AT 8RB S R Y AR T

23 e
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4R B

W N

BE

7.
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A

BA 5% R N 7

For the year ended 31 December 2021
—AE A S H IR

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

.3

Fair value

This note provides information about how the Group

determines the fair value of its financial asset.

)

Fair value of the Group’s financial asset that is

measured at fair value on a recurring basis

One of the Group’s financial assets is measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period.

Binomial Pricing Model has been consistently
applied for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31
December 2020 to measure the fair value for one of the
Group’s financial assets, the Call Option (Note 21(b))
granted for the Company to acquire additional equity in
Silkwave within the next 7-years since the Completion,

resulting in an equity interest of up to 51%.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Directors
recognised a full impairment loss of US$1,050,000
for the Call Option after the assessing and revising
its commercial operations and the expected cashflow
and revenue streams associated with the business due
to the delay in the regulatory and high-power satellite
procurement, hence the unlikeliness that the Call
Option will become effective when Silkwave generates
an Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and
Amortisation (“EBITDA”) of US$200,000,000 based on
the audited report in any given year during the 7-years
period (i.e., up to year 2025) of the Call Option.

CMMB VISION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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— T 4 B E AT E

R 2 AR 2% &) iR 58 1R R 2R
74 A Ik B Silkwave 58
Ah I RE YRR R (B E

21(b)) » R A HE 25 7T
HES519 -

HZE X FRE+ A
=+ HILEEF, #F
T FF fh Silkwave i A B
O mEOMOR T E R R
W11 %E 38 T B ME B H
POEHE S DL B %
OB OB &R R
Kol A A& o il R ORR
R WM W
& B 51,050,000
gt W A H A Silkwave
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

4r B

W\

B 7% ¥ 3R I 7

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-F -+ A=+ —HILEE

7. WMBTH(H)

7c.  Fair value (Continued) Te. AFAE(4E)
(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial asset that () A LE B 15 48 3 PE T DL AT
is measured at fair value on a recurring basis i 7 2 W2t & & 4 F
(Continued) (4F)
o
Fair value Valuation technique and Significant unohservable
Financial asset Fair value as at hierarchy key inputs input(s)
TG BT R AFE KSR T PET T PN ¢ KRB 6 A iR
311212021 3171212020
oY S “3-%%
FoAEE-R tZAZt-R
Financial asset at FVTPL - - Level3 Binomial Pricing Model - in this Volatility, determined by reference
- Call Option granted for approach, certain parameters to historical volatilities of
a further 31% equity determined by management are companies operating in the same
interest in Silkwave input into the binomial model industry
Holdings Limited to derive the valuation of the
call option.
BAPHEFARGNEMER - - HEH THAEERE AL BE B2 ERERE NIRRT
- Silkwave Holdings Limited ERBEENETSUYEHA
BB RIEHRS AR BRI
Iyt i ffi fE -

Certain parameters include:
- Risk-free rate: N/A
(2020: N/A)
- Volatility: N/A
(2020: N/A)
ETSHAR:
- ERRAE: AER
“FIFERER)
o URES A
(ZEZZF RER)
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ARE B IS E R MY
For the year ended 31 December 2021
BEZ - —F+H=1+—HILEE
7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 7. MBILHR(E)
7c.  Fair value (Continued) Te. VA ()
(i)  Fair value of the Group’s financial asset that () AL B 548 5 P LA
is measured at fair value on a recurring basis 1 &7 &2 09 & & E L T
(Continued) (#4)
Fair value hierarchy 2T 55 R4
o
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B— M Bk B=4 B
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
T £t T%£T T % T £
2021 —E
Financial assets 4 il & R
Financial asset at fair /N WG =E )
value through profit B 4 Rl
or loss - - - -
2020 “ECEE
Financial assets 4 b R
Financial asset at fair AP EFF AR %
value through profit 1 4 FlE
or loss - - - -
o
(ii) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements (i) SFE=HRAFAaH 2 I
O
2021 2020
B R R
US$’000 US$’000
T £ TET
At 1 January w—H—H = 1,050
Fair value loss NS SN 2= - (1,050)
At 31 December wt—-_HA=+—H - =
o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information is reported to the Company’s executive directors, being
the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses on types

of services provided.

No operating segments identified by the chief operating decision
maker have been aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments
of the Group.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating segments under
HKFRS 8 operating segment are as follows:

i CMMB business — Provision of transmission and broadcasting

of TV programs.

ii.  Trading business — Trading of PCB materials.
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B 7% ¥ 3R I 7

For the year ended 31 December 2021
WECZ A= —HILEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR MR MY A

For the year ended 31 December 2021
WEEZ L AS T HIMEE

8. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by
operating and reportable segments:

For the year ended 31 December 2021

8. WeARS &R (4)

588 Tl B4Rk o) ) 2 1 A 4E H
WA B EB TR

BREZZ_H#+ZHA=+—-HL
g

CMMB Trading
business business Total
CMMB 3% % R E S At
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
T TF%£u TF%5x
Revenue B A
Segment revenue 73 BB U A 2,692 3,031 5,723
Segment profit (loss) 4y % A (k5 48) 9,288 (28) 9,260
Market development and i B B % B HfE R BH S
promotion expenses (1,109) - (1,109)
Share of results of an associate JRE A T 45 N | Y 24 (44,280) - (44,280)
Other income RPN - — (40)
Unallocated corporate expenses A4 e W 2 7 B 3 - = (1,802)
Loss for the year AN i 1R (37,971)
O
N
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= >
AR B R MY et
For the year ended 31 December 2021
WECZ A= —HILEE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 8. WAKIIER ()
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2020 BE_ZX_FF T _A=1+—HI
A
o
CMMB Trading
business business Total
CMMB ¥ % B 5 ¥ HEt
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
TETT Tt T35t
Revenue B A
Segment revenue gy F WA 1,968 1,908 3,876
Segment loss 53 B e 18 (29,387) (59) (29,446)
Market development and 7 By BH 85 1 4 R BH 2
promotion expenses (1,662) - (1,662)
Fair value loss on financial BAFHEFIABSEZ
asset at FVTPL < A E T E B 4R (1,050) = (1,050)
Share of results of an associate B A T8 > ) Y 3 AR (99,450) = (99,450)
Other income oAt i A = = 253
Impairment loss recognised on /\ﬁE BREREERE
assets classified as held for sale £l w8 2 Uk s 1R (574) = (574)
Unallocated corporate expenses XA Hie 1 2\ B X (1,263)
Loss for the year AN 1R (133,192)

[e;

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as
the Group’s accounting policies described in note 4. Segment loss
represents the loss from each segment after tax without allocation
of other income, share of results of an associate, impairment
loss recognised on assets classified as held for sale and central
administration expenses. This is the measure reported to Company’s
executive directors for the purposes of resources allocation and

performance assessment.

There were no inter-segment sales in both years.

20214 BEHEH P RS ) 2 R R 4 M A PR 4 )
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e B IS R R B EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BEZF—F L H =T —HILEE

8. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 8. W AKunEh&ER ()
(Continued)
Segment assets o HE E

e
2021 2020
ELEEY oz
US$’000 US$’000
T ST
CMMB business CMMB %7 128,733 179,820
Trading business EE S 1,207 899
Total segment assets 53 HR & E A 129,940 180,719
Unallocated x4 Bie
— Assets classified as held for sale B RAFEESEENEE - 1,000
— Property, plant and equipment - BB KA 28 59
— Right-of-use assets — i REE - 238
— Other receivables — A 1 i 3k IE 96 109
— Amount due from a related company — JRE i B A T RO 3,863 2,212
— Amount due from an associate — M AT B A N E) ECIA 979 890
— Bank balances and cash —SRATH R KBl 970 382
Consolidated total assets HAEEEME 135,876 185,609
e
Segment liabilities Vigt S=Ri
o
2021 2020
R el T oIF
US$’000 US$’000
T %L TET
CMMB business CMMB % 40,191 58,698
Trading business RS 927 590
Total segment liabilities I HB A fE A 41,118 59,288
Unallocated v
— Accruals - BESH 2 H 834 480
— Lease liabilities -fHEAME = 284
— Amounts due to shareholders — JRE A B R R IH 246 1,932
Consolidated total liabilities e AEAE 42,198 61,984
e
=4
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AR MR R MY oL

For the year ended 31 December 2021
WE L AS T —HILEE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 8. WeAREER (AH)
(Continued)
Segment liabilities (Continued) o ()
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating B 5% 0y 3R B R OAE 4 2 T A i
resources between segments: EPRME
. segment assets include certain property, plant and equipment, O ﬁ‘ ﬁ|3 HEAEGTHWE - BB
intangible assets, interest in an associate, financial asset at I ﬂ[/ % FE R A A
fair value through profit or loss, certain bank balances and j EI’:J R /N R NG = BT
cash and trade receivables; and ) 4 /& % CETERITHESG K
e XE 5 BURGKIE &
. segment liabilities include trade payables, certain accruals and . gy Hh A A S B 5 AT 3K A
convertible notes. T REFE A KonT e A
Revenue from major products and services AR 2 B o B R U A
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from its major e e S & L
products and services: AT
o
2021 2020
% I
US$’000 US$’000
T %5 T X
Revenue from contracts with customers RE—FHRKRAZEFGHZ
recognised at a point in time: W AR
Trading of PCB materials Vi 5 3% AR MR E 5 3,031 1,908
Revenue from contracts with customers RHE—FBERAZEF &4
recognised over a period of time: Z U ATERR
CMMB service income CMMB iz #5 i A 304 232
Revenue from other sources: HoAh e A AR T
Transmission and broadcasting of 30y B i 4% 7B AL E H
television programs 2,388 1,736
5,723 3,876
o
Y
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iR MR MY A

For the year ended 31 December 2021
WEEZ L AS T HIMEE

8. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Other segment information

O

Amounts included in the measure of

segment profit or loss:

Year ended 31 December 2021

Depreciation of property,

wE AT 2 AR 2 Y
I
BE_F 4

+ZH=+—H IR
W) ~ WS B s A

8. WA RS HER(4)

Fo At 73 50 & B

CMMB
business
CMMB ¥ #

Trading
business
B 5 kT
US$°000
T %5

US$’000
Tt

Total
A8t
US$’°000
F*£x

plant and equipment 99 - 99
Depreciation of right-of-use assets i 1 RE & R B = 25 25
Effective interest expense on CES &% 54 SNy

convertible notes B % 5,125 - 5,125
Interest expense on lease liabilities L1 A A5 A E B S - 2 2
Impairment loss recognised on Y & A O R U (E i 1R

intangible assets 5,106 - 5,106
Loss on replacement of intangible asset & MY G 2 SR 1,843 - 1,843
Gain on redemption of convertible notes ff [2] 7] #f ] 22 9§ 2 I 4% (19,905) = (19,905)
Year ended 31 December 2020 WE T RE

ToH=Z+—HIREE
Depreciation of property, L EN SN & & R

plant and equipment 107 - 107
Depreciation of right-of-use assets il RE & R A = 23 23
Effective interest expense on A] 4 B SR R A B

convertible notes BH 7 5,600 - 5,600
Interest expense on lease liabilities & & E A S B X = 3 3
Impairment loss recognised on Y & TR R W 1R

intangible assets 24,275 - 24,275
Impairment loss recognised on SRR R EE

assets classified as held for sale il B8 2 Tk (H R 4R 574 - 574
O

=-
- P 170 CMMB VISION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021

m



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Geographical information

The Group principally operates in the US (country of domicile of
the operating subsidiary) for CMMB business and in Taiwan for
trading business. Nearly all non-current assets of the Group are
located in the US except for certain insignificant non-current assets
(such as office equipment and motor vehicles) are located in Hong
Kong.

Information about the Group’s revenue from external customers is

presented based on the location of the operations.

AR MR R MY oL

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-F—F+H =T —HILEE

WA\ B oy G B R ()

i I & B

7% AE [ 2 R 55 B (4K R N W
FEME R ) & CMMB £ 5 Kt A
WEEEGEG - AEHKET 2
IE B A A AR EE s e D B
Tk B & A A E R KR
) s o

ARAEEARAIEEFBIBRAR
BRI R R AEE S BT 2 ) o

° Revenue from external customers
K HEEEFBBRA

2021 2020

R4 TR IR

US$°000 US$’000

T %L +*t

US B3 2,388 1,736
Taiwan A 3,031 1,908
PRC ] 304 232
5,723 3,876

O

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing
over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are as follows:

FEEFER
KB EF WA LA L A
W10% FEFmT

o
2021 2020
= o
US$°000 US$°000
T %t T %7
Customer A B A 3,031 1,908'
Customer B %5 B 1,344? 964
Customer C %FC 1,044? 5352
O
1 Revenue from Trading business 1 A H E 5 ER A

2 Revenue from CMMB business

No other single customer contributed 10% or more to the Group’s
revenue for both years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

2 K H CMMB 255 it A

WEE_F - ——F R _F _FF
= A =+ — H kS
HoAth B — & F A £ Bl AR E R
BE10% ol L e
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No’res to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR MR MY A

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BEZF—F L H =T —HILEE

9. OTHER INCOME 9. Hfult A
O
2020
R R
US$°000 US$’000
T £t FTET
COVID-19 rents concessions B COVID-19 B4 # = 184
Government grants (note) BT A B 4 (B 5T ) = 68
Other HoAth 3 100
42 352
o

Note: In 2020, the Group successfully applied for funding support from Bt AR TR AL E MR A
the Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund, T R AT BB I BT R ST ) B P B
set up by the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative R R BESERE B b AR o A
Region. The purpose of the funding was to provide financial support ] ﬁ}‘ % BT 2 A 2 R B
to enterprises to retain their employees who would otherwise be at o LENE =% 4 g = W
risk of being made redundant. Under the terms of the grant, the Group *Eﬁ%ﬁé a*—}\ PO 3R o A B2 [ A A G
was required not to make redundancies during the subsidy period and MR8 - Sl 28 8% BT A 48 3R A
to spend all the funding on paying wages to the employees. XA ELLE -
10. FINANCE COSTS 10. S8 A
O
2021 2020
SE Y oz oz
US$’000 US$’000
T X5 F x5t
Effective interest expense on convertible CE &S 30N-4" YB-N 53
notes (note 28) (Bt 5E 28) 5,125 5,600
Interest expense on lease liabilities Gifl= ﬁ & ) 2B 5 8 23
Interest expense on bank overdrafts SRAT % S A R B S 1 2
5,134 5,625
(e,
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11.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

re M HRAN T

For the year ended 31 December 2021
WECZ A= —HILEE

11. i3 Hih %

O

Current tax: B A B IH -
US Income Tax B REY )

(e,

2021 2020

e el ===
US$’000 US$7000

T %50 TR

Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2021 is calculated at 16.5% (2020:
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits for the year, except for
the first HK$2,000,000 of a qualified entity’s assessable profit
which is calculated at 8.25%, in accordance with the new two-tiered
profits tax rates regime with effect from the year of assessment
2018/2019. No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made
as the Group has no assessable profit arising in Hong Kong for both
years.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, US Income Tax is charged at
24% (2020: 24%) on the estimated assessable profits. No provision
for US Income Tax has been made as the Group does not have
assessable profit arising in US for both years.

Taiwan Income Tax is charged at 20% on the estimated assessable
profits for both years. No provision for Taiwan Income Tax has
been made as the Group does not have assessable profit arising in
Taiwan for both years.

Under the law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate
of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008 onward. No
provision for PRC income tax has been made in the consolidated
financial statements as all of the PRC subsidiaries did not have

taxable income for the year ended 31 December 2020.

¥ H2018/2019# Bl 4F FF 4 4
QNI T R R T ] —

TR ON R AR R
E%E@MMS%#?_TE
16.5%) W BL R GH5 - M A & % 5l
JE B W Rl 2 H K 2,000,000 #5 UG
(F8.25% w1 5 ) B A o A 4E B A W
AR 4 A A R OME R R R ORI
O SIG J  7 vi F) A5 B AE S A e

HE_F £+ __A=+—H1
R RO AR B R AL FT RSB i
Fl B 24% (= F — F F : 24%) 7
(RN S A o o | S
AR B VR A NG 4 R 55 B A5
R A -

WA AR & BT B Al
ah B e A B 209% w5 B o A5 B R W
fifl 47 BE i & 18 3 M A AR AT T 8 SR BL
ik Ao WA B BT S B

48 b B A 3BT A5 Bl R (4 2 Ar
5 BLL 1) A 2 T AR OB IR CE O IR
Bl pE KA A ZFFRNE
AH—H®ZB & B25%- i g+
E o /NI I I A e e S iy
A =+ — B 1k 4F B R E R SR B ik
Ao R A AR A BB R R b R
Hh O AT A B -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR MR ERAR MY AL
For the year ended 31 December 2021
WECR AT A= —HILEE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 11. i BibA ()
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss before AN B TH S B AR A E AR K H i &
tax per the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other T Wi 4 % B Bt il J@?Tﬁ%‘fﬁﬁﬁﬂ o
comprehensive income as follows:
o
2021 2020
el —Z-%%
US$°000 US$’000
T3t T
Loss before tax Ik Bt I s 18 (37,971) (133,192)
Tax at the US income tax rate of 24% FE BB RS 24%
(2020: 24%) (R TR 24%) (9,113) (31,966)
Tax effect of income not taxable MBLIET S - JF BEEBLIA W
for tax purpose o B 5 2 (5,514) (600)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible MBLIET & - A AN BL B Y
for tax purpose o %5 7 2% 2,755 2,500
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised A< 52 Bl TH 5 18 1) Bi %5 5% % 26 234
Tax effect of share of results of JRE A e 8 2 ) S A R BB i
an associate 10,627 23,868
Tax effect of deductible temporary I B 5B R A0 R S A BLBS R
differences not recognised 1,225 5,964
Utilisation of previously unrecognised B Jf #% £ A i 52 2 B 16 5 48
tax losses (6) -
Tax charge for the year AF A B IH 32 - -
o
At the end of both reporting periods, the Group has deductible ﬁ/‘ R R R > AR E A B O R
temporary differences of US$57.3 million (2020: US$52.2 million) BEILEECHBEMHERBBRY
relating to impairment loss recognised on an intangible asset T H1R R IR 2= BH A 57.3H B £ T
recognised. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in relation (ZEZFF 522 EHEIL) o
to such deductible temporary difference as it is not probable H A NI S R R B Vi R I T 1 R B 0T
that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible By AT R R WO A
temporary differences can be utilised. In addition, the Group has B AT 0 R R B TE R E B IH
unused tax losses of US$7.4 million as at 31 December 2021 (2020: BEoelbsh P F 4+ H
US$7.3 million) available for offsetting against future profits, =t —H o AL EK KB B EE
subject to the confirmation of the relevant tax authorities. No B748 8 X T(ZF _F4HF 73
deferred tax asset has been recognised due to the unpredictability of [EI S v B EE i 2 I N S
future profit streams. 78 AT AH BH RGBS A0 P R B ER o mr R
A A i A A U AN AT B - S
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

=
%/\/\

B 7% ¥ 3R I 7

For the year ended 31 December 2021
WE L AS T —HILEE

AN i 1R

O
2021 2020
- N 2 ZE R
US$°000 US$°000
T %L T£7t
Loss for the year has been arrived at after ~ 4F [N Z 0Bk (5FA) LA R
charging/ (crediting) HE®ER:
Staff costs, including Directors’ B LA > 4345 3 35 <
remuneration
— Directors’ remuneration — 926 81
— Salaries and allowances — ¥ B Rk 751 1,050
— Retirement benefit scheme — B AR AR A T AR K
contributions 16 20
Total staff costs B LA S 863 1,151
Share-based payment expense DB A5y £ = i 1) A5 R B 32 382 171
Auditor’s remuneration A S
— Assurance service — A% WUIR B 141 142
— Non-assurance service — I B ES - 18
Depreciation of property, plant and LE NN & R
equipment 129 156
Depreciation of right-of-use-assets 57 FH HE & 7 4 85 263 261
Gain on redemption of convertible notes L Im] AT 4 S 0 I AR
(note i) (Kt &ET) (19,905) =
Included in other expenses: aH A H At B 32 -
— Exchange losses, net — [ 55 s 18 1 AR 2 11
— Legal and professional fee —EEREEER 86 101
O
note i:  During 2021, a non-cash gain was recognised resulted from a fifeEi: AT 4 R —TEHIEHR S
difference between fair value of the debt component of the newly 50 H& B AT 192028 W] R A% 2
issued 2028 Convertible Notes and the carrying amount of the debt }J% E 18 F0 4% N - (B g 1] 7% 2025
component of the redeemed 2025 Convertible Notes. BEEEAEI D ERMEZ &
ﬂ
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No’rés o the CoTo
B BHmRMN T

l\‘/T\

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BET A A= —HIEEE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

13. FEAFETBAEMNE

EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EHEME
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the eight directors (AR N SE/ASTIVANE DA G 4
(2020: eight) of the Company were as follows: TR ONNL) EHL H MW
EWTE
2021 ST Joearo
o
Directors
%
Wong Chou Chow Tam Total
Chau Chi i Tsan Hsiung Yang Yi Li Shan® LiJn  KinWing  Hon Wah' 2021
Y Se.
HRH W A B o h# A1 35 R AR it
US$7000 US$°000 US$°000 US$°000 US$7000 US$’000 US$7000 US$’000 US$000
F¥x F¥x F¥x F¥5 F¥x F¥x F¥x F¥5 F¥x
Fees s - - - - - - 15 4 19
Other emoluments Al e
Salaries and other benefits oAb m - - - - - - - n
Share-based payment expenses b1 3 & A BE M
HELD 3 3 3 3 3 3 | - 19
Contributions to retirement RICEA A
benefits scheme 3% 2 = = = = = - - 2
82 3 3 3 3 3 16 4 17
O
=-
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

re M HRAN T

For the year ended 31 December 2021
WECZ A= —HILEE

13. EHELERTBEABME ()

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) HEFEMWE(H)
2020 —
O
Directors
%
Wong Chou Wang Chow Total
Chau Chi LiuHui  Tsan Hsiung YangYi  Wei-Lin' Li Shan Liluw  Kin Wingz 2020
— ? — 7 E
EHE aE ARHE Bk EREE Zll 2R RER &t
USS$'000 085000 US$°000 US$'000 US$°000 USS$'000 US$°000 US$'000 US$°000
T#x T*n  FEx  TExX  TEx  FTEX TEx TEx TEn
Fees e - - = = = = = 4 4
Other emoluments Nk
Salaries and other benefits o AR n - - - - - - - 7
Contributions to retirement RIEA 33
benefits scheme fit 3 2 - = = /A
79 - - - - - - 4 83
(e,
1 Dr. Wang Wei-Lin resigned as an independent non-executive 1 FEAAERRM LA = FAFE A
Director of the Company on 31 May 2020. =+ — HEBHEA L vl S Ik
YATEDR
2 Mr. Chow Kin Wing was appointed as an independent non- 2 AR AN EZRETH
executive Director of the Company on 12 October 2020. T H RS A N E L
FRATHE
3 Dr. Li Shan resigned as an independent non-executive Director 3 ZLNHER -F - —F A
of the Company on 17 September 2021. T HE AT A A R S IR
TH#H o
4 Mr. Tam Hon Wah was appointed as an independent non- 4 WVEIESE N B —E LA

The Directors’ emoluments disclosed above include their
services in connection with management of the affairs of the

executive Director of the Company on 29 September 2021.

Group.

Mr. Wong Chau Chi is also the Chief Executive Officer of the

Company.

20214 BEHEH P RS ) 2 R R 4 M A PR 4 )
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ERE e e IR

For the year ended 31 December 2021

'_\_l
l\‘/T\

BE—

B —E+-H=+—HIEE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

14.

178

(b)

(o)

Directors’ material interests, transactions, arrangements
or contracts

Except as disclosed in note 33, no other transactions,
arrangements and contracts of significance to which the Group
as a party and in which a director of the Group had material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

Loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of
directors

Except as disclosed in Note 26, no loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings in favour of directors of the Group or body
corporate controlled by such directors, or entities connected
with such directors, subsisted at the end of the year or at any

time during the year.

EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATIONS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the

Group, there was no director whose emoluments are included in

the disclosures in note 13 (2020: one). The emoluments of the

remaining five (2020: four) individuals were as follows:

13. FREFEEITBAEME (FH)

(b)

(o)

HEHRMERELS - Ry - Rk
GEol

B B 5E 33 BT B8R 2 Ah o M AR
HibEARZL S~ “HREEHR
A AR BRI A T o T[] R AR
EWEFE R EEAEXR
R o HOR A B KA EUE AT
el B[] A7 4 -

DR A2 AN SR RE%
K AR 5

B RS B 5E 26 BT B 2% 2 A o dEH
mu¢%@§$j§£%$ﬁ
R E AN ZEERERNHA
%E%Eﬁﬁkm%% HE A
T FC A 2R B i A B A A SAR
W&ﬁ ] 47 48

o

14. BREM &
RAEBMAELA B &S FMALH > m

(—

T EAF
1% a0 B 5E 13 B 3% 7% -

— %) HEE MW &R
Hep g

FTOERE WA AN EWT -

Salaries and other benefits
Share-based payment expenses
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme

Fr i L H b AR A

DA B 7 5 B ) A5 K
R R RN

B 3

2021 2020
oo LR
US$’000 US$7000
T TR
362 521

152 =

8 5

522 526
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15.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR MR R MY oL

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-F—F+H =T —HILEE

EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATIONS (Continued) 14. BB W% (4)
Their emoluments were within the following bands: L D S N i
o
2021 2020
I June S “FRAF
No. of No. of
employees employees
& B 8 H fiE & #H
HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 500,001 # L% 1,000,000 # 7T
(equivalent to US$64,001 to (M % 64,001 £TE
US$129,000) 129,000 %) 5 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 # T2 1,500,000 % T
(equivalent to US$129,001 to (FHE X 129,001 £ 0=
US$193,000) 193,000 % J6) - 2
o
During the years ended 2021 and 2020, no emoluments had been BE X - R _FZFHILF
paid by the Group to the directors of the Company or the five SN SN L 2 | ZIK/\ A O B
highest-paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining P e 3 N L SCAS I A R B R i

the Group or as a compensation for loss of office.

Bk LWL 2 WK -

DIVIDEND 15. kB8

PPN ) N S il o R

The directors of the Company do not recommend the payment of a AAFAERFAEEMBE -F ——

dividend for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.
FEREIRABE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR B R MY o

W N

For the year ended 31 December 2021

LS

16.

=4
— =\

180

TR TH=HIEEE

LOSS PER SHARE

16. #iEHE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss earnings per share

attributable to the owners of the Company for the year is based on

the following data:

FERARNF A NENGREA R
#9189 AR B LT R R

o
2021 2020
Loss for the year E N e R G- N S B G s
US$°000 US$’000
T ¥t FxT
Loss for the year attributable to owners T T B AN g 18 IR i
of the Company for the purpose of A s F AN RE AL AR
calculating basic loss per share E’}‘ #H (35,437) (127,700)
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: & 7 {#ff 1 1 %8 % 52 2
— Effective interest expense on — ] i B SR E‘J
convertible notes B A S BE 3Z 4,161 -
— Gain on redemption of convertible — J [ AT B SR AR 2k AR
notes (19,905) -
Loss for the year attributable to owners R wh S R B W g 1R IR T
of the Company for the purpose of M A A " HEH N BEAS R
calculating diluted loss per share f5 5 (51,181) (127,700)
(e,
o
Number of shares ity 8 H 2020
SECER
Weighted average number of ordinary T 5 R AR 4
shares for the purpose of calculating ST R 3 5 R o RE ST 2 i
basic loss per share 341,371,862 242,093,844
Effect of dilutive potential EEiE LR STY IS 2 S
ordinary shares:*
— Convertible notes — ] R IR R 56,029,023 =
Weighted average number of ordinary T i T 18 IR
shares for the purpose of calculating BT B 3 A B o RE ST 2 B B
dilutive loss per share 397,400,885 242,093,844
o
& The computation of the diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 * ARBRE_F R FFE

December 2021 and 2020 has not assumed the conversion of the

Company’s outstanding convertible notes since their exercise would

result in a decrease in loss per share.

For the share options, the computation of diluted loss per share

amount has not assumed the conversion of the Company’s

outstanding share options since they are anti-dilutive for the years

ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

CMMB VISION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021

m

T oA =4 HAR R R R s
IS 3l R B R AR A R R B 1 AT
JBe SRR LA > DR A B R AT
B AR D -

BB HERE _F
h_Z_FFE+_A=+—HILF
JEE W) B B M RS 4R R - 0 R R
B oy B R AT 0 R ME O B4
PRI 2oy 5 2 HE AT S 48 S8R -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

re M HRAN T

For the year ended 31 December 2021
WECZ A= —HILEE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. W3 -~ Wl Kt
O
Office
Leasehold TV and other
improvements Motor vehicles equipment equipment Total
WAER
HE%EE o BHRMH AL At
US$’000 US$°000 US$°000 US$°000 US$°000
T¥E5 F¥#5 F¥#E e T
COST AR
At 1 January 2020 A e
—H—H 250 116 225 608 1,199
Exchange differences T 50, 37 % 1 = = = 1
At 31 December 2020 and it — % — F 4
1 January 2021 +ZA=Z+—8 K
B
—H—H 251 116 225 608 1,200
Exchange differences e 5, 78 % (1 (1 = 3) (5)
At 31 December 2021 W~
+ZA=+—H 250 115 225 605 1,195
ACCUMULATED i
DEPRECIATION
At 1 January 2020 A S S
—H—H 250 103 150 329 832
Provided for the year A I 4 A = 12 26 118 156
Exchange differences T 56 50 % 1 1 = (3) (1)
At 31 December 2020 and & % —F 4
1 January 2021 TZHAZ—HK
X
—H—H 251 116 176 444 987
Provided for the year K] - = 21 108 129
Exchange differences FEE 5, o 2 (1) (1) = (2) )

At 31 December 2021 i ——d
+ZHA=+—H 250 115 197 550 1,112

CARRYING VALUE  JRW i
At 31 December 2021 il S——d

+ZH=+—H - : 28 55 &
At 31 December 2020 WZFEZEE
+-HA=+—H = = 49 164 213
O
20214F JEHE v BRS B 2 I 1R I e A PR A W) 181 S




Yo A
I N == E\
For the year ended 31 December 2021
BET A A= —HIEEE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 17. W3 ~ W5 Be sk i (47)
The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated Fa - BELEMBEALUT
on a straight line basis at the following rates per annum: R R DL BRI
Leasehold improvement 33% iEN 33%
Motor vehicles 20% K 20%
TV equipment 20% &R 20%
Office and other equipment 10-33% W2 = e FoAth 3 A 10-33%
=-
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18.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ire MR R N a

For the year ended 31 December 2021
WECZ A= —HILEE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS Y& E
O
Spectrum Licensing
usage rights rights Total
BH GG B OHE 0% T BE st
(note a) (note ¢)
(Ftska) (Bt sk c)
US$’000 US$’000 US$°000
T %L T %L T %L
At January 2020 WZFEZEFE—H—H 108,937 1,533 110,470
Reclassified to assets held for sale B OMEGREEE
(Note 24) (Bff 55 24) (12,989) - (12,989)
Write-off ] = (1,533) (1,533)
At 31 December 2020 and W AR
1 January 2021 ?L;FJ =+—HXK
—E - —F—H—H 95,948 = 95,948
Addition wE 3,122 - 3,122
Disposal & (11,690) - (11,690)
At 31 December 2021 A ZE A
+=—H=+—H 87,380 = 87,380
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION/ Z 5l # & W 14
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2020 W oFE_EE A —H 28,373 1,533 29,906
Impairment recognised e 58 1Y I (E 24,275 - 24,275
Reclassified to assets held for sale HH T HEGEEE
(Note 24) (Pt &t 24) (11,415) - (11,415)
Write-off i = (1,533) (1.533)
At 31 December 2020 and A .=
1 January 2021 +ZA=+—H K
SR —HFE—H—H 41,233 - 41,233
Impairment recognised il 58 1Y W (A 5,106 - 5,106
Disposal i (6,638) = (6,638)
At 31 December 2021 A ZE A
+_-_H=+—H 39,701 = 39,701
CARRYING VALUE W T A
At 31 December 2021 S e D
+—-HA=+—H 47,679 = 47,679
At 31 December 2020 S
+—-H=+—H 54,715 = 54,715

20214 BEHEH P RS ) 2 R R 4 M A PR 4 ) 183



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Zﬁ/\

W N

BA 5% R N 7

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE

18.

184

= —

A

—HE+A=+—HILFEE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(a)

The spectrum usage rights represented user and operating
rights over free-to-air UHF Spectrum TV Stations inclusive
of the spectrum usage right, broadcasting rights and operating
facilities in eight top US metropolitan cities, which are New
York, Los Angeles, Richmond, Dallas, Houston, Atlanta,
Miami and Tampa.

On 21 December 2021, the Group entered into a replacement
agreement with NYSHC, pursuant to which NYSHC agreed
to procure a time brokerage agreement on WXOB Station at
Richmond as a replacement of the time brokerage agreement
on KQHO Station at Houston entered between the Group and
NYSHC due to the assignment of KQHO Station to a third
party. NYSHC also agreed to provide financial compensation
which is equivalent to the value difference between KQHO
Station and WXOB Station to the Group.

The fair value of KQHO Station and WXOB Station on
21 December 2021 was approximately US$3,209,000 and
US$3,122,000 respectively. Thus, the compensation is
approximately US$87,000. The KQHO Station and WXOB
Station were valued by Peak Vision Appraisals Limited, a
professional valuer not related to the Group, by way of value
in use calculation by reference to the discounted cash flows
derived from financial budgets approved by the management
of the Group.

The Group recognised a loss on replacement of intangible
assets of approximately US$1,843,000, representing the
difference between the fair value of WXOB station plus
compensation obtained and the carrying amount of KQHO
station.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(a)

AR MR R MY oL

W\

For the year ended 31 December 2021
WECZ A= —HILEE

#&ﬁﬁ% (/'E

(Continued) (a) (%)
The spectrum usage rights are subject to renewal from time SAREM AT AREY o AR
to time. The directors of the Company are of the view that A®ERERE > NYBB,/NYSHC
NYBB/NYSHC is able to renew the license rights with ] 72 i AR A AR M PR Hb m) AR B
the authority indefinitely at minimal costs. Accordingly, e B A RO o B
the useful life of the spectrum usage rights is regarded as HECRE A ORE B9 BT R AR B
indefinite. R .
Section 310 of the US rules and regulations places certain 35 B kAR KB ISR 310 1k B E
restrictions on foreign investment in and ownership of a US e U I < S aE R
broadcast licensee. The Group conducts their CMMB business N A RE G N T & TR W e
in the US principally through a finance lease agreement AL E FOEEGEMEH A
with NYBB/NYSHC being the lessor. The directors of the NYBB ,/ NYSHC i 37 #9 it &
Company, after consulting legal opinion, are of the view that HEWH#AEFERKEEHECMMB
such lease agreement is valid, binding and enforceable, and EH o AN E)E KGR
does not result in any violation of the US rules and regulations ERE RAZHEWHEEA
currently in effect in all material respects. However, if the o~ By Bl AT - 36 AE BT
US government changes its regulations to restrict or prohibit HEK T E A GERBAT A K
companies of foreign sources from operating TV stations in 28 B 2 L K R o SR o
US, the Group may have difficulties in enforcing its rights 5 B B A& o =k B o BRI Bk
under the lease agreement. In such case, the Group may Al A8 B A \) A 95 B AR A R
not be able to operate its intangible assets which may have B AL e AT E W
an adverse and material effect on the carrying amount of N0 RE R 5 T FE AE I B o AE
the intangible assets and the Group’s operation and results AT DT > A% 4 B ok e A AR
thereof. O HIY R E o M B KT
g?ﬁﬁﬁﬁ&i‘%@@%&ﬁ
EEEAERANFEZE -
Since the date of acquisition in year 2012 to date of Ho - 4fFRERERE —F
modification in year 2013, the costs of spectrum usage rights — ZHEBET B - AR JE RS
in New York were amortised on a straight-line basis over the o FHHE R AR FEFH & W DL H 4R
leasing period of 20 years under the lease and amortisation of LMERE S (HE M A — +4)
US$664,000 was recognised during the period. AN R85 664,000 £ T ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Zﬁ/\
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BA 5% R N 7

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE

18.

= —

A

—HE+A=+—HILFEE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

In the US, the Federal Communications Commission (“FCC”)
regulates the licensing of wireless spectrums, including
our UHF TV spectrums. With the proliferation of wireless
devices, telecom operators experienced a surge in the
demand for wireless spectrum. Consequently, the FCC, with
mandate from the US Congress, has reallocated its spectrum
frequencies by repurposing a portion of the frequencies from
TV operators to telecom operators. After this reallocation,
previous TV spectrum licensees who choose to continue
their business operations have reapplied for a frequency
reassignment. Where there were more than one operator
applying for a frequency range, the applicants would choose
to collaborate and jointly file with the FCC or bid in an

auction for the rights of such frequency range.

Since 2018, the Company has commenced filing for frequency
reassignment for its UHF TV spectrums. As a result, the
Company throughout the year has 10 (2020: 10) TV stations,
of which 2 stations (Dallas and Houston) have been under
a co-sharing arrangement since 2018; additional 3 stations
(Los Angeles, Miami and San Francisco) are under a co-
sharing arrangement during the second half of 2019. For the
remaining 5 stations, the Company has confirmed to have a

full spectrum license for each of these stations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(a)

AR MR R MY oL

W\

For the year ended 31 December 2021
WECZ A= —HILEE

#&ﬁﬁ% (/'E

(Continued) (a) (%)
As a result of the repackaging of the Federal Communications SRR R TR = Il == ¢ Y
Commission, old LPTV channels were reshuffled and re- Bl AE 5E > BRI LPTV JH 5 L 2L
allocated to new ones. The process would require old LPTV A0 ' B WL A T M LPTV A
channels to be shut down and relocated to new sites for re- e MBI TEEBMMEDN
installation and bring on-air the new channels. In addition, LPTV JH & - 3F #% H & 3 7 i
new channel stations are required to be upgraded from the BE w2 B ol B AT R KR
old analogue format to the new digital format, which would S R SHAE B o A W
require new equipment such as transmitter and antenna G B WA E A R B Y BB S
as well as highly regulated engineering activities. Such a THACE B BORS R R ks X
process would have long lead time taking up to a year and the R A< I T LI (1
Company is proceeding ahead steadily in its re-installation LR N D =
effort. Given the disruptions of repacked station re-installation 1) THRETE B - J8 bk 0y R A
and COVID-19 on LPTV revenues, hence, the reduction in R R EM R AR
valuation lead to make the necessary impairment of its TV N GHT R TR IE R
broadcasting capacity. HEAT o N E N WA E B
AEHZEMLPTV LA % 3
COVID-191 T # > i 3l
ES QK (N S T & = N
B2 B A BT T 0 R
{8 o
The management conducted an impairment assessment on R L AR R R ORE R RS B
the spectrum usage rights on the reporting date. The Group’s N RE AL E o A B E R IR
intangible assets were valued by Peak Vision Appraisals B OB A 4R ] A B Y B ZE
Limited, a professional valuer not related to the Group. The B Bili 15t 8% B AL A R 2 1) #E 47 4%
Directors determined that as at 31 December 2021, there is an o BBREHET - F - —4HF K
impairment loss of US$5.1 million (2020: US$24.3 million) X CEE+Y A =+—H1IE
recognised for the spectrum usage rights by reference to the AR R B U) R RS S (A
VIU calculation, which has been consistently applied for FEEREE EERLAE N X
the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 respectively. =t HA=Z=+—H M
Furthermore, the fair value less cost of disposal is not GE O R B RS A B R
available as the FCC closed the auction for the sale of TV 773 ( X CFE 2430 B E
spectrum since 2017 and has yet to announce future sale plans ) o WA BRFCCH &
open up to date of this report. — ’E LA W T 0 & | A
WM E AN AE AR E
AHEH B IR B R R B E
RS A 7 /N R (i
W A R e o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE

18.

188

= —

A

—HE+A=+—HILFEE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(a)

(Continued)
The basis of the recoverable amounts of the above spectrum
usage rights and their underlying assumptions are summarised

below:

The recoverable amount of the spectrum usage rights has
been determined based on a VIU calculation. The calculation
uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by the management covering a three-year period
at a discount rate of 10.47% (2020: 10.35%). The discount
rate is determined based on the weighted average cost of
capital appropriate for the spectrum usage rights. The cost
of equity of 8.16% (2020: 8.26%) for the year is calculated
by: (i) the risk free rate of 1.51% (2020: 0.92%), which is the
10 year average yield of US Government Bond Benchmark
Yield Curve; (ii) the equity beta of 0.92 (2020: 1.03), which
is the adjusted beta by making reference to publicly listed
companies with comparable business nature and operation
sourced from Thomson Reuters; and (iii) the market risk
premium of 7.25% (2020: 7.15%), which is the difference
between market rate of return and risk free rate. This long-
term equity risk premium refers to the 10-year average market
rate of return for the United States, sourced from Thomson
Reuters. The cost of debt of 3.25% (2020: 3.25%) for the
year is estimated by referring to the US Prime Lending Rate
as sourced from Thomson Reuters. Through the analysis
of the industry comparables, the weight of debt and equity
is estimated as 46% (2020: 49%) and 54% (2020: 51%)
respectively. The corporate tax rate applied remain unchanged
at 24%. The specific risk premium this year is 3% (2020:
3%). The spectrum usage rights’ cash flow beyond the three-
year period (2020: three year period) are extrapolated using a
steady growth rate of 2.50% (2020: 2.17%) per annum. This
growth rate is based on projected inflation published by the
International Monetary Fund.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(a)

AR MR R MY oL

W\

For the year ended 31 December 2021
WECZ A= —HILEE

#&ﬁﬁ% (/'E

(Continued) (a) (#)
One of the key assumptions for the VIU calculations is the i M (E ) 5155 7 15 Y BE B R
budgeted revenue, which assumes the current contracted Wz —mEHEIRA > HiRe B
capacity will continue for the next three-years taking into B A # R GE A & % fE Rk =
account the upgrading from the old analogue format to the N A A [ IR E R B
new digital format. For assessment purpose, no unutilised B A =X T AR B B Y SO R %
capacity will be filled in the first three years; a terminal- X AL BB B =4
year fill rate of approximately 65%. ( In 2020: first-year, S SR (Y BE A A B R B
the unutilised capacity will be filled at approximately 5% Mo BRENHE RO E65%
increments per quarter. In the second-year, the unutilised (B EEFEE—F K
capacity will be filled at approximately 10% increments per WA REB UG EELNSS
quarter until it reaches an approximately 54% filled rate [ 3 BE AR A o NEE TAE > R Al
in the third-year; a terminal-year fill rate of approximately AR EREREEKEEEL
65%). Such estimation is based on the past performance and 10% W 3 B dE 4 > H 3505 = 4
management’s experience. BB A 549% LR R AR
WOR LT 65%) o w4 AN FE R
A B KO P AR B T 1S
oo
Further to the above inputs, we have also considered these R bt s A HHg Ah o AN IR E
factors — (a) the FCC licences for the spectrum usage T %% E : (a)FCC 5 5t
rights can be renewed upon expiry at nominal cost; (b) the o A ORE & 7T 75 W] 7€ B HA R DL A
contracting parties for the existing lease contracts are acting FMERAEZE s O BEAFHES
in accordance with the agreements’ terms and conditions and ] 11 4% %0 77 AR 1 toh ok 09 4k 3R
other understanding discussed between the parties; (c) the e DL K Ath & 7 2 [ S AR
level of key management, competent personnel and technical B AR AT 5 (o) HERE £ A
staff retained to support the ongoing operations have remained J& -~ AR AN A Rl A B
consistent over time; etc. Except for updated business plans ZKF—EHMRFF 8 DX H
and budgets/forecasts based on current available TV spectrum IETEEAT RS TAE% - BT
(e.g., due to re-installation effort and COVID-19 situation) DL b B B AR B R R T 4R it
with details mentioned above, there was no significant B AR RS (> WO
changes in the value of inputs or assumptions from those ZH TAEM COVID-19 1 )7
previously adopted. JT B0 E AT ER EE M A
WA o N SO SR R
A PE S(E B S AT R R 0 I I
KAl -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE

18.

190
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A

—HE+A=+—HILFEE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(b)

(c)

During 2020, the Group entered into the Assignment
Agreement with the purchaser, pursuant to which the Group
agreed to assign, transfer, novate and convey absolutely
to the purchaser all of the Group’s benefits, entitlements,
interests, rights and remedies, and all covenants, obligations
and liabilities arising from the time brokerage agreement/
ancillary spectrum lease agreement and asset purchase option
pertaining to the KMMC Station in San Francisco entered
between the Group and NYSHC, as the lessor of the license
and authorizations of KMMC Station.

Accordingly, the carrying value has been reclassified to assets
classified held for sale in 2020 as disclosed in note 24.

The licensing rights represented the exclusive international
development and licensing right of CMMB technology
registered in the PRC for providing turnkey solutions to
develop and promote CMMB technology and business
platform in markets outside of the PRC. The licensing rights
have finite useful lives and are amortised on a straight-line
basis over the remaining licensing period of 9 years which
approximates its economic useful life. The licensing rights

expired in year 2020 and was written off accordingly.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

O

re M HRAN T

For the year ended 31 December 2021
WECZ A= —HILEE

19. 56 Fi B O e e LB £ M

Right-of-use assets 5 ) BE &
US$°000
T X5t
At January 2020 AEFEZEE—H—H 478
Addition B 78
Depreciation provided during the year AN EH R AT (261)
Exchange difference FE b0, 5 7 2
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 ACEFEZEEF A=A K
—EF_—H—H—H 297
Depreciation provided during the year N AT (263)
At 31 December 2021

O

A_E -+ H=+—H 34

The Group leases offices for its operations. Rental contracts are
typically made for fixed period of three to four years. Lease terms

are negotiated on an individual basis and contained a wide range of

different terms and conditions.

The right-of-use assets represent the Group’s rights to use
underlying leased premises under operating lease arrangements
over the lease terms, which are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, and adjusted for
any remeasurement of the lease liabilities.

AEERHLEGHERL=E -
M & F — B A =2 4
TE R o A BT AR 5% R
5 UL AT W5 v R E o I
22 AN TR B W B R AE

HHEEESAEBRELS
MEZERHEERNA /A
B LR W 6 2 HE R - DL R A
B R FH T KR EH R E E R
[ G I = O = R T T
T LLFH ) BIIR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR MR ERAR MY AL

For the year ended 31 December 2021
WEEZ L AS T HIMEE

19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

(Continued)

19. 06 P Bl 22 Je LR G (A7)

Lease liabilities LA A A5
o
2021 2020
R4 ZEZEAF
US$°000 US$’000
F*Eu Tt
Maturity analysis 2 9 4 M
— contractual undiscounted cash flows: —HHARMBHB SR E
Less than one year — N 27 278
Over 1 year but less than 2 years 2 J — AR DR AR 7 27
Over 2 years but less than 5 years Z TR W AR E D TR T AR - 7
Total undiscounted lease liabilities at Rt _HA=+—Hx2
31 December ARG B B R AR 34 312
Lease liabilities analysed as: HEREDIR -
Current B 26 309
Non-current JE i B 7 33
At 31 December wt+-—H=+—H 33 342
O
Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial A G BRI E A B2 28
position
o
US$’°000
T %5t
At 1 January 2020 W _E _FFE—H—H 519
Addition NE 78
Interest charged to profit or loss 8 1 RIS 23
Payments 13Kk 97)
Rent concession e % (184)
Exchange difference E 58, 75 %6 3
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 WEEZEEL A =EFHR
—E - —A—H 342
Interest charged to profit or loss 8 7 M TS, 8
Payments N (277)
Rent concession HEW % 39)
Exchange difference ifE 58, 25 % (6
At 31 December 2021 HoEFz - —F+_H=1+—H 33

(e,

=
_%_R 192
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR MR R MY oL

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-F—F+H =T —HILEE

19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES 19. il & E LM E A (&)

(Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued) S f i (44)
Amounts recognised in consolidated profit or loss REFA IR R £/
o
2021 2020
oo ERE R
US$’000 US$’000
T*x T %t
Depreciation of right-of-use assets it FRE & T A 263 261
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEZHE 8 23
Rent concession A 4 W (39) (184)
Expense relating to short term lease Bl % 399 FH A BABA S 45 34
277 134
(e,
Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of cash flows RE GBI AFHR S &M
(e,
2021 2020
]
US$’000 US$’000
T %% T %7
Total cash outflow for leases HLE 2 B4 0 A
Within operating activities %= ST 8 23
Within financing activities il T B 269 74
277 97
o
=
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

re VB HRARNT

For the year ended 31 December 2021
WECR AT A= —HILEE

20. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE

O
2020
SEENd -z
US$’000 US$’000
F %56 T
Initial cost of unlisted investment FEHBEAFAKELZ
in an associate ) Uf W A 238,350 238,350
Share of results of an associate JE A B N ] 2 AR (157,779) (113,499)
Share of exchange difference of JRE A W 2 N A Y T 56, 2 B
an associate 33 14
80,604 124,865
o
Details of the Group’s associate as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 AR T —AER TR DR TH
are as follows: =4 H o AR5 E I E A B R
m
o
Country of
registration Paid-up Attributable
and principal registered equity interest

Name of associate place of operation capital held by the Group Principal activity
wE M 9 o7 B R K A 4R [ P 4 i
Wk &% O Wl 44 0 B3-S %% ] O 4 aE i & A JE 4% A 4> b FEEH
Direct Indirect
H% Al
Silkwave Holdings Limited Cayman Islands/ US$5,625 20% — Investment holding
Hong Kong
Silkwave Holdings Limited B2 # & & 5,625 F 0 20% - BEER
Silkwave Asia Limited Cayman Islands/ US$1,000 - 20% Investment holding
Hong Kong
Silkwave Asia Limited PEBEE &#  1,000E%T - 20% BEEMR
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20.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

The Company holds 20% equity interest in Silkwave Holdings
Limited (“Acquisition”) and a call option to acquire additional 31%
equity interest in Silkwave (“Call Option”). Through its wholly-
owned subsidiary, Silkwave indirectly holds a geosynchronous
L-band satellite operating platform, including the AsiaStar satellite
capacity, its 40MHz spectrum frequency use, orbital slots, the
Silkwave-1 satellite under construction and a media service platform
with ample international programming (“Relevant Assets”), in order
to provide multimedia broadcasting and internet-based content
delivery services to vehicles and mobile devices in China and Asia

Pacific Region.

The summarised consolidated financial information in respect of
Silkwave is set out below, which represents amounts shown in
Silkwave’s consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance
with HKFRSs. Silkwave is accounted for using the equity method in
the consolidated financial statements.

re M HRAN T

For the year ended 31 December 2021
WECZ A= —HILEE

20. WA v RESR (A

A /v A ¥ H Silkwave Holdings
Limited ([ Ui B 1) 20% K& #E 12 5% 15
Silkwave % 45k31% i HE /Y 52 1§ A
METRWEmE) @28 FA
Al > Silkwave M 4 ¥ A #h B3k 7 5 L
WEWHmEES T A B4 AsiaStar
WEAKE - AOMHz LML A - B
i &~ IEfEEFPMWSilkwave-1 %
AU KR 72 B R AR 1Y 8 ik
TE M (TH B & E ) 2+ B A as
R M [ Y R AN RS B s M R I 2 0
Bl RE 5 RN BE RN OB A 0 TR A 3 A IR
B oo

B Silkwave 1Y %5 & W B & Bl 22
WA > HARESilkwave IRIEF
W RS A v T A Y AR A RS R
LR &% - Silkwave 8 F 45 & Bt
Bk R PR IR AR -

o
2021 2020
R R
US$’°000 US$’000
T £ FET
Current assets WE A E 10 20
Non-current assets JE B E = 405,786 626,998
Current liabilities i B= R I (2,778) (2,695)
Net assets R T E 403,018 624,323
o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

re VB HRARNT

For the year ended 31 December 2021
WECR AT A= —HILEE

20. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)
Silkwave Holdings Limited

Wi s v HE 2k (A7)

Silkwave Holdings Limited

(e,
2021 2020
R ] —=-%F
US$°000 US$’000
T % T
Revenue e A 373 259
Loss for the year N 1R (221,398) (497,251)
Exchange differences for the year A A B 5 25 R 93 70
Total comprehensive expense for AN 4 T B S R EE
the year (221,305) (497,181)
(e,

The Company shared a loss of approximately US$44.3 million
(2020: approximately US$99.5 million) for its 20% interest in
Silkwave which is primarily due to the delay of regulatory approval
for Silkwave group to deploy commercial services in China and
prolonged fund-raising for constructing new satellite for mass-
market commercial rollout due to COVID-19.

Silkwave has been developing satellite connected-car multimedia
business in China which will be supported by its AsiaStar satellite
assets such as frequency spectrum and orbital slot. Over the years
Silkwave has completed its network infrastructure, technology,
and ecosystem platform and has been conducting trial services
throughout China. It has been awaiting regulatory approvals from
various government agencies to launch its commercial services,
which in turn will allow the Company to start generating revenues.
Due to numerous government delays, and amidst the prolonged
COVID-19 impact, the expected regulatory approvals have not yet
arrived, and Silkwave cannot commence commercial services.

=
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

re M HRAN T

For the year ended 31 December 2021
WECZ A= —HILEE

INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)
Silkwave Holdings Limited (Continued)

On the other hand, the slow capital market activities during the
COVID-19 period seriously delayed Silkwave’s fund-raising
effort for constructing and launching a new high-power satellite,
which is needed for commercial service rollout in a mass-market
scale. The lack of regulatory approval also hampered the fund-
raising process. Accordingly, the management has assessed and
revised its commercial operations and the expected cashflow and
revenue streams associated with the business due to the delay in the
regulatory and high-power satellite procurement, hence significant

reduction in the valuation of the Silkwave assets is resulted.

The Company remains confident that the regulatory approvals will
eventually arrive, and the fund-raising effort will regain momentum,
especially when there are new vaccination efforts in coping with the

COVID-19 pandemic.

Reconciliation of the above summarised consolidated financial
information to the carrying amount of the interest in Silkwave

recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

Wi o v HE 2R (A )

Silkwave Holdings Limited (#%)

BT EEE
B TE ) B 4 0w R AR
Silkwave & 2 [ 4 {H K 18

% — J5 W > COVID-19 % 15 ] M
EARMIGEH KL BREHTT
Silkwave £ 4 % & F 7 % M 4% 4t
RS REENS T BRAM
B TIT 35 HE R R 2E IR S BT L TE A o B
ZTEEMMMAMEREE T EEE
WA ANEEM R RE ER
I ) S R - (R - A BB R AN I B
DL K 3% 2 HS A B

BB

BT R e

ARFAMBRARBLEATEREE
MR WEELEEENE D
A R RS B > 4 IR R AR Y

REVH M T/EMEH COVID-19 % 1%

o

HY SR

b SR A A B G R B AR A B
RPN Silkwave HE 25 1 1 (E

o
2021 2020
2= I
US$’000 US$’000
T %t T
Net assets of Silkwave Silkwave HJ {§ & & 403,018 624,323
Proportion of the Group’s AL M Silkwave 1)
ownership interest in Silkwave i HERE 45 LL 41 20% 20%
Share of net assets of the Group A LE M Silkwave
in Silkwave i 1 E R A 80,604 124,865
Goodwill on acquisition 05 Ve ) e — -
Carrying amounts HR 1H 80,604 124,865
(e,
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No’res to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

Wz

21.

= —

A

—AE A S H IR

FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

(e,

Unlisted investment designated 15
at FVTPL (note a)
Call Option granted (note b)

E BN
FEMEE (MGEa)

BT R A RE (M b)

- AR 3 0

21. 34PN TR 48 0 4l

2021 2020
S “FAE
US$’000 US$’000

T %58 THE

(a)

()

The Group entered into a joint venture agreement on 31 March 2015
to acquire 3% equity interest in Soaring Idea Holdings Limited
(“Soaring”) at the consideration of US$2,000,000 and an option to
acquire an additional 47% equity interest in Soaring for a term of 5
years, maturing in 31 March 2020 for an additional cash consideration
of US$3 million. The acquisition was completed on 25 May 2015.
Since the option cannot be measured reliably after separation from the
whole contract, the 3% equity interest and the option is accounted for
as one contract and classified as financial asset at FVTPL.

The directors of the Company recognised an impairment loss of
US$2,118,000 for the year ended 31 December 2016 as Soaring
recorded significant deficits and negative cash flow. There were no
changes to the circumstances which led to the impairment in the prior
year. Accordingly, no reversal of impairment loss had been made in
the current year.

As disclosed in note 20, a call option to acquire an additional 31%
equity interest in Silkwave was granted to the Company in the
Acquisition. The directors determined the fair value of the Call
Option was nil as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 respectively.

In 2020, the Directors recognised a full impairment loss of
US$1,050,000 for the Call Option after the assessing and revising its
commercial operations, the expected cashflow and revenue streams
associated with the business due to the delay in the regulatory and
high-power satellite procurement, hence the unlikeliness that the Call
Option will become effective when Silkwave generates an Earnings
Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortisation (“EBITDA”)
of US$200,000,000 based on the audited report in any given year
during the 7-years period of the Call Option.There were no changes
to the circumstances which led to the impairment in the prior year.
Accordingly, no reversal of impairment loss had been made in the
current year.
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M A —REHAR T8 A
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£52,118,000 30 o 1 & — 4F J 45 50
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

BEZ_—F+_H=+—HILEEF
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22. B 5 B M At E WK IH
O
2020
R
US$’000 US$’000
FXx T %7
Trade receivables Gy R 3Kk TH 1,452 816
Other receivables and deposits A e llﬁ I B A 140 152
Prepayments iﬁ\ A5 3 IH = 2
Total trade and other receivables B 5y F A E i 3 TH 48 AR 1,592 970
o
The Group generally allows a credit period of between 15 to 60 KER - WGETHEHES EH R

days to its customers of trading business and CMMB business.

The trade receivables are due from a customer under trading
business (2020: one) and two customers under CMMB business
(2020: one).

The aging analysis of the trade receivables with nil loss allowance,
presented based on invoice dates, at the end of the reporting period,

are as follows:

CMMBEBHMNEFMREMN A 15H
2 60H -

HOXGRABK - 2EFEFNE S
FEW KA (=T ZFAE: —F) R

—_— <

CMMB ¥ A MEW M 4 % 5 1 H

DEWHIE( F FE - —4)
A A AR Y E 5 R W (NI

FELHE 0 ) 4 56 090 9 0 0R  40 H
W

O
2021 2020
—z - 4 EEEEEEL
US$°000 US$’000
TXx T T
0-30 days 0-30 H 376 182
31-60 days 31-60 H 413 303
61-90 days 61-90 H 445 331
91-120 days 91-120H 218 o
1,452 816

O

The trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired as at 31
December 2021 have no default payment history.

HN_Fz_—F+_HZ=Z+—H K
L N R RN R = I A
RGN T
c>;__/~—//
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No’res to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR MR ERAR MY AL

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BEZF—F L H =T —HILEE

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 22.

Aging of trade receivables which are past due but not impaired
based on the past due date:

ERTRCEER SR ENR=E N R & QK

i 3] H BR

(e,
2021 2020
B NSl —_F_FfF
US$’000 US$’000
TR TR
0-30 days 0-30 H 445 331
31-60 days 31-60 H 218 -
663 331

(e,

The Group has not provided impairment for trade receivables past
due as all overdue amounts have been fully settled subsequent to the
end of the reporting period.

23. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 23.

Bank balances carry interest at market rates which range from
0.001% to 0.3% (2020: 0.001% to 0.3%) per annum.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank balances and cash

H R BT A A 5 E R E B R R

5 45 R 1R B BOES N

L L

#C A 0 B B I ik JE A (A

A

SRAT &6 fr S B &

SRAT & B e T 85 AR R A
F0.3% (= F = A
0.3%) 5B -

F0.001%
20.001% &

B0 A A SR R O H O DU B 4R

denominated in currencies other than functional currencies of the M CE RS 2 YRR B M DL A B W R E
relevant group entities at the reporting date are as follows: M SR AT 45 % B 3R 4 0 MR (.
O
2021 2020
R el %7
US$’000 US$’000
T %ot F Xt
Hong Kong dollar T 122 382
Renminbi ARH 15 13
O
=-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

re M HRAN T

For the year ended 31 December 2021
WECZ A= —HILEE

24. BB HFEREE

O

Carrying amount of intangible For 5 IR & E Y MR T (E
assets to be disposed of
Impairment loss recognised L 3 Uk 1H s 18

(e,

2021 2020
e el ===
US$’000 US$7000
T TR
— 1,574

— (574)
= 1,000

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group entered
into the Assignment Agreement with the purchaser, pursuant to
which the Group agreed to assigns, transfers, novates and conveys
absolutely to the purchaser all of the Group’s benefits, entitlements,
interests, rights and remedies, and all covenants, obligations and
arising from the time brokerage agreement/ancillary spectrum lease
agreement and asset purchase option pertaining to the KMMC
Station entered between the Group, NYBB and NYSHC, as the
lessor of KMMC Lease at a consideration of US$1,000,000.

The Group recognised impairment loss on intangible assets
classified as held for sale of approximately US$574,000, being
the difference between (i) the consideration, net of estimated cost
for disposal from the Assignment Agreement and (ii) the carrying
amount of the respective intangible assets of the Group as at 31
December 2020.

The assignment has been completed in 2021.

WEE - F_FFE+_A=+—H
WEFEER $E@ =y A
WEWh R PR UL AR R AR
£ A MR 2R MERE - BER K
il R R & AR M BFLNYBB K&
NYSHC > fE A KMMCH % 1
A i KMMC S8 38 FT 5T 52 19 B
] 46 40 1 5k W Bl S 5% P B I R X
HEEBEMMEEENRNBEHEAY
el %%&Eﬁ%ém%‘
O H B K » fRE B
1,000,000 % T ©

/\ H

AAEE RSB AR EFENER
2 el (s 18 40 574,000 3% T - AP
(i) T 30 Wh ok 09 AR B (0 BR Ah RE B
B AR ) BL (1) A< 4 ) & & B R
SR CEEL HAZ+—HIEM
B2 B K25 -

POREL I~ %~ — S -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
mrE B HmER M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BEZF—F L H =T —HILEE

25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 25. © 5 B At A Ak
The aging analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the Rl ERR > HEFEAHEINNE
reporting period, presented based on invoice dates, are as follows: Ty EAT S BR B A3 AT i T
o
2021 2020
e 3 —ECETE
US$’000 US$’000
T%x T %
Trade payables due within 90 days o0 H B HA Y B 5 KE AT 3 E 852 490
Accruals 2 A 4,680 3,903
Contract liabilities (Note i) FRARMEED 456 1,605
Total trade and other payables B Gy I A E A 3k TE 48 A 5,988 5,998
(e,
The average credit period granted by its suppliers is 60 days (2020: R R E A S+ H
60 days). (ZFZFEARN+HH) -
o
2021 2020
B A e e o
US$’000 US$’000
T X% T
Accruals included the following items: FEEHE M EREUNEA
Auditor’s remuneration A S 215 177
Staff salaries B TH& 248 310
Others* Ho A+ 4,217 3,416
4,680 3,903
o
E Others include accrued general administrative expenses. & Al A4 T — AT BB S
Note i:  All contract liability balances as at 31 December 2020 have been fisgki: 2 " F -4+ _H=+—H
recognised as revenue during the year ended 31 December 2021. IEAE AR, —F ZRAFET+ A
E=t—HZI AN ARG RTH
=
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27.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AMOUNTS DUE FROM A RELATED COMPANY/AN 26.

re M HRAN T

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE_Z_—SFt+_A=+—HIEE

VI Ve R 3 2 ) W 4 ) ik

ASSOCIATE
o
2021 2020
—% - B
US$°000 US$’000
T %t T %t
Due from Chi Capital JEWL Chi Capital 3K JH 3,863 2,212
Maximum amount BN R E R Y B 4 R
outstanding during the year 3,863 6,662
Due from Silkwave JME UL Silkwave K JH 979 890
Maximum amount AR R AR R Y I R
outstanding during the year 979 947

[e;

The amounts due are non-interest bearing, unsecured and repayable
within one year and thus classified as current assets. Chi Capital is
controlled by Mr. Wong, a director of the Company.

Mr. Wong is a common director of the Company, Chi Capital and
Silkwave.

AMOUNTS DUE TO SHAREHOLDERS 27.

The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are repayable
on demand. The Directors are of the view that the amounts will be

repaid within one year.

JE Wik JE A A R MK EZE R
—FENERE A BE AR E
B o Chi Capital H A/ ] # 95 % 58
A ¥ il

WOdE A B K N A Chi Capital &
Silkwave Z L [A] & & -

W5 Je 5k T

M O B MR R B H B % R
PR - T A 0 BRI A —
TS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE_F_—HF+H=T—HIL4EE

28.

204

CONVERTIBLE NOTES

On 29 May 2018, the Company issued US dollar denominated
convertible notes with a principal amount of US$96,000,000 (“2025
Convertible Notes”) to Chi Capital as part of the consideration for
the acquisition of 20% equity interest in Silkwave. The maturity
date of the 2025 Convertible Notes is 28 May 2025 (“2025 CN
Maturity Date”) which is 7 years from the date of issue of the 2025
Convertible Notes. The 2025 Convertible Notes are non-interest
bearing and mature on 2025 CN Maturity Date at the principal
amount. The 2025 Convertible Notes are convertible into shares
at any time after the issuance and up to, but excluding, 5 business
days prior to the 2025 CN Maturity Date at the conversion price of
HK$0.4 each share, subject to anti-dilutive adjustments.

The initial number of ordinary shares of the Company issuable upon
conversion is 1,862,400,000 shares.

Pursuant to terms and conditions of the 2025 Convertible Notes, the
conversion price and the number of conversion shares to be issued
upon the exercise of conversion rights attached to the outstanding
2025 Convertible Notes were adjusted to HK$8 and 84,390,000
shares respectively upon the completion of the share consolidation
on 12 November 2019.

As disclosed in note 29, the Company completed the rights issue
on 11 March 2020. Pursuant to terms and conditions of the 2025
Convertible Notes, the conversion price of and the number of
conversion shares to be issued upon exercise of the conversion
rights attached to the outstanding 2025 Convertible Notes are
adjusted to HK$8.088 and 83,471,810 shares, respectively.

The Hong Kong dollar equivalent of the principal amount of the
2025 Convertible Notes being converted shall be calculated by
using the fixed exchange rate of HK$7.76 per US$1.00.
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28. A ¥ SR

W _F—-NFEHLH -+ NLHE> K
/5 A 1 Chi Capital #4T A& & %6 5
96,000,000 % Jt([2025 7 # it =
Bz ErrE R EY EA
I i Silkwave 20% B 2 1L >
— 2025 MM EHENB A A
i:ﬂ@ﬂH:Jr/\El(rzozsﬂﬁ%

BRI A 1) > H 2025 n] # AL 2
58T Hﬂ;ﬁﬁ_nﬂﬁozozsiﬁ%ﬂx
B AFE > HiA SR 20251
o e PE A B B o 2025 AT #R %
T RO B AT AR AT A IRE TH W 4R A B
fy > HE(HAETE) 2025 0] # 4% 5
ﬂ%?ﬂ%ﬁﬂﬁﬁsﬁlM%H B 3ig i
8 £ 0.4 % o0 > M ZH M AT 3O
oo

L ] I Gl U I NN I o1 ol )
R 5 1,862,400,000 KR4 o

W oE—UFE T+ A+ 0 BH
A0 R o MR 2025 AT R8I B
2R B E - B BEAT 2025 A e ik
I B B 2 e A RE AT M IRF A% T 8E
72 I B iy 2 e 18 K S H 48 9
A% 0 R 5 8 s on X 84,390,000 i

Bty -
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T FEZH+— H AR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

On 3 September 2021, the Company issued US dollar denominated
convertible notes with a principal amount of US$65,000,000 (2028
Convertible Notes”) to redeem all of the 2025 Convertible Notes.
The maturity date of the 2028 Convertible Notes is 3 September
2028 (“2028 CN Maturity Date”) which is 7 years from the date of
issue of the 2028 Convertible Notes. The 2028 Convertible Notes
are non-interest bearing and will mature on 2028 CN maturity date
at the principal amount. The 2028 Convertible Notes are convertible
into shares at any time after the issuance and up to, but excluding, 5
business days prior to the 2028 CN Maturity Date at the conversion
price of HK$0.35 each share, subject to anti-dilutive adjustments.

The initial number of ordinary shares of the Company issuable
upon conversion is 1,444,857,142 shares, which represents 80.03%
of the total number of ordinary shares of the Company issued and
outstanding as of the issue date of the 2028 Convertible Notes on a
fully diluted basis.

The issue of the 2028 Convertible Notes was split between
a liability component and an equity component in its initial
recognition as follows: (i) Liability component was initially
measured at fair value amounted to approximately US$37,501,000
which represents the present value of the contractually determined
stream of future cash flows discounted at the market interest rate
applicable to comparable non-convertible bonds. It is subsequently
measured at amortised cost by applying an effective interest rate
of 8.01% per annum; and (ii) Equity component, which was equal
to the difference between the principal and the fair value of the
liability component, amounted to US$27,499,000 was presented in
equity as convertible notes reserve.

During the year, principal of US$4,884,319 of the 2028 Convertible
Notes were converted into shares of the Company.

The Hong Kong dollar equivalent of the principal amount of the
2028 Convertible Notes being converted shall be calculated by
using the fixed exchange rate of HK$7.78 per US$1.00.

28.

ire MR R N a

For the year ended 31 December 2021
WECZ A= —HILEE

w] e SR (A

W oFE—FSLA=ZH > AN A
T AR 4 565,000,000 ot B9 % T
Wi AT R B T EE (12028 7] #R B R
P8 1) > DU ) & #2025 A] #2 2
oo 2028 MM EBEMBIMA A
FTNFEILAZH (12028 A e it =
PEEIWE L) > B H 2028 A 4 B 2 4%

W) B AT H W7 4 - 2028 1] # Bt
EHEAGE > BIEARSEEA R 2028
Al R R H B ) - 2028 H] R
JBE S N A BE AT AR DU AT AT IRE ] DA
Te #2028 AT 4 e S PR B B 2 A Y
SHEEH R HEB35ETH
e R 1 R A Oy > fH ZE AE R
o

o B Ry AT B AT B9 AS 2w Wl i R

1,444,857,142 8 > 452028 A & fi%
SRR EEAT H AR A BB AT A AR
B 80.03% (W =MW FIH) -

2028 1] # B ZE B0 B AT A H o) b
T 58 v oy o BAE R o B HE 2R R4 -

R+ (i) B A B T (i
o 4 % % 537,501,000 %

Bl i & &9 2 1 ok 2K B4 R B
[ERRNE /3 I Il A S N N
WG AERE HBEEREHES
F8.01% B E M A % e Mk 85 kA w5t
o Ko(ii) B g AR > o A E R B E
i I N /N K (= Wl i I -
& H 527,499,000 E 6 - 1E & Al R
I 5% 5 5 A 0 R R B R o

AN s AR 454,884,319 T 192028
CIECY: - 258 € W NN N OD: &

T B %) 2028 T B IE R R 4 0 i
JUCEEZEHE 195 I 5 7.78 s ot 1Y [
EERGFE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
WEEZ L AS T HIMEE

28. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued) 28. W EEPE (AE)

AN 2025 B B B BE K 2028 A R
T 22 P8 4 B T8 40 1) A5 B 4 AR

The movements of the liability component of the 2025 Convertible
Notes and 2028 Convertible Notes for the year are set out below:

o
2025 2028
Convertible Convertible
Notes Notes Total
2028
LI YiiE%: A5t
US$°000 US$’000 US$’000
T %7t T %7t T %70
At 1 January 2020 woFRE—H—H 47,773 — 47,773
Effective interest expenses 11.40% w5t 8 0 BB FE B X
at 11.40% 5,600 — 5,600
At 31 December 2020 and W EEEF+ A=+ —H K
1 January 2021 AR —F—H—H 53,373 — 53,373
Redemption of convertible notes [ [A] 7] #f A% 2 4 (57,534) = (57,534)
Issue of convertible notes B AT R R — 37,501 37,501
Effective interest expenses Y% 11.40% ,/8.01%
at 11.40%/ 8.01% )RR AR B S 4,161 964 5,125
Conversion to shares AR — (2,872) (2,872)
At 31 December 2021 WoEF_—F+_H=+—H — 35,593 35,593
o
=
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
WECZ A= —HILEE

29. SHARE CAPITAL 29, A
o
Number of
ordinary shares
of HK$0.2 each Nominal value Shown as
1023 T
B H i 25 %
HKS$ ‘000 US$ ‘000
T SEFn
Authorised: i'ﬂ.bx? :
At 1 January 2020, 31 December 2020, -z Tﬁ H—H"
1 January 2021 and 31 December 2021 TECREFTHZ+—H
ZEC—HF—-A—HRK
SR —HtZA=1—H 25,000,000,000 5,000,000
Issued and fully paid: CEITRHE ¢
At 1 January 2020 hoE-FE—-H—H 189,079,970 37,816 4,853
Issue of new shares by rights issue (Note i) DIERE )y 2RBE AT B A (B GEd) 37,984,428 7,597 968
Issue of new shares by placing (Note ii) DA R =RBEA T8 A (B GEin) 45,412,879 9,082 1,157
Exercise of share options (Note iii) FTER I ICRE (BHGEiiD) 5,448,000 1,090 139
At 31 December 2020 and e e R E [t el E 4
1 January 2021 “EF - H 277,925,277 55,585 7,117
Issue of new shares by conversion of A R 460 i R
convertible notes (Note iv) BATH R W&w 108,571,428 21,714 2,791
Issue of new shares by placing (Note v) DA 2 AT R (B 3E) 58,342,055 11,668 1,500
Exercise of share options (Note vi) TTREREICHE (BfaEvi) 34,536,100 6,908 887
At 31 December 2021 ZE T H=Z1—H 479,374,860 95,875 12,295
O
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
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29. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

@

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

V)

(vi)

On 11 March 2020, the Company raised approximately
HK$24,700,000 (equivalent to approximately US$3,145,000) before
expenses by way of issuance of 37,984,428 new shares pursuant
to the Rights Issue. The Company used the net proceeds from the
Rights Issue for general working capital and the development of
the Maritime Project. Details of the Rights Issue are set out in the
prospectus and the announcement of the Company dated 18 February
2020 and 10 March 2020, respectively.

On 2 July 2020, the Company entered into subscription agreements
with subscribers for the subscription of an aggregate 45,412,879
new ordinary shares at the subscription price of HK$0.50 per
subscription share for an aggregate consideration of approximately
HK$22,706,000 (equivalent to approximately US$2,919,000). The
subscription was completed on 13 July 2020. The proceeds were used
to repay advances from shareholders and to provide additional general
working capital for the Company.

On 29 October 2020, 5,448,000 share options have been exercised at
the exercise price of HK$0.37, and total of 5,448,000 ordinary shares
were issued, giving gross proceeds of approximately HK$2,016,000
(equivalent to approximately US$259,000). The proceeds were used
to provide general working capital for the Company.

On 30 November 2021, 108,571,428 conversion shares have been
issued pursuant to the 2028 Convertible Notes. (Note 28)

On 24 May 2021, the Company entered into subscription agreements
with subscribers for the subscription of an aggregate 58,342,055 new
ordinary shares at the subscription price of HK$0.35 per subscription
share for an aggregate consideration of approximately HK$20,420,000
(equivalent to approximately US$2,625,000). The subscription was
completed on 1 June 2021. The proceeds were used to repay advances
from shareholders and to provide additional general working capital
for the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, 34,536,100 share options
have been exercised and total of 34,536,100 ordinary shares were
issued, giving gross proceeds of approximately HK$10,521,000
(equivalent to approximately US$1,352,000). (Note 30)

All the new shares rank pari passu with the existing shares in all
respects.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Directors adopted a new share option scheme (“Share Option
Scheme 2015”) which was duly passed at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company held on 18 December 2015. Details of
the Share Option Scheme 2015 are set out in the circular of the
Company dated 2 December 2015.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group to
grant options to selected participants as incentives or rewards for
their contributions to the Group. All directors, executives, suppliers
of goods or services, customers, persons or entities that provide
research, development or other technological support to the Group,
shareholders of any member of the Group, advisers or consultants of
the Group and any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture, business
alliance or other business arrangement and growth of the Group are
eligible to participate in the Share Option Scheme.

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10

years after the date on which the Share Option Scheme is adopted.

The total number of shares which may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme adopted by the Group must not
in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue on
18 December 2015 (the “General Scheme Limit”). The Company
may renew the General Scheme Limit with shareholders’ approval
provided that each such renewal may not exceed 10% of the shares
in the Company in issue as at the date of the shareholders’ approval.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme adopted by
the Group must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the shares in issue

from time to time.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Unless approved by shareholders of the Company, the total number
of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Group (including both exercised or outstanding
options) to each participant in any 12-months period shall not
exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company for the time
being.

An option may be accepted by a participant within 21 days from the
date of the offer for grant of the option. A nominal consideration of
HKS$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant of an option. An option
may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme at any time during a period to be determined and notified
by the directors to each grantee, which period may commence on a
day after the date upon which the grant of options is made but shall
not end later than 10 years from the date of grant of the option,
subject to the provisions for early termination thereof. Unless
otherwise determined by the directors and stated in the offer of the
grant of options to a grantee, there is no minimum period required
under the Share Option Scheme for the holding of an option before

it can be exercised.

The subscription price for the shares under the Share Option
Scheme will be a price determined by the Directors, but shall not be
less than the highest of (i) the closing price of shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of the offer of
grant, which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing price
of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations for
the five trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer of
grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the shares.

The Company granted 10,896,000 share options on 4 September
2020 to certain consultants for the purpose of fundraising activities;
development of CMMB Business and seeking for new investment
opportunities in CMMB Business. The fair value of the options at
the date of grant was HK$1,323,000 (equivalent to approximately
US$171,000). The Options were valued by Peak Vision Appraisals
Limited, an independent valuer not related to the Group. The fair

value was determined based on Binomial Pricing Model.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
The Company granted 32,437,739 share options (“Options”) during

the year ended 31 December 2021 to certain consultants, directors
and employees. The fair value of the options at the date of grant
was HK$2,970,000 (equivalent to approximately US$382,000).
The Options were valued by Peak Vision Appraisals Limited, an
independent valuer not related to the Group. The fair value was
determined based on Binomial Pricing Model.

The following significant assumptions were used to derive the fair
value using the Binomial Pricing Model:

- Exercise price HK$0.275 and HK$0.30;
- Expected volatility 65.51% to 67.83%;
- Expected life is 3 years;

- Expected dividend yield of 0.00%; and
- Risk free rate of 0.144% to 0.238%.

The Binomial Pricing Model has been used to estimate the fair
value of the Options. The value of an option varies with different
variables of certain subjective assumptions. Any change in the
variables may materially affect the estimation of the fair value of an

option.

The Group has recognised share-based payments expense in profit
or loss of US$382,000 (2020: US$171,000) related to equity-settled
share-based payment transactions for the year ended 31 December
2021.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Details of the share options granted and outstanding under the Share

Option Scheme during 2021 were as follows:

. W BCHE ST 3 (A7)

T T AR MR R I HE S R
e A AT S 11 S P A A T

O
Number of share options
TR H
Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed  Outstanding
Exercise at during during during at
Date of grant price Exercise period 1.1.2021 the year the year the year 3L12.2021
# t
i e a5
aane ~A-H FERE-R
gk fifif fifi WARHE  ENCHEE  FROAE ERCKR WAT
HKS$
5
Consultants B 4 September 2020 0.370 4 September 2020 to
3 September 2023 5,448,000 - (5,448,000) - -
“3°%E “ECTEAANAE
AARH ZEZEEMAZH
Consultants M 20 January 2021 0.275 20 January 2021 to
19 January 204 - 8,337,000 (8,337,000) - -
Y S ¢ S et <
~AZtH ZEZWE=R A
Directors i 20 January 2021 0275 20 January 2021 to
19 January 2024 - 1,665,000 - (270,000) 1,395,000
i S e S St <
~AZtH “ECWE-A A
Employees AT 20January 2021 0.275 20 January 2021 to
19 January 2024 - 1,808,439 (508,000) (980439) 320,000
“FF e S it K
~AZFH “EZME-AE AR
Consultants B 28 June 2021 0.300 28 June 2021 to
27 June 204 - 4.320,000 (4,320,000) - -
Y Sl 3 i S ﬁ/\ﬂ TAH
AAZTAR T
ﬁﬂgfﬁﬁ
Employees AT 28 June 2021 0.300 28 June 2021 to
77 June 204 - 6,490,000 (6,490,000) - -
i S “RERAZHAR
RAZTAR BRI
i
(e,
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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BE-F -+ A=+ —HILEE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 30. il i b EH (A7)
Details of the share options granted and outstanding under the Share TSR A R R S 4
Option Scheme during 2021 were as follows: (Continued) oW ARAT 0 S RE RS T ()
O
Number of share options
SRR S H
Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed  Outstanding
Exercise at during during during at
Date of grant price Exercise period 1.1.2021 the year the year the year 3L12.2021
v ey "B
Bag “A-H FZRZ-R
BFRM it T6EM WAE  ENDEE O FROAE FRCAM WATT
HK$
#x
Consultant M 14 September 2021 0.300 14 September 2021 to
13 September 2024 - 2,849,100 (2,849,100) - -
Y S “ECEAATMRE
AAHIEH “ECWEAAT=ER
Employees AT 14 September 2021 0.300 14 September 2021 to
13 September 2024 - 6,968,200 (6,584.000) - 384,200
Rk “EC-EAATNAE
JTIEH “ECMEAATER
Total a5 5,448,000 32.437,7%9 (34,536,100) (1,250439) 2,099,200
Exercisable at theend of ~ FAFA N FAT{E
the year 2,099,200
Weighted average exercise  MAETHT{H(E ()
price (HKS) 0.370 0.291 0.305 0.275 0.280
O
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30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 30. HEMEREGHE (4E
Details of the share options granted and outstanding under the Share e G RNE X 3 & A R
Option Scheme during 2020 were as follows: Be v RATRE 0 B RERE R T
O
Number of share options
TSR
Adjusted Granted Exercised Canceled  Outstanding
exercise Outstanding during  Adjustment during during at
Date of grant price Exercise period at 1.1.2020 the year (Note ii) the year the year  31.12.2020
#
1 CROEE
RTRE 2R
L i 1] =t
BTRM frf fiEd WAGE ERCHEN (M) ENCHE ERCRE WARE
HKS$
i
Consultants B 17 May 2019 1.516 17 May 2019 to
16 May 2022 2,747,344 - (29,001) - (2718843 -
“ENE “E-NERATERE
EAtLA “ECERATAR
Consultants M 4 September 2020 0.37 4 September 2020 to
3 September 2023 - 10,896,000 - (5.448,000) - 5,448,000
“F2%E “ECRENANAE
AANA “ECZEARAZH
Total k] 2747844 10,896,000 (29,001) (5,448,000  (2.718,843) 5,448,000
Exercisable at the end RERT P
of the year 5,448,000
Weighted average exercise  MHET /(% (i 7c)
price (HKS) 15 037 037 1516 037
O
At 31 December 2021, the number of shares in respect of which WoE D —F T ZH =1 —H
options had been granted and remained outstanding under the Share B8 W e ME S & OBl B R AT
Option Scheme was 2,099,200 (2020: 5,448,000), representing filf 0 B B HE BT W RO R B H
0.44% (2020: 1.96%) of the shares of the Company in issue at that £2,099,2001M3 (= & — F 4
date. 5,448,0001%) > Wi AAFRZ AL
BARMBEEMN44% (= F %
£ :1.96%) °
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BE-F -+ A=+ —HILEE

COMMITMENTS 31. &

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, neither the Group nor the N _E R B _FFE+_H

Company has any significant capital expenditure contracted for but =+ —H > AL H AN A WL

not provided in the consolidated financial statements. il 8 K 2 % & H R R 45 & 5 ik %

B A5 1 AR PR BH S -

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME 32. Bk GRS

(a) Mandatory Provident Fund (a) SEBIHEARE A
The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme A 45 R §E v E S B A EE#
(“MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong e B Fr A it & w0 & B R
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. B SL AR SR # (T
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those BEs#]) - mEEFamW
of the Group in funds under the control of an independent B oEE B R AR & E o B AR
trustee. Under the rule of the MPF Scheme, the employer 17 B B S =2 gt N A
and its employees are each required to make contributions to 4o MIFEMESFHHER > E
the scheme at rate specified in the rules. The only obligation E R HAE BEK A MRS €
of the Group with respect of MPF Scheme is to make the (R B o PR N S I
required contributions under the scheme. No forfeited BEFHWE—FMT A BEZ
contribution is available to reduce the contribution payable o #AE B R A o N 4 B R
in the future years. Both the Group and the employee e AL o] 1R D R Bk AR Y
contribute a fixed percentage of the relevant payroll, JRE AT I 3R o AN 4 [ R B B R
subject to a maximum mandatory contribution of HK$1,500 EEl e R R G
(approximately US$194) effective from 1 June 2014 to the & 4wl 05 vt 3 bR A
MPF Scheme. 1,500 % JC (%194 % 76 ) » J*

TERMAENRH — BAEAR -

(b) Social security and benefits for PRC employees (b) P EE B Yk e PR KR A
In accordance with the relevant PRC rules and regulations, the WA B P B AEH Lk F
PRC subsidiaries are required to establish defined contribution [t J&E o w7 ZE e 5L — il i
plans managed by the relevant local government bureau in A B B R P R
the PRC and to make contributions to the plan for its eligible itk wt# > WAHSEEEEES
employees. The contribution borne by the Group is calculated m] o #AE K o AR 4R E K B
according to the level regulated by the municipal government. 4k 3R T3 AR B T B B E 1Y K

FEkE o

The total cost charged to profit or loss of US$16,000 (2020: H 0B a B AL A 2 16,000 32 J0

US$20,000) represents contributions payable to these schemes by (& F4E 120,000 0) > FEA

the Group in respect of the current year. B8 B L A A B R AN R S R R AR .
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33. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 33. BNt
Related party transactions AL 5
In addition to the channel replacement disclosed in note 18 and Bk 4% & 7 B 5k 18 By AFE B R K 4 F
those related party balances and convertible notes at the end of the O B RE 26 J 28 T Bk A R 5
reporting period which are set out in notes 26 and 28 respectively, %S BN &R KonT R R R
the Group had the following significant transaction with a related Gh N AEEA LT E KR
party during the year: ANtx 5 -
(e,
2021 2020
R —ECEHF
US$’000 US$’000
T X% T T
Chi Capital Rental paid
Chi Capital O AT A 4 24 24
o
During the current year, the Group reimbursed NYBB of US$0.3 WAER . ALEBEBHENYBB L&A
million (2020: US$0.6 million) in relation to the expenses paid by AT A T BEYENH L EH
NYBB on behalf of the Group for certain site premises. MNYBB 0.3F & £ t(Z% %
F£ 0.6 AMWREIT) -
Compensation of key management personnel FEE A B W
The remuneration of key management personnel of the Company N KR FBEEMANA A
during the year were as follows: A
(e,
2020
SECEA
US$’000 US$’000
T %% T %7
Salaries and other benefits W B H At A A 81
Share-based payment expenses DL 5y o 25 8 1) A5 R B 32 =
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme 8 1A #& | 51 # {1t 3K 2 2
117 83
o
The emoluments of key management personnel are determined by TEESAANBNMEHFMNEER g
the remuneration committee having regard to the performance of MERMARBIRTIG@AEREE -
individuals and market trends.
=
- 216 CMMB VISION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021
TN P

m



34.

3s.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4= A

ire MR R N a

For the year ended 31 December 2021
WECZ A= —HILEE

LITIGATION 34. Wik
As at the end of the reporting period, the Group had potential A R > R 4R R 35 B A &
litigation in US against the Company. On 18 October 2019, Mr. BrAR N A RENELEFS - RN
Hamza Farooqui (“Mr. Farooqui”) filed a claim against Silkwave, F— ¥+ H + /N H > Hamza
the Company, Chi Capital, Mr. Wong Chau Chi (a director of the Farooqui %t % ([ Farooqui 5 4 1)
Company), Mr. Liu Hui (a director of the Company) and three ME RN G4 REFW - K
other related parties of Silkwave for breach of implied contract, AR AN BEREG
quantum meruit, promissory estoppel, unjust enrichment, breach of Ao WEE -~ I MEIGRE - AN
contract, fraud and fraud in the inducement, constructive trust, and Est L aFssm Silkwave ~ A2 A~
defamation (the “Claim”). In the Claim, it is alleged that, among Chi Capital ~ & B & J¢ 4 (K A A
other matters, the defendants in the Claim are liable to Mr. Farooqui FH) BWAEAEA(RKRANAESE) X
for certain work he performed for the benefit of the defendants in = % Hofh Silkwave B # A I $2
connection with business transactions involving satellite assets in BHZR(THZ]|) . vl &RGD, HiIs
Asia and Africa and certain compensations. i L o 45 ) R i b N ZE
Farooqui 5% 48 B8 ¥ Ko i 55 U B JF
WARAEENEL LS B A AN AR
%5 T HEAT 0 A T LAE KA T 4 m
HAR -
As at the end of the reporting period, the Superior Court of the S I = Nl s At =l = A
District of Columbia, the case remains at discovery process, both BE i 2 4 7% i S BB AR s R
plaintiff and defendants had produced and exchanged evidences KB Rt acBEZENAE R
related to the case, oral examination and deposition will continue MR o AR BN AR
to carry out in throughout 2022. The litigation has no material e E R EE -
movement for this reporting period.
The Company is seeking legal advice in relation to the Claim. The B AR s AR FIE 7R Bk
Directors believe that the Claim is without merit and the likelihood K REFEER -EFHZE > W
of a significant loss arising from the Claim is small thus no REWRAEMWRED > m KN H R LW
provision of the Claim was considered necessary. EREROTREERAL Wit @
5 W T TP AT o] HE A o
EVENTS AFTER THE END OF REPORTING PERIOD 35, ¥ WK % 3 4
On 4 February 2022, the mandatory unconditional cash offers W E A MHE > TR e
has closed and the offeror, Chi Capital Holdings Ltd has became i & TR BEH ANChi
the controlling shareholder of the Company and held 51.15% Capital Holdings Ltd & 8% &2
immediately after the close of the offers. For details, please refer to R BE R R o M AE B A 45 R 2 |
the composite document and joint announcement published by the FrRe A 51.15% Kk - BB
Company and offeror, dated 14 January 2022 and 4 February 2022 g AR NTE L EL NSRS F
respectively. T —HtmNHE R E T
VERCRER 3 R e L QR /N
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36. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash
flow were, or future cashflows will be classified in the Group’s
consolidated statement of cash flows from financing activities.

il 9% B AR B A R EIR

TERFEAEEAKABEEH N A
s AEBsRFEFHASEH -
MEESHmELENEBE D AE SR
B ARKBEERENAEER
SGAEBERERDT OB AMEEH
FTE AW B AW E -

At 1 January 2020
Effective interest expenses

At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021

Redemption of convertible notes

Issue of convertible notes

Effective interest expenses at 11.40%/ 8.01%
Conversion to shares

At 31 December 2021

At 1January 2020

Addition

Interest charged to profit or loss
Payments

Rent concession

Exchange difference

At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021

Interest charged to profit or loss
Payments

Rent concession

Exchange difference

At 31 December 2021
O

Convertible

notes

CE Y $-%

US$’000

T E 0

W _E _EFE—H—H 47,773

B A S B X 5,600
AZEEZFEFH =+ —H K

—E - —F—H—H 53,373

HET [ T R % SE 4E (57,534)

BEAT ] MR B P 37,501

F11.40% ,8.01% w5 i & B ) B BH 52 5,125

A 5 1 (2,872)

W_EZ_—F+_H=+—H 35,593

Lease liabilities

15 £

US$’000

T FE T
WoEEFE—H—H 519
NE 78
18 5 5T R B 23
5 3K 97)
& B8 (184)
[ b, 2 A 3
WoFEEFELF A= —HK
—E - —F—H—H 342
Ei= o s 8
i3 (277)
FH 4 W e (39)
T 58, 2% %8 (H

W oE £+ H=+—H 33
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

re M HRAN T

For the year ended 31 December 2021
WECZ A= —HILEE

COMPANY

37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

A2 i) i I8 4 W Y A

R R-FFELC

(a) Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at (a) B

H=4+—H > Ka¥EZHEL

A HEER W

o
Place of incorporation/ Issued and Proportion of nominal value of
establishment/ Class of fully paid share/ issued share capital/paid up capital and
Name of subsidiary operations share held  registered capital voting power held by the Company Principal activities
Bl aive skt CRESERY/ KATBHCRIA/
Gl Ak i/ B H Ak M A BURIOR B SR HEm {8 P ELF
Directly Indirectly
J:k:4 7
2021 2020 2021 2020
EE SR CEF R
Global Flex Trading Center Samoa/Taiwan Ordinary 1US$2,000,000 100% 100% - - Trading business
Limited
Global Flex Trading Center I /A8 Tl 12,000,000 100% 100% = - EREH
Limited
Galactic Venture Holdings British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
Limited
Galactic Venture Holdings REELHS Tl B 100% 100% = - WEER
Limited
Grand Regal Capital Limited ~ British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary US$1 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
Grand Regal Capital Limited B E&HEE Tk ¥ = = 100% 100%  HEEK
Newell Top Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary 15$50,000 - - 100% 100%  Trading business
Newell Top Limited EBELHE yill 50,000% 7 E = 100% 100%  B5EH
CMMB International Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 - - 65% 65%  Holding of a
licensing right
CMMB International Limited &7 @R 1000087 - - 65% 65%  HH—EHHIERE
CMMB Vision USA Inc. US Ordinary US$10,000 51% 51% - - Provision of
ransmission and
broadcasting of
TV programs
CMMB Vision USA Inc. xH % 10000%% 51% 51% - - iR
i EtlE
(e,

20214 BEHEH P RS ) 2 R R 4 M A PR 4 )
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4R B

W N

BA 5% R N 7

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE_Z A=t —HILFE

37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE o AR 2w 2\ A (A7)
COMPANY (Continued)
(a) Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at (a) M-F_ R _F_FHE|T

31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows: (Continued)

H=1—H > KAAdELZME -
AT ¢ (A)

° Place of incorporation/ Issued and Proportion of nominal value of
establishment/ Class of fully paid share/ issued share capital/paid up capital and
Name of subsidiary operations share held  registered capital voting power held by the Company Principal activities
kAL fisshh  CREALRR/ ARRECETRA/
G AR R/ BB K it AR BURIUR B SR HE P FRRH
Directly Indirectly
ik i}
2021 2020 2021 2020
B S S S < e S R S
Chi Vision US Ordinary ~ US$20 79% 79% - - Provision of
transmission and
broadcasting of
TV programs
Chi Vision #H TEk 0¥ 9% 79% - - RS R
EHEH
Professional Broadcasting Hong Kong Ordinary ~ HKS10 100% 100% - - Provision of
Communications Limited transmission and
broadcasting of
TV programs
Professional Broadcasting ik gl 1037 100% 100% = - IR RAE
Communications Limited CGLNE
CMMB Satellite Services Hong Kong Ordinary ~ HK$100 100% 100% - - Provision of satellite
Limited services
CMMB Satellte Services & BEk 100 100% 100% - - RIEEERE
Limited
CMMB Vision (Beijing) Co., ~ China Registered ~ USS$1,063,000 - - 100% 100%  Provision of
Ltd.? capital transmission and
broadcasting of
TV programs
PRER (LR B A G aftEA 1,063,000 %% - - 100% 100% GOt R
KERAR EHEH
o
1 The registered capital has not been paid up as at 31 December 2021 1 N _EZ—FERZEFZRFEFTH
and 2020. =R GEMEAS R -
2 CMMB Vision (Beijing) Co., Ltd. is registered as a wholly-foreign- 2 g EE (b ) BB A SO IR A
owned enterprise under PRC law. ) Y AR AR v R A A Y b
A o
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of A KRR > M % SR M B A R B

the year.

=
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have
material non-controlling interests

The table below shows details of the non-wholly owned

subsidiary of the Company that has material non- controlling

AR MR R MY oL

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-F—F+H =T —HILEE

o ARy ] R 2 ) B R ()

(b)  HEAT TR K I 5 I 3 0 2
I 26 A
DR EEPAGE T P
P EAEES A PN

1[»3-:

interests: H -
(e,
Place of Proportion of ownership
incorporation and interests and
principal place of voting rights held by (Loss)/profit allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary business non-controlling interests  non-controlling interests  non-controlling interests
R B T v L HE R P RS 1 LT I 4 M i
W o 2 ) 4 1 EX ¢ L i e 48 S L 1 (B #8) /Al EEiPclid oo
2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
—‘?—-?E :g:_‘ﬁ‘: —?—?E :g:_‘ﬁ‘: —?—?E
US$°000 US$’000 US$°000 US$’000
T%x TEL T%x TEx
CMMB Vision USA Us 49% 49% (2,124 (124) 9,095 11,219
CMMB Vision USA e
Chi Vision US 21% 21% (410) (5,368) 6,243 6,653
Chi Vision eS|
Individually immaterial
subsidiaries with
non-controlling interests
BEA R AR 1
AT 2 A B A 7 — - (350) (350)
2,534 (5,492) 14,988 17,522
o

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s
subsidiaries that has a material non-controlling interest is
set out below. The summarised financial information below
represents amounts before intra-group eliminations.

A B A S B B A T OR IR B A
W & o~ F R B R R B B A5
T LT MBERMERERRL
] [H] 3 8 A A & B
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iR MR ERAR MY AL

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BEZF—F L H =T —HILEE

37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE N/ AR L R - N =)
COMPANY (Continued)
(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have (b) A HE K IR A AR 0 JE & &
material non-controlling interests (Continued) J& 2wl (A
CMMB Vision USA CMMB Vision USA
o
2021 2020
US$’000 US$ 000
T % T %
Current assets B & 2,799 2,799
Non-current assets JE R B G E 18,765 23,888
Current liabilities i B B AR (1,328) (2,117)
Equity attributable to owners of AN A O AL HE A
the Company 11,141 13,351
Non-controlling interests IF FE B BE 25 9,095 11,219
o
E;\—o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

(b)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have

material non-controlling interests (Continued)

CMMB Vision USA (Continued)

AR MR R MY oL

For the year ended 31 December 2021

WME-Z - FEF A=+ —HILFRE
o ARy ] R 2 ) B R ()
(b)  HEAT TR K I 5 I 3 0 2
I 26 R ()

CMMB Vision USA (#%)

o
2021 2020
US$’000 US$ 000
T %5 T
Revenue A 1,188 313
Expenses B % (5,522) (566)
Loss for the year N 1E (4,334) (253)
Loss and total comprehensive expense AN E A AL
attributable to owners of the Company i 4 K 4 T 32 M AR (2,210) (129)
Loss and total comprehensive expense IF ¥ B HE 25 A
attributable to non-controlling interests s 18 K 42 T SZ o AR AR (2,124) (124)
Loss and total comprehensive A A G 4R T A TH S S AR
expense for the year (4,334) (253)
o
There were no cash transactions during the years ended 31 BE_RX - —F R T _FF I+

December 2021 and 2020.

20214 BEHEH P RS ) 2 R R 4 M A PR 4 )

H=+— EIJLEEZI%@%L%%XEJ

223

Y/
o i

Oo—_/’T



No’res to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR MR ERAR MY AL

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BEZF—F L H =T —HILEE

37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE . AR E] R 2 W) RE S (A
COMPANY (Continued)
(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have (b) A H K IR A AR 0 IR & E
material non-controlling interests (Continued) J& 2wl REAE (A
Chi Vision Chi Vision
o
2021 2020
US$’°000 US$ 000
F3*X T*£t
Current assets B & 12,498 13,160
Non-current assets JE R B G E 28,941 30,876
Current liabilities i B B AR (11,705) (12,352)
Equity attributable to owners of AN A O AL HE A
the Company 23,491 25,031
Non-controlling interests IF FE B BE 25 6,243 6,653
o
E;\H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

l\‘/T\

ERR e e

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-F—F+H =T —HILEE

37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 37. AR w8 AR WRER ()
COMPANY (Continued)
(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have (b) BEA B ORI B A A 0 Ik & B B
material non-controlling interests (Continued) J& 2 v RE S (A )

Chi Vision (continued)

Chi Vision (#%)

o
2021 2020
US$’000 US$ 000
T %5 T
Revenue A 1,200 1,517
Expenses B % (3,150) (27,080)
Loss for the year AN i 1R (1,950) (25,563)
Loss and total comprehensive expense EN/NECIE/ ZS N R E = DN
attributable to owners of the Company ERTT Ak | (1,540) (20,195)
Loss and total comprehensive expense IE ¥ I BE 23 ME G B 4B &%
attributable to non-controlling interests Edii-a gk (410) (5,368)
Loss and total comprehensive expense A A G 4R T A TH S S AR
for the year (1,950) (25,563)
o
There were no cash transactions during the years ended 31 BE_X - —F R T _FF I+

December 2021 and 2020.

H=+— EIJLEEZI%@%L%%XEJ
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

(a)

(e,

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
% 3y 2= MY 7
B 7 3= B R
BEZZ - —FE+-H=1+—HIEE
38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 38. AL ) B R DR Bk
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
Statement of financial position (a) WHBERIE
2021 2020
R4 TR TR
US$°000 US$’000
T %G Tt
NON-CURRENT ASSETS Ik i By
Property, plant and equipment LEBN N &) 28 59
Investments in subsidiaries B A E R R E 36,361 43,310
Amount due from subsidiaries JRE W B T 2 ] EKTE 752 1,152
Investment in an associate RN Ok 80,604 124,865
Financial assets at fair value through AR AR W
profit or loss &Rl = - -
Rights-of-use assets e RE - 238
117,745 169,624
CURRENT ASSETS i By & A
Amount due from an associate JRE A W j KA 844 755
Other receivables, deposits and Al B i K IE
prepayment i & J AT %’( TH 94 109
Bank balances and cash HAT &5 B KB A 970 382
1,908 1,246
CURRENT LIABILITIES bl = R
Amount due to a related company JRE A I8 A A K IH 1,309 2,860
Other payables Al 8 A5 3K T 834 480
Amounts due to shareholders JRE A 3 B 2K TE 246 1,932
Lease liabilities & A R - 284
2,389 5,556
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES bl =R =R (481) (4,310)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT B R A E o B B
LIABILITIES 117,264 165,314
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(a)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR MR R MY oL

For the year ended 31 December 2021
WE L AS T —HILEE

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 38. AR WM ER DR KA ()
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
Statement of financial position (Continued) (a) MBWRUE(H)
o
2021 2020
R TR R
US$°000 US$’000
F*Eu TET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES Ik i By £ 0
Amounts due to subsidiaries JRE A B 2w 3K 11,400 11,370
Convertible notes ] B SR R 35,593 53,373
46,993 64,743
NET ASSETS jog- TR i 70,271 100,571
CAPITAL AND RESERVES & A R Gk
Share capital Jix A 12,295 7,117
Reserves it thi 57,976 93,454
TOTAL EQUITY 48 BE 25 70,271 100,571
O
The statement of financial position was approved by the WMHRR XD ZF 4 =H
Board of Directors on 28 March 2022 and is signed on its ZHANBEEREGHAE R
behalf by: YNSRI S
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
#HH HH
2021 4F BESR A vh RS B 2 IR 4 4 I B 4 ) 227
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

re VB HRARNT

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE_F_—HF+H=T—HIL4EE
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND . /NN ) R
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
(b) Reserves of the Company (b) A W]k
o
Share Merger  Distributable Share Capital ~ Convertible ~ Accumulated
Premium reserve reserve Option reserve reserve  notes reserve losses Total
R
RGERE ARG TAHREE BRESS  EARE  FEEE  BHER it
Uss 000 Uss 000 Uss'oo0 Uss 000 Uss 000 Uss'oo0 Uss 000 Uss 000
T#£r T#x T£r T#r T#x T#r T#x T#£x
At 1 January 2020 REZFZFRE-] -0 30,758 31,987 129,757 193 2,105 47,001 (28.934) 201,867
Loss for the year and total FEREERER
comprehensive expense for the year 27 %y - - - - - - (132471) (132471)
Issue of shares by placement DR A 1T R fy 1,736 - - - - - - 1,736
Issue of shares by rights issue DL S B A7 0 2,033 - - - - - - 2,033
Exercise of share options 708 16 M 203 = S (85) = S = 118
Cancellation of share options Ot - - - (193) - - 193 -
Recognition of equity-settled R D O 46 5 A B
share-based payment expense BT 505 % S = = I = = S 171
At 31 December 2020 and REZZZRE
1 January 2021 TZAZT-BR
ZEZ-FE-f-H 43730 31,987 129,757 86 2,105 47,001 (161,212) 93454
Loss for the year and total ERERRER
comprehensive expense for the year 2 %y = = = = = = (37,527) (37,527)
Issue of shares by placement DI A AT Ry 1,125 = o o = o = 1,125
Exercise of share options 4 e 893 — = (433) — = 460
Cancellation of share options T R R 1 — - - (10) = = 10 =
Recognition of equity component of  FE72 A it BB M1
convertible debs L EE — — - - - 27499 (27499) -
Conversion of convertible notes BRTHREEE 2,148 = = = = (2,066) - 82
Redemption of convertible notes I T 2 0 = = = = — (47,001) 47,001 —
Recognition of equity-settled ERT DAL 25 5 DA e
share-based payment expenses BB T 505 3 - - - 38 - - - 38
At31 December 2021 RZF--F
TZAET—H 47,896 31,987 129,757 25 2,105 25433 (179,227 57976
o

m
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